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EVIDENCE
OTTAWA, Friday, June 26, 2020

The Standing Senate Committee on Social Affairs, Science
and Technology met by videoconference this day at 11:30 a.m.
[ET] to study the government’s response to the COVID-19
pandemic.

Senator Chantal Petitclerc (Chair) in the chair.

[English]

The Chair: Honourable senators, before we begin, let me
remind you of a few items.

First, senators are asked to leave their microphones muted at
all times, and we’ll be responsible for turning their microphones
on and off during the meeting. Before speaking, please wait until
you are recognized by name. Once you have been recognized,
please pause for a few seconds to let the audio signal catch up to
you. When speaking, please speak slowly and have the
microphone close to your mouth. If you have chosen an
interpretation channel, I also ask that members speak only in the
language of the channel.

Should any technical challenges arise, particularly in relation
to interpretation, please signal this to the chair, and the technical
team will work to resolve the issue. If you experience other
technical challenges, please contact the committee clerk with the
technical assistance number that was provided.

Zoom screens should not be copied, recorded or photographed.
You may use and share official proceedings posted on the SenVu
website for that purpose.

Finally, please note that if the committee decides to go in
camera, the use of online platforms does not guarantee speech
privacy or that eavesdropping will not be conducted. As such, all
participants should be aware of such limitations and restrict the
possible disclosure of sensitive, private and privileged Senate
information. Participants should know to do so in a private area
and be mindful of their surroundings so they do not inadvertently
share any personal information or information that could be used
to identify their location.

Good morning. Welcome to the Standing Senate Committee
on Social Affairs, Science and Technology.

[Translation]

My name is Chantal Petitclerc. I am a senator from Quebec,
and it is my pleasure to preside over this virtual meeting.

TEMOIGNAGES
OTTAWA, le vendredi 26 juin 2020

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des affaires sociales, des
sciences et de la technologie se réunit aujourd’hui, a 11 h 30
(HE), par vidéoconférence, afin de poursuivre son étude sur la
réponse du gouvernement a la pandémie de COVID-19.

La sénatrice Chantal Petitclerc (présidente) occupe le
fauteuil.

[Traduction]

La présidente : Honorables sénateurs, avant de commencer,
je vais faire quelques rappels.

Premiérement, les sénateurs sont priés de laisser en tout temps
leur microphone en sourdine, et nous nous occuperons de les
activer et de les désactiver pendant la réunion. Avant de parler,
attendez d’étre nommé. Une fois que vous avez été nommé,
faites une pause de quelques secondes pour que le signal audio
soit prét. Veuillez parler lentement et garder le microphone prés
de votre bouche. Si vous avez choisi un canal d’interprétation, ne
parlez que dans la langue du canal choisi.

Veuillez signaler a la présidente les difficultés techniques
concernant en particulier 1’interprétation, et 1’équipe technique
travaillera a les résoudre. Si vous éprouvez d’autres problémes
techniques, communiquez avec le greffier du comité en utilisant
le numéro d’assistance technique qui a été fourni.

Ne faites pas de copies, d’enregistrements ou de saisies des
écrans Zoom. Vous pouvez utiliser et diffuser les délibérations
officielles qui sont diffusées sur le site web SenVu.

Enfin, veuillez noter que si le comité décide de poursuivre la
séance a huis clos, I'utilisation de plateformes en ligne ne
garantit pas la protection des conversations et 1’absence d’écoute
clandestine. Par conséquent, les participants doivent tous é&tre
conscients de ces contraintes et restreindre la divulgation
éventuelle de renseignements confidentiels, délicats ou protégés
du Sénat. Les participants doivent s’installer dans un endroit
privé et €tre attentifs a leur environnement, de maniére a ne pas
divulguer par inadvertance des renseignements personnels ou de
I’information sur I’endroit ou ils se trouvent.

Bonjour. Bienvenue au Comité sénatorial permanent des
affaires sociales, des sciences et de la technologie.

[Frangais]

Je m’appelle Chantal Petitclerc, sénatrice du Québec, et c’est
avec plaisir que je préside cette réunion virtuelle.
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[English]

Before we give the floor to our witnesses, I would like to
introduce the senators who are with us today in this virtual
meeting. We have with us Senator Munson, Senator Seidman,
Senator Bovey, Senator Deacon, Senator McCallum, Senator
Griffin, Senator Dasko, Senator Forest-Niesing, Senator Pate,
Senator Mégie, Senator Poirier, Senator Moodie and Senator
Kutcher.

[Translation]

Welcome. Without further ado, we will introduce the

witnesses for today’s meeting.
[English]

On April 11, 2020, the Senate adopted a motion to authorize
this committee to study the government’s response to the
COVID-19 pandemic. Today is our seventh meeting in this
study.

[Translation]

For the first part of this meeting, we have the privilege and
pleasure to hear from the Honourable Patty Hajdu, Minister of
Health. She is joined by two Public Health Agency of Canada
representatives, Dr. Theresa Tam, Chief Administrator, and Tina
Namiesniowski, President. We are also hearing from Stephen
Lucas, Deputy Minister, Health Canada, Dr. Michael Strong,
President, Canadian Institutes of Health Research, and Siddika
Mithani, President, Canadian Food Inspection Agency.

[English)

Minister, I’d like to invite you to make your opening
statement.

Hon. Patty Hajdu, P.C., M.P., Minister of Health: Thank
you very much, Madam Chair and honourable senators, for
inviting me before your committee today. I know you’ve all been
working incredibly hard within your own jurisdictions and
following the developments of COVID-19 very carefully and
Canada’s response with you.

As you’ve mentioned, and I won’t repeat them, I have a
number of officials with me from the Department of Health as
well as from the Public Health Agency of Canada and the
Canadian Institute of Health Research and, of course, the
Canadian Food Inspection Agency. I will turn to them
occasionally to provide more detail on our government’s work.
I’d also like to thank them in front of all of you for the incredibly
hard work that they’ve been performing on behalf of Canadians
since well before it was on the minds of Canadians, and I know

[Traduction]

Avant de donner la parole a nos témoins, j’aimerais présenter
les sénateurs qui participent aujourd’hui a cette réunion virtuelle.
Nous avons le sénateur Munson, la sénatrice Seidman, la
sénatrice Bovey, la sénatrice Deacon, la sénatrice McCallum, la
sénatrice Griffin, la sénatrice Dasko, la sénatrice Forest-Niesing,
la sénatrice Pate, la sénatrice Mégie, la sénatrice Poirier, la
sénatrice Moodie et le sénateur Kutcher.

[Frangais]

Je vous souhaite la bienvenue. Sans plus tarder, nous allons
vous présenter les témoins pour la réunion d’aujourd’hui.

[Traduction]

Le 11 avril 2020, le Sénat a adopté une motion autorisant ce
comité a étudier la réponse du gouvernement a la pandémie de
COVID-19. Aujourd’hui, nous tenons notre septiéme réunion
dans le cadre de cette étude.

[Frangais]

Pour la premiére partie de cette réunion, nous avons le
privilége et le plaisir d’accueillir ’honorable Patty Hajdu,
ministre de la Santé. Elle est accompagnée de deux
représentantes de 1’Agence de la santé publique du Canada, soit
la Dre Theresa Tam, administratrice en chef, et Mme Tina
Namiesniowski, présidente. Nous accueillons également
M. Stephen Lucas, sous-ministre, Sant¢ Canada, le Dr Michael
Strong, président, Instituts de recherche en santé du Canada, et
Dre Siddika Mithani, présidente, Agence canadienne
d’inspection des aliments.

[Traduction]

Madame la ministre, je vous invite a présenter votre
déclaration liminaire.

L’honorable Patty Hajdu, c.p., députée, ministre de la
Santé : Madame la présidente, honorables sénateurs, merci
beaucoup de m’avoir invitée a comparaitre devant vous
aujourd’hui. Je sais que vous travaillez tous trés fort dans vos
propres circonscriptions et que vous suivez de trés pres
I’évolution de la COVID-19 ainsi que la réponse du Canada.

Comme vous l’avez mentionné, je suis accompagnée de
plusieurs fonctionnaires — dont je ne répéterai pas les noms —
du ministére de la Santé ainsi que de 1’Agence de la santé
publique du Canada, des Instituts de recherche en santé du
Canada et, bien sir, de I’Agence canadienne d’inspection des
aliments. Je vais occasionnellement leur demander de fournir
plus de précisions sur le travail que fait notre gouvernement. Je
tiens également a les remercier devant vous pour le travail
incroyable qu’ils accomplissent au nom des Canadiens, et ce,
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that Canada’s response has been all the stronger for their
leadership.

Today, I will talk about our ongoing response to the
COVID-19 pandemic. I do have some remarks in French, so
you’ll have to have patience as I switch back and forth to the
appropriate channel, which I will do right now for a few French
remarks.

[Translation]

Our response to this crisis has always been guided by the best
and the most recent data available. We have been adapting our
approach to the changing circumstances and to the availability of
new information.

[English]

I think whoever helped me with the translation probably didn’t
think about the need to change channels.

The fact is this is a new virus, one we’re still learning about,
and it’s presented countries around the world with unique
challenges. In Canada, we’ve used the latest science and data to
inform our response. As we learned more about COVID-19, we
have adapted our response and adjusted our approach to keep
Canadians safe.

We know there is still a lot of work ahead, but there is reason
for optimism in our country, because in fact transmission has
slowed. We’re now at the point where provinces and territories
are beginning to cautiously reopen and gradually ease
restrictions. But, as we can see from other countries’ experiences
around the world, this does not mean that the pandemic is over.
As Dr. Tam has said, we will likely see more cases and
outbreaks in some areas as public health measures are relaxed.
We have to continue to work hard all across the country,
together, because we know that this will be with us for some
time.

As we move towards reopening, we can expect to see the
transmission of the virus continue and likely even increase. At
this critical time, it’s important to remind all Canadians that
there is no shame in getting sick. The reality is that despite
taking every precaution, it is still possible to fall ill. In fact, what
we know now is that many of us can carry this virus without ever
being aware of it, and that’s why it’s so important that Canadians
who need testing or treatment can seek it out without fear or
embarrassment. Identifying and isolating new cases will be key
in containing future outbreaks. When we are speaking to
Canadians, we need to remind them that we are all in this
together. We need to be kind to one another and we need to
support one another.

depuis bien avant que la situation actuelle occupe 1’esprit des
Canadiens. Je sais que c’est grice a leur leadership que la
réponse du Canada est si forte.

Aujourd’hui, je vais parler de notre réponse a la pandémie de
COVID-19. Je vais vous demander d’étre patients, car je devrai
changer de canal de temps en temps.

[Frangais]

Notre réponse a cette crise a toujours été guidée par les
meilleures et les plus récentes données disponibles. Nous
adaptons notre approche a 1’évolution des circonstances et a la
disponibilité des nouvelles informations.

[Traduction]

Je crois qu’on a tendance a oublier la nécessité de changer de
canal.

Le fait est qu’il s’agit d’un nouveau virus, que nous
continuons d’en apprendre a son sujet, et qu’il présente des défis
particuliers a bien des pays partout dans le monde. Au Canada,
nous avons fondé notre réponse sur les données et méthodes
scientifiques les plus récentes. Au fur et & mesure que nous en
apprenons plus sur la COVID-19, nous adaptons notre réponse et
notre approche dans le but d’assurer la sécurité des Canadiens.

Nous savons qu’il y a encore beaucoup de travail a faire, mais
nous avons des raisons d’étre optimistes, dans notre pays, car
dans les faits, la transmission a ralenti. Nous en sommes
maintenant au point ou les provinces et les territoires entament
prudemment la réouverture et relachent progressivement les
restrictions. Cependant, comme nous le montrent les expériences
vécues dans d’autres pays du monde, cela ne signifie pas que la
pandémie est terminée. Comme la Dre Tam 1’a dit, nous risquons
d’avoir d’autres cas et d’autres éclosions dans certaines régions,
avec 1’assouplissement des mesures de santé publique. Nous
devons continuer de travailler fort, ensemble, a 1’échelle du pays,
car nous savons que nous en avons encore pour un bon bout de
temps.

Avec la réouverture qui s’amorce, nous pouvons nous attendre
a ce que le virus continue de se propager et a ce qu’il y ait méme
une augmentation. Nous en sommes & un moment critique, et il
est important de rappeler a tous les Canadiens qu’il n’y a rien de
honteux a tomber malade. La réalité est que malgré toutes les
précautions, il demeure possible de tomber malade. En fait, ce
que nous savons maintenant, ¢’est que nous sommes nombreux a
peut-étre transporter le virus sans méme le savoir, et c’est la
raison pour laquelle il est si important que les Canadiens qui ont
besoin d’étre testés ou traités puissent le faire sans crainte et sans
géne. Il sera essentiel de dépister et d’isoler les nouveaux cas
pour contenir les éclosions futures. Quand nous parlons aux
Canadiens, nous devons leur rappeler que nous sommes tous
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As the epidemic has unfolded across the country, it’s become
clear that we need more information on certain groups at higher
risk for exposure to or severe outcomes of COVID-19. In
partnership with various partners and stakeholders, a number of
efforts are under way to improve our knowledge of the impact of
COVID-19 on different populations and communities, and
critical to this is that it’s done in a way that respects privacy laws
and individual autonomy. Some of these activities include
working with provincial and territorial partners to improve the
collection of data on race and ethnicity and other key variables
within the national data set for COVID-19, as well as
undertaking specialized surveys among key populations, such as
health care workers and seniors in long-term care.

During these stressful times, we have also started important
conversations about mental health and wellness. COVID-19 is
particularly disruptive for those who do not have ready access to
their regular support networks. Having to stay home meant that
many Canadians weren’t able to see friends and family and, for
some, this is increasing the risk of family violence, depression,
mental health issues and substance use concerns. No one should
have to go through this alone. That’s why we’ve developed
digital tools to help Canadians stay healthy and informed. Our
Wellness Together Canada portal was created to connect
Canadians to mental health and substance use supports. As of
June 19, more than 230,000 Canadians have accessed this tool.

We also know that young people and children are suffering.
That’s why we’re supporting the Kids Help Phone with a $7.5
million investment to help them continue to offer their critical
mental health support to young Canadians during this difficult
time.

Canadians have made incredible sacrifices during this
pandemic, and Canadians have come together in remarkable
ways over the past few months to flatten the curve. There is
definitely still more to do, but I believe that Canadians will
continue to do their part to fight COVID-19 with compassion,
with empathy and with kindness, because, after all, it is who we
are and it is how we will keep our communities safe and healthy
through the next phase of the pandemic and beyond.

Thank you very much, and I look forward to your questions.

dans le méme bateau. Nous devons faire preuve de gentillesse les
uns envers les autres, et nous devons nous soutenir entre nous.

Avec 1’épidémie qui s’est propagée partout au pays, il est
devenu clair que nous avons besoin de plus de renseignements
sur certains groupes qui courent un plus grand risque d’étre
exposés a la COVID-19 ou d’en subir des effets graves. En
collaboration avec des partenaires et intervenants variés, nous
déployons des efforts sur plusieurs fronts pour améliorer nos
connaissances des incidences de la COVID-19 sur différentes
populations et communautés, et il est crucial a cette fin que cela
se fasse d’une maniére qui respecte les lois relatives au respect
de la vie privée de méme que 1’autonomie individuelle. Entre
autres, nous travaillons avec nos partenaires provinciaux et
territoriaux a améliorer la collecte de données sur la race et
I’ethnicité, ainsi que sur d’autres variables clés de I’ensemble de
données nationales visant la COVID-19, et nous réalisons des
enquétes spécialisées sur des populations clés, comme les
travailleurs de la santé et les ainés qui vivent dans des
établissements de soins de longue durée.

C’est une période stressante, et nous avons également lancé
d’importantes conversations sur la santé mentale et le bien-étre.
La COVID-19 a des effets particuliecrement perturbateurs pour
ceux qui n’ont pas facilement accés a leurs réseaux habituels de
soutien. Forcés de rester a la maison, de nombreux Canadiens
n’ont pas pu voir leurs amis et les membres de leur famille, et
pour certains, il y a augmentation du risque de violence
familiale, de dépression, de problémes de santé mentale et de
problémes de toxicomanie. Personne ne devrait vivre seul de
telles situations. C’est la raison pour laquelle nous avons congu
des outils numériques dont 1’objectif est d’aider les Canadiens a
demeurer en santé et informés. Notre portail Espace mieux-étre
Canada a été créé pour diriger les Canadiens vers du soutien pour
la santé mentale et la consommation de substances. Depuis le 19
juin, plus de 230 000 Canadiens ont consulté cet outil.

Nous savons aussi que des jeunes et des enfants souffrent.
C’est la raison pour laquelle nous aidons Jeunesse, J’écoute au
moyen d’un investissement de 7,5 millions de dollars qui les
aidera & continuer d’offrir leurs services essentiels de soutien a la
santé mentale aux jeunes Canadiens en ces temps difficiles.

Les Canadiens ont fait d’incroyables sacrifices pendant cette
pandémie, et ils se sont unis d’une maniere remarquable au cours
des quelques derniers mois dans un effort pour aplatir la courbe.
Il reste certainement beaucoup a faire, mais je crois que les
Canadiens vont continuer de faire ce qu’il faut pour lutter contre
la COVID-19, et ce, avec compassion, empathie et gentillesse,
car apres tout, c’est ainsi que nous sommes et c’est ainsi que
nous allons assurer la sécurité et la santé de nos collectivités
pendant la prochaine phase de la pandémie et apres.

Je vous remercie beaucoup. Je serai ravie de répondre a vos
questions.
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[Translation]

The Chair: Thank you, minister. We are happy to have you
among us this morning.

[English)

It is now time to proceed with a question period. Just a quick
reminder, as it is in our previous practice, to remind you that you
have five minutes for your questions, including the answer. If
you do wish to have a question, please use the “raise hand”
function in Zoom. When asking a question, please identify the
person you wish to answer, or if the question is for more than
one person.

The first question today will go to our deputy chair, Senator
Poirier.

Senator Poirier: Thank you, minister, for being with us.
Also, thank you for all the other witnesses that are on standby
to answer our questions. I greatly appreciate it and I think it
plays an important role of information that you can bring to us as
we’re closing this chapter of the first part of our study that we’re
doing right now.

My first question is actually for Dr. Tam, if you will allow.
We have heard from countless witnesses throughout the
committee study that there was a lack of access to personal
protective equipment. It was the number one concern through
this pandemic. Hospitals and workers have had to ration their
supplies while they wait for stock to be replenished, and some
have even had to reuse certain equipment. As Dr. Margaret
Tromp told this committee, this would be considered a
malpractice in a pre-COVID era. Dr. Tam, what was your
knowledge about the lack of personal protective equipment in
our National Emergency Strategic Stockpile? Can you tell the
committee whether you personally ever warned the government
that the National Emergency Strategic Stockpile was under-
funded or under-stocked?

Dr. Theresa Tam, Chief Public Health Officer, Public
Health Agency of Canada: Thank you for the question.

In the Canadian context, all levels of government, particularly
the provinces and territories, are responsible for the health care
system itself. Every provincial-territorial government also
maintain their stockpiles, and that’s where the majority of the
personal protective equipment is used.

The National Emergency Strategic Stockpile, which is
maintained by the Public Health Agency of Canada, actually
didn’t have that much personal protective equipment in it prior to
the arrival of this particular pandemic. I think that’s fairly

[Frangais]

La présidente : Merci, madame la ministre. Nous sommes
heureux de votre présence parmi nous ce matin.

[Traduction]

C’est maintenant le moment de poser des questions. Je tiens a
vous rappeler rapidement que, conformément a ce que nous
faisons normalement, vous avez cinq minutes pour VoS
questions, ce qui comprend les réponses. Si vous voulez poser
une question, utilisez la fonction « lever la main » dans Zoom.
Quand vous posez une question, veuillez nommer la personne a
laquelle elle s’adresse ou indiquer si la question s’adresse a plus
d’une personne.

La premiére intervenante aujourd’hui est notre vice-présidente,
la sénatrice Poirier.

La sénatrice Poirier : Merci d’étre avec nous aujourd’hui,
madame la ministre. Je remercie également tous les autres
témoins qui sont préts a répondre a nos questions. Je vous en sais
gré, et je crois que vous nous fournissez de I’information trés
importante alors que nous sommes sur le point de terminer la
premiére partie de notre étude actuelle.

Ma premiere question s’adresse en fait & la Dre Tam, si vous
me le permettez. D’innombrables témoins entendus par le comité
dans le cadre de notre étude ont parlé de la difficulté d’acces a de
I’équipement de protection individuelle. C’est la préoccupation
premiere, dans le contexte de la pandémie. Les hopitaux et les
travailleurs ont di rationner leur équipement en attendant d’étre
réapprovisionnés, et certains ont méme di réutiliser de
I’équipement. Comme la Dre Margaret Tromp nous I’a dit, cela
aurait été considéré comme de la négligence professionnelle,
avant la COVID. Docteure Tam, que saviez-vous du manque
d’équipement de protection individuelle dans notre Réserve
nationale stratégique d’urgence? Pouvez-vous dire au comité si
vous avez personnellement averti le gouvernement du sous-
financement ou du manque de fournitures de la Réserve
nationale stratégique d’urgence?

Dre Theresa Tam, administratrice en chef de la santé
publique, Agence de la santé publique du Canada : Je vous
remercie de votre question.

Dans le contexte canadien, tous les ordres de gouvernement,
en particulier les provinces et les territoires, sont responsables du
systétme de soins de santé comme tel. Chaque gouvernement
provincial ou territorial s’assure d’avoir une réserve, et c’est la
que I’équipement de protection individuelle est principalement
utilisé.

La Réserve nationale stratégique d’urgence, qui est gérée par
I’Agence de la santé publique du Canada, ne comportait en fait
pas tellement d’équipement de protection individuelle avant cette
pandémie en particulier. Je crois que c’est assez transparent, car
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transparent, given that the stockpile itself is very much focused
on some unusual stockpiles of vaccines and medications that
provinces don’t normally stockpile. There was a small amount of
personal protective equipment, and that could serve as a backup
in the event that the provinces and territories are not able to
cope.

Of course, this event taught us that there’s an incredible
amount of personal protective equipment required for such a
pandemic situation, so the government, very quickly, together
with multiple departments, Public Services and Procurement
Canada and the Public Health Agency, Health Canada and our
ISED colleagues, all got together to use multiple different
approaches to acquire personal protective equipment as fast as
possible, in a very competitive and unusual supply market, to get
PPE to Canadians, and also then to establish domestic supply. So
a lot of work was certainly done as fast as possible at the start of
this pandemic.

Senator Poirier: Thank you, Dr. Tam.

We’re also seeing lately more and more cases on the world
stage, and every day seems to be a new record for the most cases
recorded in a day. We have heard time and again that we’re not
prepared for the second wave, and we need to prepare for it. It’s
not if it comes, it’s when it’s going to come, from what we’re
hearing. Dr. Tam, what is your plan to ensure that we’re ready
for the second wave? What would you say to health care workers
in the wake of a second wave to reassure them that we are ready,
that we have the equipment that is needed and that government is
prepared?

Dr. Tam: Right now, as everyone appreciates, Canadians,
many partners and all levels of government have tried very hard
to suppress that initial wave, but always at the back of our mind
in constant vigilance is a resurgence scenario. It’s not just a
matter of a second wave, but because the virus continues to be in
the world and in the Canadian context and we don’t have a
vaccine, the population is unlikely to have a high level of
immunity so that the risk of a resurgence is very real. What is
suppressing it right now is the public health measures everyone
has put together, and that has been effective.

But absolutely, while cautiously reopening certain sectors of
our society, there is simultaneous rapid planning for any
resurgence. Modellers, for example, have worked hard to show
us that if we didn’t put the right combination of public health
measures in place, including testing, contact tracing, isolation
and quarantine measures, a resurgence is very likely to happen.

la réserve elle-méme est dans une grande mesure axée sur des
réserves inhabituelles de vaccins et de médicaments que les
provinces n’accumulent pas normalement dans leurs réserves. Il
y avait une petite quantité d’équipement de protection
individuelle qui pouvait servir au cas ou les réserves des
provinces et territoires ne suffiraient pas.

Bien entendu, cet événement nous a enseigné qu’il faut une
quantité incroyable d’équipement de protection individuelle dans
le contexte d’une telle pandémie, et le gouvernement, de concert
avec divers ministéres, Services publics et Approvisionnement
Canada et I’Agence de la santé publique, Santé Canada et nos
collegues d’ISDEC, se sont rapidement mobilisés pour mettre en
ceuvre de multiples approches différentes pour acquérir le plus
rapidement possible de 1I’équipement de protection individuelle,
et ce, sur un marché d’approvisionnement inhabituel et trés
concurrentiel, de maniére a acheminer cet équipement aux
Canadiens et pour ensuite €tablir un approvisionnement national.
Il s’est donc fait beaucoup de travail, le plus rapidement
possible, au début de la pandémie.

La sénatrice Poirier : Merci, docteure Tam.

Derniérement, nous voyons aussi de plus en plus de cas sur la
scéne mondiale, et il semble chaque jour y avoir un nouveau
record du nombre de cas enregistrés en un jour. Nous avons
maintes fois entendu que nous ne sommes pas préts pour une
deuxiéme vague et que nous devons nous y préparer. La question
n’est pas de savoir s’il y aura une deuxiéme vague, mais quand il
y aura une deuxiéme vague, d’aprés ce que nous entendons.
Docteure Tam, quel est votre plan pour veiller a ce que nous
soyons préts pour la deuxiéme vague? Que diriez-vous aux
travailleurs de la santé a la veille de la deuxiéme vague, pour les
assurer que nous sommes préts, que nous avons 1’équipement
nécessaire et que le gouvernement est préparé?

Dre Tam : En ce moment, comme tout le monde le
comprend, les Canadiens, de nombreux partenaires et tous les
ordres de gouvernement se sont vraiment efforcés de faire
obstacle a cette vague initiale, mais nous gardons constamment a
I’esprit le risque de résurgence et demeurons vigilants. Il n’est
pas uniquement question d’une deuxiéme vague. Etant donné
que le virus demeure présent dans le monde, compte tenu du
contexte canadien, et parce que nous n’avons pas de vaccin, la
population risque peu d’avoir un degré élevé d’immunité, ce qui
fait que le risque de résurgence est trés réel. Ce sont les mesures
de santé publique que tout le monde a mises en ceuvre qui
limitent en ce moment la propagation du virus, et cela a été
efficace.

Cependant, bien sir, tandis que nous rouvrons avec prudence
certains secteurs de notre société, il se fait simultanément une
planification rapide en cas de résurgence. Par exemple, les
modélisateurs ont travaillé avec acharnement a nous démontrer
que si nous ne mettons pas en place une juste combinaison de
mesures de santé publique comprenant le dépistage, la recherche
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What we’re trying to do while trying to suppress any
outbreaks immediately — that’s the plan — is preparing for a
possible return of an even bigger wave in the fall and winter
season. It could be anytime, actually, so we need to be constantly
prepared and constantly increasing our capacity. What we are
concerned with and planning for right now, together with all the
chief medical officers of health across Canada, is a simultaneous
wave occurring at the same time as an influenza outbreak. That
is what we are working very hard to do.

Some of the conditions that the Prime Minister and the
premiers have put together are that reopening can only be done
under certain conditions. In addition to those public health
measures and capacity, such as lab testing and contact tracing, is
the absolute requirement for the health care system to have the
capacity that it needs to cope with any resurgences.

In the initial wave, in fact, the provinces and territories have
been able to keep any sort of overcapacity of the acute care
system, so that was actually managed quite well during the first
wave, with still vacant capacity that they were able to manage.
Some of my colleagues here could elaborate.

There is quite a lot of work in modelling the personal
protective equipment requirements under these scenarios and
then getting those requirements from the provinces and
territories in real time, but also in planning purposes, and then
sourcing all of those requirements is a massive amount of work
that is ongoing.

All of us believe, of course, that protecting health care workers
and anyone who works in the health system is of paramount
importance, but, of course, not forgetting our seniors and our
long-term care home part of it as well. While the acute care
system wasn’t as impacted, the long-term care homes and seniors
residences absolutely are, and they need PPE as well.

Senator Poirier: Thank you very much, Dr. Tam.

Senator Griffin: Thank you to the witnesses for being with us
here today. It’s great to have you.

I have a question for Dr. Mithani from the CFIA. I am
concerned about food security. As you know, there have been
backlogs in meat processing plants. Only three plants in our
country handle 95% of the beef processing. It’s quite amazing.
And of course, there have been COVID-19 outbreaks among the
staff in these plants.

des contacts, 1’isolement et la quarantaine, une résurgence est
trés vraisemblable.

Ce que nous essayons de faire tandis que nous travaillons a
éliminer tout risque d’éclosion immédiatement — c’est le
plan —, c’est de nous préparer a une vague encore plus
importante a I’automne et I’hiver. Cela pourrait se produire
n’importe quand, en fait, et nous devons donc é&tre préts en tout
temps et constamment améliorer notre capacité. Ce qui nous
préoccupe en ce moment, et ce pour quoi nous faisons
actuellement des plans avec tous les médecins-hygiénistes en
chef du Canada, c’est la possibilit¢ d’une vague qui serait
simultanée a une éclosion d’influenza. Nous travaillons trés fort
a cela.

Le premier ministre et les premiers ministres des provinces ont
établi des conditions pour la réouverture. Outre les capacités et
mesures de santé publique établies, par exemple le dépistage et
la recherche des contacts, il faut absolument que le systéme de
soins de santé ait la capacité requise pour faire face a toute
résurgence.

Pendant la premiere vague, en fait, les provinces et territoires
ont été en mesure de maintenir une sorte de surcapacité du
systéme de soins actifs. Cela a donc été relativement bien géré
pendant la premiére vague, avec le maintien de places vacantes.
Certains de mes collégues ici présents pourraient en dire plus a
ce sujet.

Il se fait beaucoup de travail de modélisation des besoins en
équipement de protection individuelle selon les différents
scénarios, et des efforts sont déployés pour obtenir les besoins
des provinces et des territoires en temps réel, mais aussi pour
faire de la planification. Localiser tout 1’équipement est un
travail colossal qui se poursuit.

Nous croyons tous, bien slir, que protéger les travailleurs de la
santé et quiconque travaille dans le systéme de soins de santé est
crucial, mais bien sir nous n’oublions pas nos ainés et les
résidences de soins de longue durée également. Le systéme de
soins actifs n’a pas été touché, mais les résidences de soins de
longue durée et les résidences pour ainés le sont, et ces
établissements ont besoin d’équipement de protection
individuelle également.

La sénatrice Poirier : Merci beaucoup, docteure Tam.

La sénatrice Griffin : Merci aux témoins d’étre avec nous
aujourd’hui. Nous en sommes ravis.

J’ai une question pour Dre Mithani, de I’Agence canadienne
d’inspection des aliments. Je me préoccupe de la sécurité
alimentaire. Comme vous le savez, il y a des retards dans les
usines de transformation de la viande. Trois usines a 1’échelle du
pays font 95 % de la transformation de la viande. C’est assez
incroyable. Et bien sir, il y a eu des éclosions de COVID-19
parmi les employés de ces usines.
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What is interesting is that in 1988, there were 119 federally
inspected beef processors in our country. Now there are only 20.
To add to the problem, interprovincial transport of meat has been
an issue, as it is with many other commodities. But because of
the pandemic, there has been, fortunately, a temporary
exemption by the CFIA for meat to move more freely amongst
the provinces.

There are two things I would like you to touch upon: the
feasibility of smaller processing plants and the interprovincial
transportation of meat. What steps is the CFIA taking to make
meat processing less centralized and interprovincial
transportation more straightforward? Thank you.

Dr. Siddika Mithani, President, Canadian Food Inspection
Agency: Thank you very much for the question.

Since the start of the pandemic, the CFIA has been taking
immediate and decisive action around ensuring that, first, the
food that we have is safe and reliable; second, that there is no
interruption in the food supply chain; and third, and most
importantly, that the health and safety of the employees are
safeguarded as well.

With respect to your questions on the feasibility of smaller
plants, the role of the CFIA is to ensure that, in these meat
plants, food safety components have been met according to the
requirements. From that perspective, the fact that there might be
an appetite for having smaller establishments looking at meat
production or processing is feasible and viable. CFIA would be
ready to help and aid people and companies if they would so
wish to decide to move forward with establishing more meat
plants.

With respect to the interprovincial trade, prior to COVID-19, [
had been working on exploring avenues to look at whether there
were any equivalency agreements that we could look at with
respect to the movement of food products within provinces. In
order to ensure that we would have no food shortage issues, the
regulations allow the minister to provide a ministerial
exemption, so we have made it possible and facilitated that
ministerial exemption to happen in cases where we do have food
shortages.

I would say that post-COVID, there will still be conversations
around how best to ensure across the country that we do not have
any food shortages.

Senator Griffin: Thank you. Those are my questions.

Senator Munson: Thank you to the witnesses and to the
minister for doing a wonderful job in protecting Canadians. You
also have, minister, probably the best chief of staff on the Hill.
Just thought I would throw that in.

Ce qui est intéressant, c’est qu’en 1988, il y avait 119
transformateurs du beeuf sous inspection fédérale au Canada. 11
n’y en a maintenant plus que 20. Par surcroit, le transport
interprovincial de viande pose un probleme, comme c’est le cas
pour de nombreux autres produits. Heureusement, la pandémie a
amené I’ACIA a décréter une exemption temporaire permettant
la libre circulation de la viande entre les provinces.

J’aimerais que vous me parliez de deux choses : la faisabilité
d’usines de transformation plus petites et le transport
interprovincial de la viande. Quelles mesures I’ACIA met-elle en
place pour que la transformation de la viande soit moins
centralisée et pour que le transport interprovincial soit plus
simple? Merci.

Dre Siddika Mithani, présidente, Agence canadienne
d’inspection des aliments : Je vous remercie beaucoup de la
question.

Depuis le début de la pandémie, I’ACIA prend des mesures
immédiates et décisives afin de garantir, premiérement, que nos
aliments sont sirs et fiables; deuxiémement, qu’il n’y a aucune
interruption de la chaine d’approvisionnement alimentaire; et
troisiémement, surtout, que la santé et la sécurité¢ des employés
sont protégées également.

Quant a vos questions sur la faisabilité de petites usines, le
role de I’ACIA est de veiller a ce que dans ces petites usines, les
exigences en matiere de salubrité des aliments soient respectées.
Dans cette perspective, la production ou la transformation de
viandes dans de petits établissements sont tout a fait faisables et
viables. L’ACIA serait préte a aider les personnes et les
entreprises qui souhaiteraient établir un plus grand nombre
d’établissements de transformation des viandes.

Quant au commerce interprovincial, avant la COVID-19, je
travaillais a explorer des avenues afin de déterminer s’il y avait
des accords d’équivalence a examiner concernant le mouvement
de produits alimentaires dans les provinces. Afin de garantir que
nous n’avons pas de pénurie d’aliments, la réglementation
permet au ministre de décréter une exemption ministérielle. Nous
avons donc rendu possible cette exemption ministérielle en cas
de pénurie d’aliments.

Je dirais qu’apres la COVID, il y aura encore des discussions
sur la fagon de mieux veiller a ce qu’il n’y ait pas de pénurie
d’aliments au pays.

La sénatrice Griffin : Je vous remercie. Je n’ai pas d’autres
questions.

Le sénateur Munson : Je remercie les témoins et la ministre
de leur excellent travail de protection des Canadiens. Madame la
ministre, vous avez aussi probablement la meilleure chef de
cabinet de la Colline. Je tenais a le dire.
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Now the combination of the senator/reporter type question on
the $600 to the disability community: the Prime Minister
announced it and it got caught up in politics, to put it politely.
But within the community, a lot of advocates and groups are
saying it’s too little too late. What is the status of it right now?

To make sure I get this question in: On the Canada Revenue
Agency Disability Tax Credit, there are certain groups that are
eligible for that amount of money, but it’s my understanding that
those with autism — that’s a community I work closely with —
and, perhaps, those with diabetes, are not registered with the
Canada Revenue Agency Disability Tax Credit and so therefore
will not get the $600.

So two questions, and I do have more, hopefully for Dr. Tam.
What is the status? Can you change this? Do you believe in an
overhaul so that it can be equitable for the entire disability
community?

Ms. Hajdu: Thank you, senator. I don’t know if my chief of
staff is in the room at Health Canada, but I will pass on the kind
remarks. I agree with you. I’1l pass that on to Sabine Saini.

In terms of the Disability Tax Credit, I know that my
colleague, Minister Qualtrough, has worked passionately on
trying to increase supports for people living with disabilities. In
fact, I was honoured to take part in one of her early round tables
with people with disabilities in terms of how the pandemic was
affecting them in very tangible ways. There were some
extremely heartbreaking stories. She was equally disappointed
by the lack of passage of that particular piece of legislation that
would have made it possible for the one-time payment. I will
remind you, though, that there are other ways that money is
getting to people living in lower income settings, such as the
enhanced GST, et cetera. There are opportunities that she is
working on to enhance the proposed approach to address your
issue of certain people that are left out of the delivery
mechanism.

Again, this is a little out of my scope as Minister of Health —
I have had to pretty much stay in my lane and let my colleagues
manage some of the aspects of the economic response — but I
will say that some of the challenges that we have had with
delivering the economic response is a system that is not designed
in a way to get money out as quickly as possible, using legacy
systems, such as CRA and the EI system, that are essentially
overstretched to begin with in normal times and are really
challenged to deliver in new and rapid ways.

J’en arrive maintenant a la question du sénateur qui se fait
journaliste sur le montant de 600 $ versé aux personnes
handicapées : le premier ministre a annoncé ce montant, et je
resterai poli en disant que la question est devenue politique.
Cependant, au sein de la communauté, de nombreux défenseurs
et groupes disent que c’est trop peu, trop tard. Ou en sommes-
nous en ce moment?

J’ai une autre question que je tiens a poser. Concernant le
crédit d’impo6t pour personnes handicapées de 1’Agence du
revenu du Canada, certains groupes sont admissibles a ce
montant, mais je crois comprendre que les personnes autistes —
un groupe avec lequel je travaille étroitement — et peut-étre les
personnes diabétiques ne sont pas inscrites pour le crédit d’impot
pour personnes handicapées de I’ARC et n’obtiendront par
conséquent pas les 600 $.

J’ai donc deux questions, et j’ai d’autres questions auxquelles
la Dre Tam répondra, je I’espére. Ou en sommes-nous? Pouvez-
vous changer cela? Croyez-vous qu’une révision pourrait rendre
cela équitable pour toutes les personnes handicapées?

Mme Hajdu : Merci, sénateur. Je ne sais pas si ma chef de
cabinet est présente a Santé Canada en ce moment, mais je vais
lui transmettre vos bons mots. Je suis d’accord avec vous. Je vais
dire cela a Sabine Saini.

En ce qui concerne le crédit d’impdt pour personnes
handicapées, je sais que ma collégue, la ministre Qualtrough,
travaille avec passion a essayer d’améliorer 1’aide aux personnes
handicapées. En fait, j’ai eu I’honneur de participer a une des
premiéres tables rondes qu’elle a tenues avec des personnes
handicapées pour savoir de quelle fagon la pandémie les touche
trés concrétement. Nous avons entendu des histoires vraiment
déchirantes. Elle était également dégue du rejet de la mesure
législative qui aurait permis un paiement forfaitaire. Je vous
rappelle cependant que d’autres moyens servent a acheminer de
I’argent aux personnes a faible revenu, par exemple
I’augmentation du crédit pour TPS et ainsi de suite. Ce sont des
possibilités auxquelles elle travaille dans le but d’améliorer
I’approche proposée pour réagir a I’enjeu que vous soulevez
concernant les personnes que le mécanisme d’acheminement
néglige.

Encore une fois, c’est un peu hors de mon champ de
compétence, a titre de ministre de la Santé — j’ai d0 dans une
grande mesure rester dans ma voie et laisser mes collégues gérer
certains des aspects de la réponse économique —, mais je dirais
quun des défis que nous avons concernant la réponse
économique, c’est que nous avons un systéme qui n’est pas
congu pour acheminer ’argent le plus rapidement possible, avec
nos systémes existants, comme 1’ARC et ’assurance-emploi. Ces
systémes sont essentiellement surchargés en temps normal, et ils
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I will make sure that she hears your concerns. I know that she
has, and I know that she is truly one of Canada’s most committed
people in terms of working with the disability community in a
true lens of inclusion.

Thank you for your questions, and I wish I could provide you
more clarity, but, of course, a lot of it has to depend on how the
next steps unfold.

Senator Munson: I will keep pushing on that issue, because I
think it’s extremely important for those in the autism community
not to be excluded from the Disability Tax Credit. It’s very
important.

Dr. Tam, Statistics Canada released a survey a few days ago
for Canadians with disabilities to complete, with data collected
going to the Public Health Agency of Canada. I'm curious, how
will this survey help Canadians with disabilities have better
health outcomes during the pandemic? They seem to be the
forgotten people in all of this. I know people have concerns and
so on and so forth, and I get that part, but what is your work plan
for this data, since the survey ends on July 6, for tangible
outcomes of helping those with disabilities?

Dr. Tam: Thank you. If I don’t know enough, we will
certainly follow up with providing any information that can be
provided afterwards.

As we all know, there is some lack of data in the context of
this particular pandemic in relation to different populations of
Canadians, and I believe that persons with disabilities really
should be a focus of effective support throughout the pandemic.
As a result, the data is important to inform programs or policies.

On the side of the Public Health Agency, we were privileged
to be able to engage with persons with disabilities as we
developed some of our guidance related to how we support
persons with disabilities during the pandemic itself. There were
many different details, such as personal protective equipment,
for example, using face shields so that people don’t have to have
a mask on that covers their lips, for ease of communication for
people with hearing, visual and other impairments. That is
important. We don’t have enough information on that front.

I don’t know enough about the specific survey data itself, but
the agency also has some funding in existence, for example, for
working with persons with disabilities, but also persons with the

se trouvent vraiment devant le défi de fonctionner selon des
méthodes nouvelles et rapides.

Je wvais veiller a ce que vos préoccupations lui soient
transmises. Je sais qu’elle travaille en ce sens, et je sais qu’elle
est, au Canada, I'une des personnes les plus déterminées a
travailler avec les personnes handicapées dans une véritable
optique d’inclusion.

Je vous remercie de vos questions, et j’aimerais pouvoir
fournir plus d’éclaircissements, mais bien sir, cela dépend
essentiellement du déroulement des prochaines étapes.

Le sénateur Munson : Je vais continuer d’insister la-dessus,
parce que je pense qu’il est extrémement important pour le
milieu de ’autisme de ne pas étre exclu du crédit d’imp6t pour
personnes handicapées. C’est trés important.

Docteure Tam, il y a quelques jours, Statistique Canada a
lancé un sondage a l’intention des Canadiens handicapés. Les
données qui seront ainsi recueillies iront a I’Agence de la santé
publique du Canada. Je suis curieux de savoir comment ce
sondage aidera les Canadiens handicapés a avoir de meilleurs
résultats en matiére de santé pendant la pandémie. Dans tout
cela, on dirait que ce sont les personnes oubliées. Je sais que les
gens ont des préoccupations, et ainsi de suite, et je comprends
cela, mais quel est votre plan de travail concernant ces
données — étant donné que le sondage se termine le 6 juillet —
quant a des résultats tangibles qui aideraient les personnes
handicapées?

Dre Tam : Merci. Si je n’en sais pas assez, nous vous
fournirons ultérieurement toute I’information que nous pouvons.

Comme nous le savons tous, il manque de données dans le
contexte de cette pandémie en particulier, concernant diverses
populations de Canadiens, et je crois que les personnes
handicapées devraient vraiment faire 1’objet d’un soutien
efficace pendant la pandémie. Par conséquent, les données sont
importantes pour [’établissement de programmes ou de
politiques.

A 1’Agence de la santé publique du Canada, nous avons eu le
privilége de pouvoir consulter des personnes handicapées pour la
conception de certains de nos conseils sur la facon de soutenir
les personnes handicapées pendant la pandémie. Il y avait de
nombreux détails différents, par exemple 1’équipement de
protection individuelle, le port d’écrans faciaux qui évitent aux
gens de devoir porter un masque qui couvre leur bouche, afin de
faciliter la communication pour les personnes ayant une
déficience auditive, visuelle ou autre. C’est important. Nous
n’avons pas assez d’information a cet égard.

Je n’en sais pas assez a propos des données d’enquéte
particulieres, mais 1’agence a déja des fonds, par exemple, pour
travailler avec des personnes handicapées, mais également avec
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full range of autism spectrum disorder as well. I hope that the
data can also inform all of our existing programming as well. We
do have teams in the agency who are linking with Statistics
Canada, and we can certainly provide more information as to
how the data is being used.

Because the pandemic is evolving all the time, so should our
approach and our response. The data is expected to help with any
adjustments to the response itself.

Senator Munson: Thank you. I appreciate that, but I can’t
help but emphasize, in terms of data, one in five Canadians has a
disability. This has to be front and centre, in my view.

Senator Seidman: Thank you, minister, Dr. Tam and
members of your department, for the hard work that you are
doing every single day to get Canadians through this very
difficult time safely. I have three questions: one for Dr. Tam, one
for Minister Hajdu and one for Dr. Strong. Perhaps I can start
with the first two and see if I ever make it to the third.

The question I have for Dr. Tam has to do with rapid testing
and tracing. I would like to get to the nub of this, if I might.
Many have suggested that we’ll have outbreaks as opposed to a
second wave. I would like to know that we have the means to put
the outbreaks out as quickly as possible. That would mean
strategic, rapid testing in high-risk regions or workplaces,
followed by contact tracing.

There have been a lot of rumours about a rapid, easily
administered testing device that can produce results quickly and
on the spot for use across the country, say, in a workplace or in a
particular region. I would like to know where we’re at with that,
because that would be really important going forward. What are
the plans to supplement contact tracing with this new app that we
seem to be testing?

I’1l just leave that with you for one minute so that the minister
will know what I will go to her after Dr. Tam answers. It has to
do with national standardized data collection, which I asked you
about at the end of March in the Senate Committee of the Whole.
I would like to know what the federal government has learned
from the COVID pandemic regarding Canada’s public health
surveillance system. Specifically, food for thought might be the
European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control, which has
just replaced 17 independent data collection systems, covering
27 countries and 23 languages, with a single integrated
surveillance system for infectious diseases.

des personnes se situant n’importe ou sur le spectre de 1’autisme.
Jespeére que les données pourront aussi servir a tous nos
programmes existants. Nous avons des équipes, a I’agence, qui
travaillent avec Statistique Canada, et nous pouvons
certainement vous fournir plus d’informations sur la facon dont
les données sont utilisées.

La pandémie évolue constamment, et il doit en étre de méme
pour notre approche et notre réponse. Les données devraient
nous aider a apporter des rectifications a la réponse.

Le sénateur Munson : Merci. Je comprends tout cela, mais je
ne peux pas m’empécher de souligner, concernant les données,
qu’un Canadien sur cinq a une déficience. Il faut que cela soit au
premier plan, d’aprés moi.

La sénatrice Seidman : Je vous remercie, madame Ia
ministre, docteure Tam et tous les membres du ministére, pour le
travail acharné que vous accomplissez chaque jour afin d’aider
les Canadiens a traverser en toute sécurité cette période tres
difficile. J’ai trois questions : une pour la Dre Tam, une pour la
ministre Hajdu, et une pour le Dr Strong. Je vais commencer par
les deux premicéres, et je verrai si je me rends a la troisiéme.

Ma question a la Dre Tam porte sur le dépistage rapide et la
recherche des contacts. J’aimerais aller au cceur de cela.
Nombreux sont ceux qui ont dit que nous aurions des éclosions,
plut6t qu’une deuxieme vague. J’aimerais avoir la certitude que
nous avons les moyens d’enrayer les éclosions le plus
rapidement possible. Il faudrait donc a cette fin un dépistage
stratégique et rapide dans les régions ou les milieux de travail ou
les risques sont élevés, puis la recherche des contacts.

Il y a beaucoup de rumeurs & propos d’un appareil de
dépistage rapide qui est facile a utiliser n’importe ou au pays, par
exemple dans un lieu de travail ou une région particuliére, et qui
peut donner les résultats immédiatement. J’aimerais savoir ou
nous en sommes avec ce dispositif, car cela serait vraiment
important pour la suite des choses. Quels sont les plans pour
compléter la recherche des contacts au moyen de la nouvelle
application qui semble en étre a I’étape des essais?

Je vous laisse réfléchir a cela un peu, et je vais poser ma
question a la ministre. Elle saura a quoi s’attendre apres les
réponses de la Dre Tam. Je veux vous parler de la collecte de
données normalisées a I’échelle nationale. Je vous ai interrogée a
ce sujet a la fin de mars, au comité plénier du Sénat. J’aimerais
savoir ce que le gouvernement fédéral a appris de la pandémie de
COVID concernant le systéme de surveillance de la santé
publique du Canada. Plus précisément, comme matiére a
réflexion, il y a le Centre européen de prévention et de controle
des maladies, qui vient de remplacer 17 systémes de collecte de
données indépendants couvrant 27 pays et 23 langues par un
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unique systéme de surveillance intégrée des maladies
infectieuses.

If I could start with Dr. Tam on the first question, that would
be wonderful. Thank you.

Dr. Tam: With regard to testing individuals for COVID-19,
there are different methods and platforms, if you like, for testing.
Right now, the most common tests being deployed are what we
call molecular testing, which uses PCR and similar technology to
detect the presence of the genome of the virus to determine if
someone is currently infected with the virus. I’ll also talk a bit
about work on serology, which is the testing for antibodies for
your immune response to the virus.

Senator Seidman: Excuse me, Dr. Tam, I don’t want to
interrupt you and I don’t want to be rude, but if you could just
specifically tell us about an on-the-spot test that could be used
strategically in outbreaks in a workplace or in a region, because I
think that’s the issue. If we’re really to respond to outbreaks, we
need on-the-spot, easily administered, almost self-administered,
doesn’t go to a lab, produces results in 30 minutes, even before a
worker walks into their job. That’s the kind of testing that people
are asking about, and I would love to know — [technical
difficulties].

Dr. Tam: Yes. In the event that there is a case and there is an
outbreak, provinces and territories are geared up to essentially
hone in on that hot spot with the necessary testing capabilities,
which might be going back to a lab. Where we’re currently
focusing on more rapid point-of-care tests is for remote and
isolated communities because they actually don’t have easy
access to a laboratory. Right now, I think colleagues in Health
Canada are working really hard on aggressive procurement
strategies, together with the Public Health Agency and others,
trying to get innovative lab testing.

There are also interim orders to expedite reviews of any
medical devices. Right now, we don’t have a huge number of
devices out in the field of this nature. One of them, which is a
gene expert device, is not instantanecous, but it can be used in
certain communities, as we have seen them used in northern
Saskatchewan, for example, for some recent outbreaks in La
Loche and those areas, and certainly in the North and others.

The other areas of Canada are currently accessing the existing
public health and some private laboratories, but we are acquiring
those kind of rapid point-of-care testing as they become
available. They do have different performance characteristics,

Si la Dre Tam veut bien répondre a la premiére question, ce
serait formidable. Merci.

Dre Tam : Pour ce qui est de soumettre des personnes au
dépistage de la COVID-19, il y a différentes méthodes et
plateformes de dépistage. En ce moment, les tests les plus
courants qui sont utilisés sont les tests moléculaires. IIs utilisent
la technologie PCR ou une technologie semblable pour détecter
la présence du génome du virus et ainsi déterminer si une
personne est en ce moment atteinte. Je vous parlerai aussi un peu
du travail qui se fait en sérologie, soit le dépistage d’anticorps
montrant votre réponse immunitaire au virus.

La sénatrice Seidman : Pardonnez-moi, docteure Tam. Je ne
veux pas vous interrompre et étre impolie, mais j’aimerais que
vous nous parliez spécifiquement d’un test qui peut étre fait dans
I’immédiat et qui pourrait étre utilisé de manicre stratégique en
cas d’éclosion dans un milieu de travail ou dans une région, car
je pense que c’est la le probléme. Si nous voulons vraiment
réagir aux éclosions, il nous faut un test immédiat, facile a faire
passer, qu’on pourrait presque faire soi-méme, sans recourir a un
laboratoire, qui donne des résultats en 30 minutes, avant méme
qu’un travailleur entre au travail. C’est le genre de dépistage qui
suscite 1’intérét des gens, et j’aimerais savoir [Difficultés
techniques].

Dre Tam : Oui. S’il y a un cas et qu’il y a une éclosion, les
provinces et les territoires sont organisés pour se concentrer
essentiellement sur ce point chaud, car ils ont les capacités de
dépistage nécessaires, lesquelles comportent le recours a un
laboratoire. En ce moment, pour le dépistage rapide au point de
service, nous nous concentrons sur les collectivités éloignées et
isolées, parce qu’elles n’ont pas facilement accés a un
laboratoire. Je crois que nos collegues de Santé Canada
travaillent en ce moment trés fort a des stratégies
d’approvisionnement agressives, de concert avec 1’Agence de la
santé publique et d’autres partenaires, et essaient d’obtenir des
services novateurs d’analyse en laboratoire.

Il y a aussi des ordonnances provisoires visant a accélérer
I’examen de tous les appareils médicaux. En ce moment, nous
n’avons pas un trés grand nombre d’appareils de cette nature sur
le terrain. L’un de ces appareils, le GeneXpert, ne donne pas des
résultats instantanément, mais il peut étre utilisé¢ dans certaines
collectivités du Nord et ailleurs, comme nous I’avons vu dans le
nord de la Saskatchewan pour certaines éclosions récentes a La
Loche et dans les environs.

Dans les autres régions du Canada, on utilise les laboratoires
existants de santé publique ainsi que certains laboratoires privés,
mais nous faisons I’acquisition de ce type d’appareils de
dépistage rapide au point de service au fur et a mesure qu’ils
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and those have to actually be tested out to see how well they
perform.

Senator Seidman: Excuse me again. I’'m going to run out of
time. Sorry, I hate to keep interrupting you, but I know I’'m
going to be told any minute that I have no time left.

Could you briefly give me a point in response to the contact
tracing app, very briefly? Because I would like to hear from the
minister about national surveillance.

Dr. Tam: Deputy Lucas was going to maybe provide
an answer on the app, if that’s okay.

Dr. Stephen Lucas, Deputy Minister, Health Canada:
Thank you, senator.

The Prime Minister has announced that we will have a
national exposure notification app based on use of Bluetooth
technology that records close contacts and, in working in
partnership with provinces and territories, allow for the
notification of people if they have been in close contact with
someone who tests positive. It’s slated for launch in Ontario in
the week ahead and will be a complement to the work of public
health officials for following up on recording close contacts,
phoning them and getting them to isolate and be tested. It’s a
complement to the existing efforts.

Senator Seidman: Thank you very much. If I could just have
a minute or two with Minister Hajdu.

Ms. Hajdu: Thank you very much, senator.

In regard to a national approach to data collection, I am a huge
fan of that idea, especially after I have discovered the fractured
way that provinces and territories collect data, and more than
that, report it up to the federal level.

As you know, we have quite a significant amount of money on
the table right now as we negotiate a safe restart with the
provinces and territories. I’'m sure you’re following closely. One
of the areas we are negotiating with the provinces and territories
about is actually stronger data standards nationally. We fully
support an approach where provinces and territories would have,
first of all, a commitment to collecting granular data in a way
that would, as I indicated earlier, be able to provide a better
sense of the disparities, for example, how particular illnesses
impact particular groups in different ways, putting COVID aside
for a second, but also the ability for that data to be rapidly shared
with the federal government. That has been a weakness for us all
along, our ability to actually understand what is happening
nationally, and in some cases, even the most basic information in
the early days. Dr. Tam and her team have worked incredibly

deviennent disponibles. Ces appareils ont des caractéristiques de
rendement différentes, et il faut en faire 1’essai afin de voir s’ils
sont efficaces.

La sénatrice Seidman : Excusez-moi, encore une fois. Je
vais manquer de temps. Je suis désolée de vous interrompre
continuellement, mais je sais qu’on pourrait me dire a tout
moment que mon temps est écoulé.

Trés briévement, pourriez-vous me donner un élément de
réponse concernant ’application de recherche des contacts?
J’aimerais avoir le point de vue de la ministre au sujet de la
surveillance nationale.

Dre Tam : Le sous-ministre Lucas allait donner une réponse
au sujet de I’application, si vous le permettez.

Stephen Lucas, sous-ministre, Santé Canada : Merci,

sénatrice.

Le premier ministre a annoncé que nous aurons une
application nationale de notification d’exposition fonctionnant
par Bluetooth qui enregistrera les contacts étroits. L’application,
utilisée en partenariat avec les provinces et territoires, permet
d’aviser les personnes qui ont ét¢ en contact €troit avec une
personne dont le test est positif. Elle devrait étre lancée en
Ontario au courant de la semaine et sera complémentaire au
travail des responsables de la santé publique pour assurer le suivi
téléphonique aupres des gens qui ont eu des contacts étroits. Les
gens seront incités a s’isoler et a se faire tester. Ce sera
complémentaire aux efforts existants.

La sénatrice Seidman : Merci beaucoup. J’aimerais laisser la
parole a la ministre Hajdu pour une ou deux minutes.

Mme Hajdu : Merci beaucoup, sénatrice.

Je suis trés favorable a une approche nationale pour la collecte
de données, surtout depuis que j’ai constaté 1’état fragmentaire
des données collectées par les provinces et les territoires et, plus
encore, transmises au gouvernement fédéral.

Comme vous le savez, d’assez importantes sommes sont en jeu
actuellement alors que nous négocions avec les provinces et les
territoires pour assurer un redémarrage en toute sécurité. Je suis
certaine que vous suivez cela de prés. Nos négociations avec les
provinces et les territoires portent notamment sur le
renforcement des normes nationales en mati¢re de données. Nous
appuyons sans réserve une approche selon laquelle les provinces
et les territoires s’engageraient, dans un premier temps, a
collecter des données détaillées afin d’avoir une meilleure idée
des disparités, comme je 1’ai indiqué plus t6t, notamment les
facons dont certaines maladies — abstraction faite de la
COVID-19, pour le moment — touchent différemment certains
groupes précis. Il s’agit aussi de permettre la communication
rapide de ces données au gouvernement fédéral. Notre capacité
de savoir réellement ce qui se passe a 1’échelle nationale a été
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hard through the special advisory committee to improve that
process, but some standardization and a national approach is
definitely what we’re aiming for.

The Chair: Thank you.

Senator Seidman: Thank you. I might go on the second
round, if I could.

The Chair: Absolutely.
[Translation]

Senator Forest-Niesing: I would like to thank all the
witnesses for their indefatigable work since the beginning of the
pandemic. It is very appreciated.

My questions will be about the lessons learned since this
pandemic began and about the possibility of potential successive
waves.

I will first address Dr. Tam.

The healthcare professionals who have appeared before the
committee said that the public health and emergency
preparedness directive perhaps went a bit too far during the first
wave of the virus by preventing a sick person’s relatives or even
those of a person receiving palliative care to go to their bedside
even if those relatives used the protection equipment worn by
health workers.

They said that, in fact, that was tantamount to cruel and
insensitive treatment of elderly people who were, in many cases,
forced to die alone, isolated and very often not understanding
what was happening to them. For the upcoming waves, what will
be the directives for those types of situations?

My second question is for the minister. Will the federal
government pressure the provinces to ensure that the relevant
directives are changed?

[English]

Dr. Tam: I apologize. We heard both French and English
simultaneously, so in fact, we couldn’t actually hear the question
here in the room. I don’t know if anybody can fix the technical
issue.

Senator Forest-Niesing: I can ask my question in English. I
will rephrase it.

My question relates to the very unfortunate realization and the
directions with respect to the impossibility for members of the
family of those who were in palliative care or those who were on
the brink of passing not being able to be by the bedside of their
loved one, and that caused an enormous amount of stress for the

une de nos faiblesses tout au long de cette crise, et méme pour
les informations les plus élémentaires, au début, dans certains
cas. La Dre Tam et son équipe ont travaillé d’arrache-pied au
sein du comité consultatif spécial pour améliorer ce processus,
mais il va sans dire que nous visons une certaine harmonisation
et une approche nationale.

La présidente : Merci.

La sénatrice Seidman : Merci. J’aimerais intervenir au

deuxiéme tour, si possible.
La présidente : D’accord.
[Frangais]

La sénatrice Forest-Niesing : J’aimerais remercier tous les
témoins de leur travail inlassable depuis le début de la pandémie.
C’est trés apprécié.

Mes questions porteront sur les legons apprises depuis le début
de cette pandémie et sur la possibilité¢ des vagues successives qui
nous attendent.

Je vais d’abord m’adresser a la Dre Tam.

Les professionnels de la santé qui ont comparu devant le
comité ont indiqué que les directives de la santé publique et de la
protection civile sont peut-&tre allées un peu trop loin lors de la
premiére vague du virus, en empéchant les proches d’un malade
ou méme d’une personne qui recevait des soins palliatifs de se
rendre a son chevet, et ce, méme si ces proches utilisaient les
équipements de protection que portent les travailleurs de la santé.

Ils ont dit que, dans les faits, cela a représenté un traitement
cruel et insensible face aux personnes agées, qui ont été, dans
bien des cas, forcées a mourir seules, isolées et bien souvent sans
comprendre ce qui leur arrivait. Pour les vagues a venir, quelles
seront les directives relativement a ces situations?

Ma seconde question s’adresse a la ministre : le gouvernement
fédéral va-t-il exercer des pressions sur les provinces afin que les
directives a cet ¢gard soient modifiées?

[Traduction]

Dre Tam : Je m’excuse. Dans la salle, nous entendions le
francais et 1’anglais simultanément, de sorte que nous n’avons
pas entendu la question. Je me demande si quelqu’un peut régler
ce probléme technique.

La sénatrice Forest-Niesing : Je peux poser ma question en
anglais. Je vais la reformuler.

Ma question porte sur le trés regrettable constat et les
directives empéchant les proches d’une personne en soins
palliatifs ou a D’article de la mort de se rendre a son chevet,
créant un stress énorme pour les familles, en particulier pour les
personnes qui, malheureusement, seraient seules pour affronter la
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families, in particular for those who were in that very
unfortunate situation of not having a person next to them.
Dr. Tam, in anticipation of an upcoming potential resurgence,
what will be the direction in regard to those situations? Is there
an intention to revise it?

For the minister, I’m interested in knowing what, if any,
pressure the federal government will exercise with the provinces
in order for there to be a change of direction or restriction in that
regard.

Dr. Tam: Thank you for the question. I think it’s absolutely
extremely tragic if someone cannot be at the bedside of their
family member or loved one when they need to be there the
most.

From the perspective of the Public Health Agency, we actually
do not provide that type of directive. That is generally, unless I
misunderstood your question, for hospitals or long-term-care
facilities, which are really in the purview of the provincial and
local governments. All to say, though, we can definitely convey
this important message to all our partners across the country.

Ms. Hajdu: Thank you very much, senator.

Just to echo Dr. Tam, as you know, the federal government
doesn’t have the ability to force provinces and territories to adopt
rules or regulations at that level. We do, obviously, negotiate
with provinces and territories when we transfer money around
increasingly, actually, through our government’s work, for some
outcome measurements. But even that work is very difficult, and
I’m sure you understand that, given what I’'m sure you’ve
watched and read in the media.

There is an approach that seems to be working with
COVID-19, which is a collaborative approach. It’s not perfect.
There are times when provinces and territories diverge from each
other and have differences of opinion with the federal
government. By and large, I will say that, in the work that I’ve
done in politics in the last five years — and I realize I'm still a
baby compared to some people — this is one of the most
collaborative experiences I’ve had, given that there are so many
different political stripes at the table. One of the benefits of
Canada or the Canadian approach is that, unlike our dearest
neighbours to the south, we have not seen the same kind of
political tensions, if you will, around some of the most
fundamental aspects of dealing with COVID-19. For that, I'm
very grateful. I think it has led to some of the successes we’ve
seen, with the full acknowledgement that we’ve had our
challenges as well.

We’ll continue to work with provinces and territories through
the Special Advisory Committee and through the F/T/P table that
I co-chair currently with the Province of Ontario. I also have

mort. Docteure Tam, dans la perspective d’une nouvelle vague,
quelles seront les directives relativement a ces situations? A-t-on
I’intention de les réviser?

J’aimerais que la ministre nous dise quelles pressions, le cas
échéant, le gouvernement fédéral compte exercer auprés des
provinces afin qu’on modifie les orientations ou des restrictions
a cet égard.

Dre Tam : Je vous remercie de la question. Je pense qu’il est
absolument et extrémement tragique qu’une personne ne puisse
pas étre au chevet d’'un membre de sa famille ou d’un étre cher
au moment ou cette personne en a le plus besoin.

L’Agence de la santé publique ne fournit pas de telles
directives. A moins que j’aie mal compris votre question, cela
concerne généralement les hdpitaux ou les établissements de
soins de longue durée, qui relevent des gouvernements
provinciaux et des administrations locales. Cela dit, toutefois,
nous pouvons certainement transmettre cet important message a
tous nos partenaires au pays.

Mme Hajdu : Merci beaucoup, sénatrice.

Comme vous le savez, pour faire écho a la Dre Tam, le
gouvernement fédéral ne peut contraindre les provinces et les
territoires a adopter des régles ou des réglements a cet égard.
Bien entendu, nous négocions de plus en plus avec les provinces
et les territoires lorsque nous transférons de 1’argent, en fait, par
le biais du travail de notre gouvernement, pour obtenir des
mesures de résultats. C’est tout de méme un travail trés difficile,
et je suis certaine que vous le comprenez, compte tenu de ce que
vous avez sans doute pu voir et lire dans les médias.

L’approche collaborative semble fonctionner dans le cas de la
COVID-19. Ce n’est pas parfait. A certains moments, les
provinces et les territoires sont en désaccord entre eux et ne sont
pas du méme avis que le gouvernement fédéral. Dans
I’ensemble, je dirais que dans le cadre de mon travail sur la
scéne politique ces cinq derniéres années — et j’ai conscience
d’étre encore une novice par rapport a certains —, il s’agit de
I’une des expériences les plus axées sur la collaboration que j’aie
connues, ¢tant donné la grande diversité des allégeances
politiques en cause. L’un des avantages du Canada, ou de
I’approche canadienne, c’est que contrairement a nos trés chers
voisins du Sud, nous n’avons pas connu le méme genre de
tensions politiques, pour ainsi dire, concernant certains des
aspects les plus fondamentaux de la gestion de la pandémie de
COVID-19. J’en suis trés reconnaissante. Je pense que cela a
contribué a certains de nos succeés, méme s’il faut reconnaitre
que nous avons aussi eu nos défis.

Nous continuerons de travailler avec les provinces et les
territoires par 1’intermédiaire du Comité consultatif spécial et de
la table ronde FPT dont j’assure actuellement la coprésidence
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good relationships bilaterally with all the ministers of health.
There is an opportunity through those relationships, and we have
used those relationships when there are hot spots or outbreaks of
concern. Being able to directly communicate with the minister
responsible and to pull in my colleagues as necessary, depending
on the sector involved, has been incredibly helpful as well.

Senator Forest-Niesing: Thank you. I certainly understand
that the extent of the pressure is limited and that the jurisdiction
does rest with the provinces, but I would encourage you, given
the very strong testimony that we received from the professionals
in regard to the very sad effects of that, to be as clear as possible
in your communications with the provinces in that regard. Thank
you.

[Translation]

I don’t know whether I can ask my question in French. Are we
still having issues with interpretation?

The Chair: We are having some issues, Senator Forest-
Niesing, and we don’t have much time left. I suggest that you put
your name on the list for the second round. We are trying to
resolve the double language issues in the room. Are you okay
with that?

Senator Forest-Niesing: That’s unfortunate, but [ understand.

The Chair: Thank you very much. I do appreciate it.
[English]
Senator Dasko: Thank you to the witnesses.

These are all very important topics. I want to drill down a little
bit more on the topics related to data and also to the contact
tracing apps. These are questions begun by Senator Seidman.

First of all, we’ve had many witnesses come and talk to us
about the data issues and especially the need for three aspects of
data collection: data to be timely, to be consistent and to be
fulsome. Sometimes those goals are at odds with each other, but
those would be the goals of data collection. I want ask the
minister or Dr. Tam whether improvements have been made in
any of these aspects of data collection. Where have the
improvements been made? What is still missing in terms of
important data that would fulfill those goals? How do we achieve
it? For example, Senator Munson talked about collecting data on
people with disabilities. Are we looking for more survey data?
Or are we looking for better so-called admin data, that is,
administrative data, most of which comes from the provinces?
I’m asking what would be the areas of improvement.

avec la province de 1’Ontario. En outre, j’entretiens de bonnes
relations bilatérales avec tous les ministres de la Santé, relations
qui offrent des possibilités que nous avons mises a profit
lorsqu’il y avait des zones chaudes ou des foyers d’éclosion
préoccupants. Il a aussi été extrémement utile de pouvoir
communiquer directement avec le ministre responsable et de
faire appel a mes collégues au besoin, selon le secteur concerné.

La sénatrice Forest-Niesing : Merci. Je comprends
évidemment que la pression est limitée et que cela releve de la
compétence des provinces, mais étant donné les témoignages tres
percutants que nous avons entendus des professionnels au sujet
de ces trés tristes répercussions, je vous encourage a €tre aussi
clairs que possible dans vos communications avec les provinces
a cet égard. Je vous remercie.

[Frangais]

Je ne sais pas si c’est possible de poser ma question en
francais.  Avons-nous toujours des problémes avec
I’interprétation?

La présidente : Nous avons quelques défis, sénatrice Forest-
Niesing, et nous n’avons plus beaucoup de temps. Je vous
suggere de vous inscrire au deuxieme tour. Nous tentons de
régler les problémes de double langue dans la salle. Est-ce que
cela vous va?

La sénatrice Forest-Niesing : C’est malheureux, mais je
comprends.

La présidente : Merci beaucoup, c’est tres apprécié.
[Traduction]
La sénatrice Dasko : Je remercie les témoins.

Ce sont tous des sujets trés importants. J’aimerais approfondir
un peu plus les questions liées aux données et aux applications
de recherche des contacts, pour poursuivre dans la méme veine
que les questions de la sénatrice Seidman.

Premierement, de nombreux témoins ont parlé des problémes
liés aux données et se sont plus particulierement attardés aux
trois caractéristiques nécessaires a la collecte de données, soit
des données a jour, uniformes et completes. Elles sont parfois
contradictoires, mais c’est ce qu’on vise lors de la collecte de
données. Ma question est pour la ministre ou la Dre Tam. Y a-t-il
eu des améliorations concernant 1’un ou 1’autre de ces aspects de
la collecte de données? Si oui, lequel? Quelles données
importantes nous manque-t-il toujours pour atteindre ces
objectifs? Comment peut-on y parvenir? Par exemple, le sénateur
Munson a parlé de la collecte de données sur les personnes
handicapées. Cherchons-nous a obtenir plus de données
d’enquéte, cherchons-nous de meilleures données
administratives qui, la plupart du temps, viennent des provinces?
J’aimerais savoir quels seraient les aspects a améliorer.
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Second, on the contact tracing, I would like to ask Dr. Tam or
her colleague how much uptake we require for this to be
successful. Second, how much uptake do you expect from
Canadians after this is introduced? I know the Prime Minister
certainly mentioned this a couple of weeks ago. How much is
required of uptake, and what is your expectation of uptake from
the Canadian public in terms of this app?

Let’s go back to the first one about data collection. Thank you.

Dr. Tam: For us to monitor the evolution and trajectory of
this outbreak, we do need very timely information. I'm very
happy to say that there’s a lot of collaboration. Local public
health was extremely busy. At the beginning, the timeliness and
the completeness wasn’t as good as it is now. I’m happy to say
that we have bored down to a core minimum data set that we
believe was really important to track the trajectory of the
epidemiology. We now have essentially 99 to 100% of data
being reported with the basic data sets, with the demographics, a
little bit less on when someone became ill or was tested to plot
these epidemiologic curves.

There are some areas that are not well filled in, however. That
does include whether someone has self-identified as First
Nations, Inuit or Métis. Because this outbreak data set is aimed
for timeliness, it doesn’t actually currently have race or ethnicity
data. This is an area that we’re working very hard on.

We’ve tried to get at some of these underlying disaggregated
data, if you like. We did look at the actual published literature, a
scientific literature review. We’re working very hard with the
provinces right now in the short term to get more race and
ethnicity and other data. You may have seen that there are some
jurisdictions at the local level, including Toronto, that are now
collecting this data, which we hope to obtain. We are also
engaging with various partners to undertake specialized surveys
and enhanced surveillance activities among the key populations
of interest, some of which are the racialized communities.

We are partnering with CIHR, the Canadian Institutes of
Health Research, as well, to coordinate efforts to facilitate actual
research activities, because a lot of this cannot be obtained
through surveillance or surveys. We need a multi-pronged
approach. We are also working with Statistics Canada. My
understanding is that, through our partnership with Statistics
Canada, they will be releasing a new ethnocultural data

Deuxiémement, en ce qui concerne la recherche des contacts,
j’aimerais demander a la Dre Tam ou a son collégue quel est le
degré d’adoption nécessaire pour que cela connaisse du succes.
Ensuite, a quel taux d’adoption chez les Canadiens vous
attendez-vous apres la mise en ceuvre de ce systeme? Je sais que
le premier ministre 1’a mentionné il y a quelques semaines. Quel
est le degré d’utilisation requis et quelles sont vos attentes a

I’égard du public canadien quant a [I’utilisation de cette
application?

Revenons a la premiére question concernant la collecte de
données. Merci.

Dre Tam : Il nous faut des informations trés actuelles pour
suivre 1’évolution et la trajectoire de cette éclosion. Je suis ravie
de souligner qu’il y a une excellente collaboration. Les autorités
de santé publique locales ont été extrémement occupées. Au
début, les données n’étaient pas aussi a jour et complétes
qu’elles le sont aujourd’hui. Je suis heureuse de dire que nous
avons convenu d’un ensemble minimal de données essentielles
qui, selon nous, était vraiment important pour suivre la
trajectoire épidémiologique. Essentiellement, 99 & 100 % des
données que nous recevons maintenant pour tracer ces courbes
épidémiologiques comprennent les ensembles de données de
base, avec les données démographiques, mais moins de données
sur le moment ou les personnes sont tombées malades ou ont été
testées.

Toutefois, certains aspects ne sont pas bien couverts, comme
les données permettant de savoir si les gens se sont déclarés
comme membres des Premiéres Nations, des Inuits ou des Métis.
Nous cherchons a avoir des données épidémiologiques
actualisées, mais nous n’avons pas actuellement de données sur
la race ou I’appartenance ethnique. Nous y travaillons trés fort.

Nous avons essayé d’obtenir certaines de ces données
désagrégées sous-jacentes. Nous avons examiné la littérature
publiée; c’était une revue de la littérature scientifique. Nous
travaillons actuellement trés fort avec les provinces, a court
terme, pour obtenir plus de données sur la race et ’appartenance
ethnique, entre autres. Vous avez peut-étre constaté que certaines
administrations municipales, dont la Ville de Toronto, collectent
maintenant ce type de données, et nous espérons les obtenir.
Nous travaillons aussi avec divers partenaires pour mener des
enquétes spécialisées et des activités de surveillance améliorées
aupres des principales populations d’intérét, dont certaines sont
des communautés racialisées.

Nous travaillons aussi en partenariat avec les IRSC, les
Instituts de recherche en santé du Canada, pour coordonner les
efforts afin de faciliter les activités de recherche, car beaucoup
de ces données ne peuvent étre obtenues par la surveillance ou
les enquétes. Il nous faut une approche concertée. Nous
travaillons aussi avec Statistique Canada et je crois savoir que
dans le cadre de ce partenariat, Statistique Canada publiera
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dashboard shortly. We need to tackle data on all fronts, but the
key basic data we’re now getting in a very timely manner.

Senator Dasko: Excuse me. Are we getting that from the
provinces? Because a lot of that data, I understand, does come
from the provinces. This is admin data with respect to intake and
other measures. Have the provinces actually improved what
they’re giving you to analyze?

Dr. Tam: On the public health data, yes. It comes from local
to provincial and then to the federal government. We link with
Statistics Canada to make that data available also for researchers.
It is published on our website so you can see all of that.

The administrative data, like hospitalization, often, of course,
comes from the provinces and territories. They give us basic
information about whether someone was hospitalized or in the
ICU. However, more comprehensive administrative data then
goes through, for example, CIHI, the Canadian Institute for
Health Information, and they’re also very much part of our
collective data approach.

Senator Dasko: Thank you.

On the question about contact tracing, what are the
expectations for take up? What is required and what are the
expectations for take up, and also when? Thanks.

Dr. Lucas: On the “when” question, the intent is to launch in
Ontario in the coming week and then work with individual
provinces and territories to launch it in those jurisdictions, given
the importance of plugging in with their health system to enable
the case information to be provided.

The uptake and utility are maximized when it’s about 50 to
60% of the population. Certainly, in terms of achieving that, it
will take a significant effort in communications awareness. It is
going to be a voluntary consent-based approach, but I think it
will require significant marketing and support across the country
to reach those levels. And against the backdrop, as has been
communicated with other public health measures, is the
importance of working together to protect Canadians.

Senator Dasko: Do you have any sense of what the uptake
will be?

Dr. Lucas: I think the objective will be to use all those
methods I noted to maximize uptake but, in terms of a specific
prediction, it’s hard to say. The objective is to work to convince

bient6t un nouveau tableau de bord de données ethnoculturelles.
Nous devons chercher a obtenir des données sur tous les fronts,
mais nous recevons maintenant les données de base clés en
temps opportun.

La sénatrice Dasko : Excusez-moi. Est-ce que nous recevons
ces données des provinces? Je crois comprendre que ces données
viennent en grande partie des provinces. Ce sont des données
administratives concernant 1’adoption et d’autres mesures. Les
provinces vous donnent-elles vraiment de meilleures données a
analyser?

Dre Tam : Pour les données de santé publique, oui. Elles sont
transmises des autorités locales aux autorités provinciales, puis
au gouvernement fédéral. Nous communiquons avec Statistique
Canada pour que les chercheurs aient aussi acces a ces données.
Elles sont publiées sur notre site web pour que vous puissiez les
consulter.

Les données administratives, comme les données sur les
hospitalisations, proviennent souvent des provinces et des
territoires, évidemment. On nous fournit les données de base sur
les hospitalisations et les cas aux soins intensifs. Toutefois, les
données administratives plus complétes sont ensuite
communiquées a I’ICIS, I’Institut canadien d’information sur la
santé, par exemple, qui fait aussi partie de notre approche
collective a 1’égard des données.

La sénatrice Dasko : Merci.

Concernant la recherche des contacts, quelles sont les attentes
concernant la participation? Quel est le taux requis? Quelles sont
les attentes par rapport a la recherche de contacts? Quel est le
calendrier? Merci.

M. Lucas : Concernant le calendrier, 1’objectif est de lancer
I’application en Ontario dans la prochaine semaine, puis de le
faire dans les autres provinces et territoires en collaboration avec
les autorités, puisqu’il est important d’étre connecté a leur réseau
de santé pour la transmission des données sur les cas.

On atteint 1’utilit¢ maximale avec un taux d’adoption de 50 a
60 % dans la population. Il va sans dire que cela nécessitera un
important effort de sensibilisation. Nous misons sur le
consentement volontaire, mais je pense qu’une importante
campagne de publicité et de sensibilisation sera nécessaire
partout au pays pour atteindre ces taux. Cela se fera dans le
contexte important de protection de la population canadienne,
comme pour les autres mesures de santé publique.

La sénatrice Dasko : Avez-vous une idée
d’adoption possible?

du degré

M. Lucas : Je pense que I’objectif sera d’utiliser toutes les
méthodes que j’ai mentionnées pour maximiser 1’utilisation,
mais quant a une prédiction précise, c’est difficile a dire.
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Canadians that it’s an important tool, amongst others, to help
rapidly arrest the spread when detected through testing.

Senator Dasko: So your goal would be 50%, then? Can I read
that into what you’ve just said?

Dr. Lucas: Yes.
Senator Dasko: Thank you, everyone.

Senator Kutcher: Thank you very much, minister and
witnesses, for being here today, and also to you and everyone in
your departments for the hard work and the effective work that
you’ve done to limit the community spread during this
pandemic. Thanks for that.

My question probably is best directed to Dr. Lucas and
Dr. Strong, though anyone, please, take a stab at it. At the onset
of the pandemic, there was and continues to be a tremendous
amount of health misinformation and disinformation that was
widely and rapidly spread. Also, the response of Canadians in
accepting the disinformation has identified a need to
significantly improve health literacy in this country. What
strategies will be developed going forward to allow for rapid and
effective means of addressing false health information, and what
will you be doing going forward to improve the health literacy of
Canadians?

Ms. Hajdu: Thank you very much, senator, and thanks for
your ongoing correspondence with me about mental health and
language. I hope that you saw, as you gave me tips and ideas, me
reflect that in my conversation with Canadians. It has been very
helpful to have that.

I will say that the disinformation to Canadians, not just about
health but about everything else, is an ongoing conversation
amongst us as politicians, but certainly amongst other officials
throughout the Government of Canada. Very early on, we knew
that we had to come out of the gates in a strong way to try to
provide credible alternatives. The department and the Public
Health Agency of Canada standing up the COVID-19 website
was a very good thing right away, even though it grew and it has
evolved as we’ve had more information and more to share with
Canadians.

Being able to direct people to Canada.ca/COVID-19 on a
regular basis complemented the other official websites and
digital sources of information for Canadians and, as our capacity
grew, and as our understanding of the illness and the preventive
mechanisms grew, we were able to communicate through a
variety of different channels, including social media and print,
all kinds of ethnic media. We knew immediately that we were
also going to have to provide information in other languages. We

L’objectif est de travailler & convaincre les Canadiens qu’il s’agit
d’un outil important parmi d’autres pour contribuer a freiner
rapidement la propagation lorsqu’un test est positif.

La sénatrice Dasko : Je peux donc déduire de vos propos que
vous visez un taux de 50 %.

M. Lucas : Oui.
La sénatrice Dasko : Merci a tous.

Le sénateur Kutcher : Madame la ministre, chers témoins, je
vous remercie d’étre ici aujourd’hui. Je vous remercie aussi —
ainsi que tout votre personnel de vos organismes respectifs — du
travail acharné et efficace que vous avez accompli afin de limiter
la propagation de la maladie dans la population pendant cette
pandémie. Je vous remercie.

Ma question s’adresse probablement plus & M. Lucas et au
Dr Strong, mais n’importe qui peut y répondre. Au début de la
pandémie, il circulait rapidement et a grande échelle une quantité
incroyable de mauvais renseignements et de désinformation sur
les questions de santé, et cela se poursuit. De plus, la réaction
des Canadiens qui ont adhéré a cette désinformation a mis en
évidence la nécessité d’améliorer considérablement la littératie
en maticre de santé au pays. Quelles stratégies compte-t-on
¢laborer a 1’avenir pour mettre en place des moyens rapides et
efficaces de lutter contre les fausses informations sur la santé?
Que ferez-vous pour améliorer la littératie des Canadiens en
matiére de santé?

Mme Hajdu : Merci beaucoup, sénateur. Je vous remercie
aussi de communiquer continuellement avec moi pour traiter des
questions de santé mentale et de langue. J’espére que vous avez
constaté que vos conseils et vos idées se reflétent dans mes
discussions avec les Canadiens. Cela m’a été tres utile.

Je dirais que la désinformation dirigée contre les Canadiens,
qui ne se limite pas a la santé, mais qui touche tout le reste, fait
I’objet de discussions constantes parmi les politiciens, mais sans
doute parmi les autres responsables au gouvernement du Canada.
Nous avons su trés tot que nous devions réagir rapidement et
avec force pour fournir des renseignements crédibles. La création
du site web sur la COVID-19 par le ministere et I’Agence de la
santé publique du Canada dés le début de la pandémie a été une
trés bonne chose. Le site web a pris de I’ampleur et a évolué a
mesure que nous accumulions des connaissances et que nous
avions plus de renseignements a communiquer aux Canadiens.

Avoir pu réguliérement diriger les gens vers le site Canada.ca/
COVID-19 a donné aux Canadiens un complément d’information
par rapport aux autres sites officiels et sources numériques
d’information et, a mesure que nos ressources augmentaient et
que notre compréhension de la maladie et de ses mécanismes de
prévention se confirmaient, nous avons pu communiquer par
toutes sortes de canaux différents, y compris par les médias
sociaux, la presse écrite, et des médias ethniques divers et variés.
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used a variety of different methods, including, as I said, reaching
into smaller media outlets that sometimes have a concrete group
of people they communicate with, but also in our case using
members of Parliament who speak different languages to get out
there in front of their local media to augment the official
communication channels we were using. Again, they are
reminding Canadians that the trusted sources of communication
were their local public health units and/or provincial and federal
government’s official web pages. There’s always more to do.

We are in the age of disinformation. However, I do believe
and the data shows that Canadians trust their officials and their
government a lot more in this country than in other countries,
and that has been an asset for us to remind Canadians that there
is a trusted source of information to correct misinformation when
it arises, to ensure that people have the most up-to-date
information about the virus as it evolves and to use different
methods to communicate with different groups.

We have more to do, for sure, in the area of risk
communications. It’s something I see as an opportunity to boost
both within the Public Health Agency of Canada and with Health
Canada. I look forward to that work. In the interim, we are
fortunate in this country that we have an ability to somehow
rectify some of that misinformation.

Thank you, senator.

Dr. Lucas: To build on what Minister Hajdu said, having that
trusted source and accessible information in multiple languages,
as Minister Hajdu noted, is critical. We’ve had over 202 million
visits to the website, as a single area of focal point for that
trusted information, including through the Canada COVID app
as a mobile platform that Canadians can access.

Certainly correcting disinformation is another part of the
strategy, and engaging media on responsible journalism.
Through that, both policy and behavioural and social science
work looks to underpin this, and we’ve worked with the Public
Policy Forum on this issue of science and health literacy in an
era of misinformation and disinformation as a critical area of
focus and have worked on direct engagement campaigns with
different population groups and segments, including children and
youth in areas such as cannabis, vaping and opioids, other public
health issues, but critically important in supporting that health
literacy and understanding work, similarly with Canada’s Food
Guide on nutrition. It’s a multiple-tool strategy that’s very much
a focal point now in the context of COVID.

Nous avons immédiatement compris qu’il nous fallait aussi
fournir ces informations dans d’autres langues. Nous avons
utilisé toutes sortes de méthodes et, comme je I’ai dit, nous
avons communiqué avec des organes de presse plus petits qui
informent souvent tout un groupe de gens, et, dans notre cas,
nous avons également demandé a certains députés qui parlent
d’autres langues d’aller voir les médias locaux pour élargir nos
canaux de communication officiels. Encore une fois, ils
rappelaient aux Canadiens que les unités locales de santé
publique ou les pages web officielles des gouvernements fédéral
ou provinciaux étaient les sources de communication dignes de
confiance. On peut toujours en faire plus.

Nous sommes dans 1’ére de la désinformation. Cependant, je
crois, et les données le prouvent, que les Canadiens, plus que
dans les autres pays, font beaucoup plus confiance aux
fonctionnaires et au gouvernement de leur pays, et cela a été un
atout quand il s’est agi de rappeler aux Canadiens qu’il existe
une source d’informations fiable qui corrige au fur et a mesure
les informations erronées, pour s’assurer que les Canadiens
recoivent les informations les plus a jour sur le virus et sur son
évolution et pour utiliser des méthodes de communication
différentes avec des groupes différents.

Bien slr, nous pouvons en faire davantage en termes de
communication des risques. C’est quelque chose qu’il faut, selon
moi, stimuler au sein de 1’Agence de santé publique du Canada
et au sein de Santé Canada. J’ai hate de faire ce travail.
Entretemps, nous avons de la chance dans ce pays d’avoir la
capacité de rectifier quelque peu ces informations erronées.

Merci, sénateur.

M. Lucas : Pour faire suite a ce que disait la ministre Hajdu,
avoir cette source fiable d’informations accessible dans
différentes langues est fondamental. Nous avons compté plus de
202 millions de visites sur le site web, en tant que point de
contact unique pour ces informations de confiance, y compris par
I’application COVID Canada, la plateforme mobile a laquelle les
Canadiens ont acces.

Il est slr que rectifier la désinformation fait partic de cette
stratégie, tout comme discuter de journalisme responsable avec
les médias. Ainsi, le travail sur les politiques et le travail sur les
sciences comportementales et sociales essaient de trouver ce qui
sous-tend ce phénoméne. Nous avons travaillé avec le Forum des
politiques publiques sur cette question de culture scientifique et
sanitaire en tant que secteur d’intérét essentiel de notre époque
d’informations erronées et de désinformation. Nous avons
également travaillé sur des campagnes de consultation avec
différents groupes et segments de la population, y compris des
enfants et des jeunes dans des secteurs comme le cannabis, le
vapotage et les opioides, et d’autres problémes de santé
publique, mais qui sont aussi fondamentaux pour soutenir ce
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Senator Kutcher: Thank you for that. I do very much
appreciate what you have done. It has been first-rate in terms of
that receptivity response.

If I could drill down on a couple of things: My understanding
of the available research is that two of the things that are most
effective when misinformation occurs are rapid and targeted
specific response coming from reputable health leaders, such as
national physician organizations, national nursing organizations,
which are directed to those specific pieces of misinformation,
and the other thing is that Canada also has a very robust and
vibrant science communicator community, excellent academic
locations at Lakehead University and Ryerson University. Are
there plans, or have you utilized these kinds of specific strategic
actions from rapid responses from reputable health leaders and
this robust science communicator community to get your
message out?

Ms. Hajdu: Thank you very much, senator.

I would say that one of the most trusted communicators that
Canadians see is Dr. Tam, quite frankly. She has been, along
with medical officers of health across the provinces, a leader
with regards to communicating to Canadians. In particular,
Dr. Henry in B.C. is widely admired and has done a lot to correct
misinformation.

We have been available to the media every single day, with
the exception of a few days or weekends here and there, to be
able to answer questions from the media, to be able to correct the
record on false information and to make sure people understood
how to find credible information. I know that both PHAC and
Health Canada use a variety of different experts on a regular
basis.

This has been one of the other silver linings of the COVID
outbreak — that there is an integration of the academic
community in terms of supporting Canada’s response like I’ve
never seen before. Many times, these structures are formal and
they can be difficult to set up. In our case, we’ve had outreach
from a variety of experts across fields to help our response, and
we’ve gladly accepted their advice and feedback. Hopefully you
can see that in our responses, as I mentioned in my opening
remarks to you.

I have found that particularly helpful as the Minister of Health.
I do have a background in public health and risk
communications, so I’'m fortunate in that way. I’ve also been
very well supported by a variety of different academics, both

travail de culture et de compréhension sanitaires, tout comme le
Guide alimentaire canadien 1’a été pour la nutrition. C’est une
stratégie avec plusieurs outils qui est désormais le véritable point
de convergence dans le contexte de la COVID.

Le sénateur Kutcher : Merci pour cela, japprécie
énormément ce que vous avez fait. Ce travail a été de premier
ordre en ce qui concerne la réceptivité.

Je pourrais approfondir deux points. Ce que je comprends de
la recherche publiée c’est que, confrontées a des informations
erronées, deux mesures sont particuliérement efficaces. D’une
part, une réponse rapide, précise et ciblée émanant de leaders
réputés dans le domaine de la santé, comme des organisations
nationales de médecins ou des organisations nationales
d’infirmiéres, qui démentent précisément ces informations
erronées. D’autre part, le Canada dispose d’une communauté
solide et dynamique de communicateurs scientifiques dans
d’excellentes universités telles que 1’Université Lakehead et
I’Université Ryerson. Avez-vous I’intention d’utiliser ou avez-
vous déja utilisé ce type de mesures stratégiques ciblées, soit les
réponses rapides émanant de leaders réputés dans le domaine de
la santé et l’utilisation de cette communauté robuste et
dynamique de communicateurs pour faire passer votre message?

Mme Hajdu : Merci beaucoup, sénateur.

Je dirais trés franchement que I'un des communicateurs les
plus fiables que voient les Canadiens est la Dre Tam. Elle a été,
avec les médecins-hygiénistes des différentes provinces, une
leader pour ce qui est de la communication aux Canadiens. Le
Dr Henry, en Colombie-Britannique, est trés admiré et a
beaucoup fait pour corriger les informations erronées.

Nous avons été disponibles tous les jours pour les médias, a
I’exception de quelques jours ou fins de semaine de-ci de-la,
pour étre préts a corriger les informations erronées et pour nous
assurer que les gens comprenaient comment trouver des
informations dignes de foi. Je sais que I’ASPC et Santé Canada
ont fait régulierement appel a tout un éventail d’experts.

L’autre motif de réconfort dans I’éclosion de la COVID, c’est
que la communauté universitaire a fait cohésion pour appuyer la
réponse du Canada, cohésion que je n’avais jamais vue
auparavant. Ces structures sont souvent formelles et difficiles a
mettre en place. En ce qui nous concerne, plusieurs experts de
différents secteurs nous ont approchés pour nous aider dans notre
réponse, et nous nous sommes empressés d’accepter leurs avis et
leurs observations. J’espére que vous pouvez constater ce fait
dans nos réponses, comme je 1’ai mentionné dans mes remarques
liminaires.

En tant que ministre de la Santé, j’ai trouvé cela
particuliérement utile. J’ai été formée en santé publique et
communication des risques, j’ai donc une certaine chance de ce
coté-1a. Jai été également trés bien secondée par plusieurs
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formally and informally, who have reached out to me to help
clarify things and to give me suggestions about how to manage
certain situations, and I gratefully accepted that advice.

[Translation]

Senator Mégie: I thank all of our witnesses. My question is
for Minister Hajdu. I will combine two questions in one. We
know that more than 80% of deaths related to COVID-19
happened in senior residences. The committee heard from a
witness, Dr. Réjean Hébert, who proposed and suggested that the
government invest more money into home care. He was working
very hard on the issue of home care in Quebec, but the elections
came and it all fell through. What do you think about investing
more into home care for that senior clientele?

[English]
Ms. Hajdu: Thank you very much, senator, for the question.

I think there is no question in any Canadian’s mind that there
needs to be some reform of long-term care. More money, of
course, is always a solution, but I think it’s a complex
conversation. Obviously, until now, the jurisdiction for long-
term care has been firmly with the provinces and territories. The
federal government has actually had no engagement in terms of
long-term care. We don’t have national standards and there are
no transfers to provinces and territories for long-term care. It’s
been very difficult at this point to have an intersection of what to
do next. You’ve heard the Prime Minister say that we’re willing
to support the provinces and territories to, first of all, get through
this critical phase and protect people from future loss of life and
all of the other atrocities we saw through the surge, but I also
think that there are some structural changes that need to happen.

There’s a real intersection as well, as you know, with the value
of care work in itself. It’s something I’ve spoken about in both of
my previous roles as the Minister of the Status of Women and as
the Minister of Employment Work Force Development. The
people who are providing the care in these homes — other than
the health care professionals who are nurses and doctors — the
personal support workers or attendants, are often people from
racialized communities, are often women and are often paid in a
way that doesn’t actually acknowledge the level of work that
they’re performing on behalf of all of us. There is a much
stronger conversation to be had about how we value the work of
women. No offence to all the gentlemen in that line of work, and
I’ve said this before, but I don’t understand why we value taking
care of our vehicles in a greater way than we value taking care of
our people. I get in trouble all the time when I say that. I always
get angry emails from people that tell me how complex the work

universitaires, de facons officielle et informelle, qui m’ont
approchée pour m’aider a éclaircir certains points et pour me
proposer des suggestions sur la facon de gérer certaines
situations, et j’ai accepté leur avis avec gratitude.

[Frangais]

La sénatrice Mégie : Merci & nos témoins. Ma question
s’adresse a la ministre Hajdu. Je vais combiner deux questions en
une. On sait que plus de 80 % des déces liés a la COVID-19 se
sont produits dans des résidences de personnes agées. Le comité
a regu un témoin, le Dr Réjean Hébert, qui nous a proposé et
suggéré que le gouvernement investisse davantage dans les soins
a domicile. Il a travaillé trés fort sur la question des soins a
domicile au Québec, mais les €lections sont arrivées et tout est
tombé a I’eau. Qu’est-ce que vous pensez du fait d’investir
davantage dans les soins a domicile pour cette clientele formée
par les personnes agées?

[Traduction]
Mme Hajdu : Merci beaucoup, sénatrice, de votre question.

11 est clair dans I’esprit des Canadiens que des réformes dans
le secteur des soins de longue durée sont nécessaires. Bien sir, y
injecter plus d’argent est toujours une solution, mais je crois que
le débat est plus complexe. Jusqu’a présent, manifestement la
compétence des soins de longue durée est fermement détenue par
les provinces et territoires. Le gouvernement fédéral n’a eu en
réalité aucune obligation en ce qui concerne les soins de longue
durée. Nous n’avons pas de normes nationales et aucun transfert
n’est effectué aux provinces et territoires pour les soins de
longue durée. 11 a été trés difficile a ce stade de s’entendre sur la
suite. Vous avez entendu le premier ministre dire que nous étions
préts a appuyer les provinces et territoires pour, tout d’abord,
traverser cette phase critique et protéger les gens pour éviter
d’autres pertes de vie et d’autres atrocités constatées pendant la
vague montante, mais aussi je pense qu’il faut effectuer des
changements structurels.

Nous avons constaté une véritable entente, comme vous le
savez, sur la valeur en tant que telle du travail de soignant. J’en
ai déja parlé dans mes deux fonctions antérieures, comme
ministre de la Condition féminine et ministre de I’Emploi et du
Développement de la main-d’ceuvre. Les gens qui prodiguent les
soins dans ces foyers, outre les professionnels de la santé que
sont les médecins et les infirmiers, soit les préposés aux services
de soutien a la personne ou les assistants, sont souvent des gens
issus de communautés racialisées, sont souvent des femmes et
sont souvent payés de facon telle que la charge de travail qu’ils
effectuent en notre nom a tous n’est pas véritablement reconnue.
Il faut parler plus sérieusement de la valeur que donnons au
travail des femmes. Sans vouloir offenser les messieurs qui
travaillent dans ce domaine, et c’est quelque chose que j’ai déja
dit, je n’arrive pas a comprendre pourquoi nous valorisons ceux
qui entretiennent nos véhicules beaucoup plus que ceux qui
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is to take care of vehicles, and I’'m not denying that, but I’'m also
saying it’s complex to take care of people.

There’s an opportunity to have a conversation with provinces
and territories and the federal government about how we can
strengthen standards in long-term care and how we shift our
value system to value the work of caregiving, whether it’s in the
sector of long-term care or child care. These are extremely
important roles that we need to actually value. The valuing of
that work, as we saw in the outbreak, led to some of the
challenges. When people cannot cobble together enough to make
a living by working in one home for 40 hours and have to add
another 20 hours in another home just to pay rent, that’s
appalling.

Sorry, I’'m very passionate about this; I’ll add one last thing
and then stop. I was at the Ottawa Public Health unit thanking
them for their work a couple of weeks ago — physically
distanced, of course, and doing it appropriately — and they were
talking about one of the clusters in a homeless shelter that they
had solved. It started with two Filipina personal support workers
who were newcomers to the country and working in the long-
term care sector who had become sick and were living in a
homeless shelter. If that doesn’t break your heart, I don’t know
what does. These are people who are providing care to our loved
ones who can’t make enough, even with full-time work, to be
able to afford accommodation in a Canadian city.

I think we have a lot of work to do together, and I hope that
wasn’t too long.

[Translation]
The Chair: Thank you very much, minister.

Senator Mégie: Do I have time to put a question to Dr. Tam?
I would like to know, especially when it comes to long-term
care, whether it would be possible to take into account in your
plans all the difficulties associated with physical distancing? For
example, you know that rooms hold three or four residents. At a
dining table, there could be three or four residents and an
employee very close to them serving them food. Are there
standards or rather advice or a plan to try to avoid further
outbreaks in such situations?

[English]

Dr. Tam: We have to take into account constantly evolving
science, but also the experience of people who are trying to
manage the situations on the ground. We have provided

prennent soin de nos proches. On me fait tout le temps des
ennuis quand je dis cela. Je regois toujours des courriels de
personnes en colére qui me disent & quel point travailler sur nos
véhicules est un travail complexe, et je ne le nie pas, je dis aussi
que prendre soin de gens est également un travail complexe.

Nous avons la 1’occasion d’une discussion, entre les provinces
et territoires et le gouvernement fédéral, sur la fagon de renforcer
les normes des soins de longue durée et de modifier notre
systtme de valeurs pour valoriser davantage le travail de
soignant, que ce soit dans le secteur des soins de longue durée ou
de la garde d’enfants. Ce sont des roles extrémement importants
que nous devons réellement valoriser. La valorisation de ce
travail, nous 1’avons vue pendant la pandémie, a mené a
quelques défis. Quand les gens n’arrivent pas a se débrouiller
pour gagner leur vie en travaillant 40 heures dans un seul foyer
et qu’ils doivent faire 20 heures supplémentaires dans un autre
foyer juste pour payer le loyer, c’est effroyable.

Désolée, mais je prends ce sujet a cceur. J’ajouterais une
derniére chose. Il y a deux semaines, j’allais a I’unité de services
de santé publique d’Ottawa pour les remercier de leur travail, en
toute distanciation sociale et faisant cela de manicre appropriée
bien sir, et nous parlions d’un des foyers d’infection dans un
refuge pour sans-abri qu’ils avaient résorbé. L’infection avait
débuté avec deux préposés aux services de soutien a la personne
philippins qui étaient nouveaux au pays et qui travaillaient dans
le secteur des soins de longue durée. IIs étaient tombés malades
et vivaient dans un refuge pour sans-abri. Si cela ne vous fend
pas le cceur, je ne sais pas ce qu’il vous faut. Ce sont des gens
qui prodiguent des soins a nos proches, qui ne gagnent pas
suffisamment, méme en travaillant a temps plein, pour pouvoir
se loger dans une ville canadienne.

Je crois que nous avons beaucoup de travail a faire ensemble,
et j’espere que je n’ai pas été trop longue.

[Frangais]
La présidente : Merci beaucoup, madame la ministre.

La sénatrice Mégie : Ai-je du temps pour poser une question
a la Dre Tam? J’aimerais savoir, surtout pour ce qui est des soins
de longue durée, serait-il possible, dans vos plans, de tenir
compte de toutes les difficultés associées a la distanciation
physique? Par exemple, vous savez que les chambres comptent
trois ou quatre résidants. Autour d’une table de salle a manger, il
peut y avoir trois ou quatre résidants et un préposé tout pres
d’eux qui leur donne a manger. Y a-t-il des normes, ou plutot des
conseils ou un plan pour tenter d’éviter d’autres éclosions dans
de telles situations?

[Traduction]

Dre Tam : Nous devons prendre en compte le caractére
évolutif de la recherche, mais aussi ’expérience de ceux qui
gerent les situations sur le terrain. Nous avons fourni des lignes
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guidance — which is published — to assist long-term care
facilities, but we’re actually constantly looking for where else we
can help. Our guidance is related to infection prevention and
control, which does include what we call the hierarchy of
controls that involves the physical space, how you adapt those,
as well as other factors like engineering and flow. We do have
guidance, but of course, it’s one thing writing the guidance and
another to actually implement it. I think getting some feedback
on how that’s going in order to adapt the guidance would be
critical.

Senator Moodie: Thank you, Minister Hajdu, and everyone
here today to help shed some light on the COVID response. My
questions will focus on what we’ve heard has been a lack of
timely response and a failed supply chain around PPE.

Minister, there have been significant challenges in Canada’s
personal protective equipment supply chain. Front-line workers
have been placed in a position of having to risk their lives
because of lack of timely action. We have heard this from
multiple witnesses, but we also read in a Globe and Mail
article from June 25 that, for some, there was earlier notification
or realization. Some provinces, such as Alberta, responded as
early as December 2019 to start stockpiling their supplies. They
bought in excess, and they actually were able to share and
support other provinces later. We learned from wholesalers of
safety supplies that, as early as January, private citizens and
individual hospitals were lining up at their doors, only to find
that the provinces turned up in March when the supply was long
gone. We also learned from the CMA survey that was done in
April that 75% of physicians in non-hospital settings were very
anxious about a lack of PPE, they didn’t know how to access
PPE and they got no information on where their requests were at
when they did. So it turns out that January had been a crucial
window to stock up.

Minister, can you tell us why the intelligence was not relayed
to the rest of the country by the federal government in its role as
coordinator of a response? Where were government action,
communication and coordination? Why was there such a delay in
provinces beginning to procure PPE and the federal government
working with provinces to ensure this occurred? Three months
into this pandemic, do you have a clear understanding of what
went wrong here in our procurement of PPE? Also, the flip side
of that is to ensure that this has been rectified moving ahead so
that when we face the reopening of our economy and prepare for
the second wave, we actually are protecting our front-line
essential workers with a PPE supply chain that is dependable.

directrices, qui ont été publiées, pour aider les établissements de
soins de longue durée, mais nous cherchons constamment a
savoir en quoi nous pouvons é&tre utiles. Nos lignes directrices
concernent la prévention et la maitrise des infections, et
comprend ce que nous appelons la hiérarchie des mesures de
contrdle, parmi lesquels 1’espace physique, la fagon dont vous
adaptez ces facteurs, ainsi que d’autres facteurs, comme les
techniques et le flux. Nous avons des conseils, bien sir, mais
c’est une chose que de les écrire et une autre que de les mettre en
ceuvre. Je crois qu’il serait essentiel d’avoir des commentaires
sur ce qui s’est réellement passé pour pouvoir adapter les lignes
directrices.

La sénatrice Moodie : Merci, madame la ministre Hajdu, et
tous ceux qui sont la aujourd’hui pour faire un peu la lumiére sur
la réponse a la COVID. Mes questions vont porter sur ce qui a
été, nous I’avons entendu, le manque de réponse opportune et
I’échec de la chaine d’approvisionnement des équipements de
protection individuelle.

Madame la ministre, la chaine d’approvisionnement de
I’équipement de protection individuelle au Canada a posé de
sérieux problémes. Les travailleurs de premicre ligne se sont
retrouvés a risquer leur vie par manque de mesures opportunes.
Plusieurs témoins nous 1’ont dit, et nous 1’avons également lu
dans un article du Globe and Mail du 25 juin, a savoir que
certains le savaient ou ’avaient constaté bien avant. Certaines
provinces, comme 1’Alberta, ont réagi dés décembre 2019 et ont
commencé a stocker leurs fournitures. Ils ont acheté en surplus,
et ils ont été en mesure de partager et d’aider d’autres provinces
par la suite. Les grossistes en fournitures de sécurité nous ont
appris que, dés janvier, les particuliers et les hopitaux individuels
faisaient la queue a leurs portes, et que les provinces sont
arrivées en mars quand il n’y avait plus rien depuis longtemps.
Nous avons également appris, par le sondage de I’AMC effectué
en avril, que 75 % des médecins pratiquant hors les hopitaux
étaient trés inquiets du manque d’EPI et qu’ils ne recevaient
aucune réponse sur le statut de leurs commandes quand il le
demandaient. Ainsi, il semble que janvier ait été la période
cruciale pour faire des stocks.

Madame la ministre, pouvez-vous nous dire pourquoi le
gouvernement fédéral, en tant que coordinateur de la réponse,
n’a pas relayé les renseignements au reste du pays? Ou étaient
les mesures, la communication et la coordination du
gouvernement? Pourquoi cela a-t-il pris tant de temps avant que
les provinces commencent a obtenir des EPI et avant que le
gouvernement fédéral ne travaille avec les provinces pour
s’assurer de cet approvisionnement? Trois mois aprés le début de
la pandémie, comprenez-vous désormais ce qui précisément n’a
pas fonctionné dans I’approvisionnement en EPI? L’autre coté de
la médaille dans tout ¢a, c’est de s’assurer que tout a été rectifié
aprés coup de sorte que, quand 1’économie repartira et que nous
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I have a second question for Dr. Tam, if time allows. I would
like to be placed on the list for a second question, if possible.

Ms. Hajdu: Thank you very much, senator. I’ll answer in
some broad strokes, and then Dr. Tam can talk more about the
work of the special advisory committee as well.

There are a few premises in that question that are not quite
accurate. We obviously knew this was a public health concern.
Dr. Tam struck the special advisory committee very early in
January — she will correct me if I get that wrong, but it was very
early in January or earlier still when she convened the special
advisory committee — to talk about the growing threat of
COVID-19 to Canada in order to activate the response network
that has been very helpful. All of the public health officers
working together across the country — this is one of the lessons
that we learned from SARs, and I’'m grateful for their work.

In terms of your questions around the PPE, part of the
challenge has been that the federal government isn’t really in the
business of providing PPE for provinces and territories. In the
early days, in fact, we were trying to ascertain from the
provinces and territories what was contained in their stockpile,
what additional materials they would require for the particular
surge we were anticipating or preparing for, and how we could
best place a bulk procurement order. The challenge was that,
depending upon the jurisdiction, different jurisdictions had
different lines of sight in terms of what they held, what they
needed and what they would need as they started to use that.
That is commonly referred to as the burn rate.

We became aware early on that this was a challenge for the
provinces and territories, and decided to procure federally,
making some best estimates and assumptions about what we
would likely need as a nation. Very quickly, we drew in Health
Canada and Public Services and Procurement Canada to assist in
a mechanism and measures that would actually facilitate this
procurement.

We also knew, by the way, that there was a very tight supply.
Don’t forget that the crisis started in China, and incidentally, that
is where a lot of the equipment was created. This double
whammy of having a crisis in a country where, in many ways, it
is the largest provider of PPE for the world, created a really tight
supply chain that trickled and rippled through the world.

nous préparerons pour la deuxiéme vague, nous pourrons
réellement protéger les travailleurs essentiels de premiére ligne
grace a une chaine d’approvisionnement fiable en EPI.

J’ai une deuxiéme question pour la Dre Tam, si le temps me le
permet. Je voudrais étre sur la liste pour une deuxiéme question,
si possible.

Mme Hajdu : Merci beaucoup, sénatrice. Je vais répondre
dans les grandes lignes, puis la Dre Tam pourra parler du travail
du Comité consultatif spécial.

Certaines prémisses dans cette question ne sont pas tout a fait
exactes. Nous savions manifestement qu’il s’agissait d’un
probléme de santé publique. Dre Tam a créé¢ le Comité
consultatif spécial tout au début janvier, elle me corrigera si je
me trompe. Elle a convoqué ce comité tout au début du mois de
janvier, voire plus tot, afin de discuter de la menace grandissante
que représentait la COVID-19 au Canada et afin d’activer le
réseau de réponses qui a été trés utile. Tous les administrateurs
en chef de santé publique de tout le pays qui ont travaillé de
concert, c’est une des legons tirées du SRAS, et je suis
reconnaissante de leur travail.

Maintenant, pour vos questions a propos des EPI, une partie de
la difficulté réside dans le fait que ce n’est pas le mandat du
gouvernement fédéral que de fournir des EPI aux provinces et
territoires. Dé&s les premiers jours, nous nous sommes efforcés de
définir les stocks existants dans les provinces et territoires, leurs
besoins en autres matériels nécessaires en cas d’accélération de
la contagion, ce que nous anticipions ou ce pour quoi nous nous
préparions, et les meilleures fagons de commander en grandes
quantités. L’ennui était la différence, selon la province ou le
territoire, de leur connaissance des stocks, de leurs besoins
actuels et subséquents une fois qu’ils commenceraient a puiser
dans leur stock existant, ce qui s’appelle, en termes techniques,
le temps d’absorption.

Nous avons assez vite compris que cela représenterait un défi
pour les provinces et territoires et avons décidé d’effectuer
I’approvisionnement au niveau fédéral, en nous basant sur les
meilleures estimations et les meilleures hypothéses quant a nos
besoins probables en tant que nation. Trés rapidement, nous
avons invit¢é Sant¢é Canada et Services Publics et
Approvisionnement Canada a nous aider a mettre en place un
mécanisme et des mesures qui faciliteraient dans les faits ces
acquisitions.

Par ailleurs, nous étions conscients des débuts de pénurie.
N’oubliez pas que la crise a commencé en Chine et que c’est
justement la que sont fabriqués ces produits. Avoir une crise
dans le pays qui, de bien des facons, est le plus important
producteur d’EPI au monde, a ét¢ doublement responsable du
fort resserrement de la chaine d’approvisionnement qui s’est
propagé partout dans le monde.
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That is also why we decided very quickly to stand up a
domestic response. That domestic response, as you know, has
been federally driven and will provide us with the assurance that
we can actually manufacture not just PPE but some of the
elements of testing components, for example, that will allow us
to deal with the future outbreaks.

We have learned a lot over the last three months in terms of
the diversification that we need to have to address the PPE
challenges, which the world will continue to face, by the way, as
the numbers continue to rise.

I’ll turn to Dr. Tam to talk a little bit about the earlier
conversations of the special advisory committee. Thank you,
senator.

Dr. Tam: I alerted chief medical officers on January 2. We
heard about an unusual cluster of respiratory illness on what
would have been January 1, I think, and I had already initiated
contact with chief medical officers on January 2. We sent out a
public health alert through our systems on January 7.

I did not really hear what Minister Hajdu has indicated, but
looking forward, there is a massive piece of coordination within
the health care system, which the public health part links into.
Regarding the complexity of the PPE supply chains, et cetera, we
have learned a massive amount. As I said at the beginning to one
of the other questions, it took several federal government
departments, working with numerous provincial representatives,
to try and figure out the actual requirements and the rate of use.
Those elements are now planning forward in a world that is still
somewhat precarious in terms of ingredients, supply and trying
to build a domestic capacity.

There have been a lot of lessons learned all around. I don’t
think the system was alerted, but certainly the public health
system was. Regarding the health care piece, I can’t really
comment on it at this time, but we’re singularly focused right
now in trying to do everything we can to prepare for any
resurgence.

The Chair: Thank you very much. Senator Moodie, did you
want to try and be on the second round?

Senator Moodie: I would like to, yes.

Senator Omidvar: Thank you, witnesses, for being with us
and for all the work that you have done. I have a series of
questions for the minister. I’ll keep my questions short, and
hopefully we can get them all in.

C’est aussi pour cette raison que nous avons trés vite décidé de
mettre en place une réponse nationale. Cette réponse, comme
vous le savez, a été menée par le fédéral et nous donnera
I’assurance d’une vraie production nationale non seulement
d’EPI, mais encore de certains éléments des composantes des
tests, par exemple, qui nous permettront de composer avec les
éclosions subséquentes.

Au cours des trois derniers mois, nous avons beaucoup appris
sur la nécessité de se diversifier pour résoudre les problémes
d’EPI, que le monde devra continuer de résoudre puisque les
chiffres continuent d’augmenter.

Je vais donner la parole a la Dre Tam qui vous parlera des
premiéres conversations du Comité consultatif spécial. Merci,
sénatrice.

Dre Tam : J’ai alerté les médecins en chef le 2 janvier. Nous
avions entendu parler d’une grappe inhabituelle de maladies
respiratoires le 1T janvier, je crois, et j’ai tout de suite pris
contact avec les médecins en chef le 2 janvier. Nous avons
envoyé une alerte de santé publique par le biais de nos systémes
le 7 janvier.

Je n’ai pas bien entendu ce que la ministre Hajdu a dit, mais
aprés cela, il y a eu une coordination gigantesque au sein du
systéme des soins de santé auquel est liée la santé publique. En
ce qui concerne la complexité de la chaine d’approvisionnement
en EPI, et cetera, nous avons énormément appris. Comme je 1’ai
dit au début en répondant & une autre question, cela a pris
plusieurs ministéres du gouvernement fédéral, travaillant de
concert avec plusieurs représentants provinciaux, pour essayer de
déterminer les besoins réels et le taux d’utilisation. Ces éléments
sont désormais en planification pour I’avenir, dans un monde qui
est encore quelque peu précaire en matiére d’ingrédients,
d’approvisionnement et de construction d’une capacité nationale.

Beaucoup de legons ont été apprises et par tous. Je ne crois pas
que le systéme a été en état d’alerte, cependant c’est absolument
le cas du systeme de santé publique. En ce qui concerne les soins
de santé, je ne peux pas vraiment faire de commentaires a I’heure
actuelle, mais nous nous attachons désormais a faire tout notre
possible afin de nous préparer a toute résurgence de la maladie.

La présidente : Merci beaucoup, sénatrice Moodie, voulez-
vous essayer d’étre sur la liste pour la deuxiéme série de
questions?

La sénatrice Moodie : Oui, s’il vous plait.

La sénatrice Omidvar : Merci, mesdames et messieurs les
témoins, d’avoir comparu et pour tout le travail que vous avez
accompli. J’ai une série de questions pour la ministre. Mes
questions seront bréves, ainsi j’espere pouvoir les poser toutes.
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I’m going to focus on vulnerable populations for the first set
of questions, and I will focus specifically on senior citizens. We
and you know, minister, that the best place for senior citizens is
at home. All the science backs that up. Yet, we also know that
senior citizens have significant challenges accessing home care.
In 2017, your government committed $6 billion over 10 years to
provinces and territories to improve home care services. Do you
have a good sense of what happened with that money? How is it
being used? What are the results, and has that money actually
reached seniors on the ground?

Ms. Hajdu: Thank you very much, senator.

I’'ll turn to Dr. Lucas, who may be able to answer in more
granular detail, but I want to say that you’re absolutely right; I
share your perspective that the best place to age is at home. We
know there are people with complex health conditions who do
require a higher level of care. Ultimately, it’s everybody’s dream
to stay at home as long as possible and age in the comfort of
their own home. You’re right there. That is why our government
committed an additional $6 billion; it was to try and foster
increased access to home care across the country.

It is very difficult, I will say, as I’'m still a new Minister of
Health, but I'm not a new minister. Whenever these large
transfer amounts go to provinces and territories, it’s very
difficult to get a line of sight in terms of the granular details of
how it is used. There are generally commitments by provinces
and territories to measure outcomes, and so I’ll turn to Deputy
Lucas who may have a better sense of whether or not we had
reporting back from the 2017 commitment.

Dr. Lucas: Thanks. The funds under that commitment were
anchored on a common statement of principles on the shared
health priorities with provinces and agreed-on basket of areas to
focus investment, including in home care staffing and training,
and then individual bilateral agreements with provinces, which
have reporting requirements including through reporting done by
the Canadian Institute of Health Information. So we can certainly
follow up in terms of specific areas where actions have been
taken and the information from the CIHI that has been provided
to date.

Senator Omidvar: Thank you. I’'m hearing both of you say
that we don’t know yet, but you will get me the answer or you’ll
get us the answers. Is that correct?

Dr. Lucas: Yes.

Je vais me focaliser sur les personnes vulnérables pour ma
premiere série de questions et je vais viser tout particuliérement
les personnes agées. Nous savons et vous savez, madame la
ministre, que pour les personnes agées le meilleur endroit, c’est
chez elles. Toute la recherche scientifique le confirme. Pourtant,
nous savons aussi qu’il est particuliérement difficile pour les
personnes agées d’avoir acces a des soins a domicile. En 2017,
votre gouvernement s’est engagé a verser 6 millions de dollars
sur une période de 10 ans aux provinces et territoires pour
améliorer les services de soins a domicile. Savez-vous
exactement ce que cet argent est devenu? Savez-vous comment il
a été utilisé? Quels résultats cela a-t-il donnés, et cet argent a-t-il
concrétement aidé ces personnes?

Mme Hajdu : Merci beaucoup, sénatrice.

Je vais demander a M. Lucas de répondre de facon plus
détaillée, mais je voudrais dire que vous avez tout a fait raison,
je suis d’accord avec votre point de vue, le meilleur endroit pour
vieillir est chez soi. Nous savons qu’il y a des gens qui souffrent
de problémes de santé¢ complexes et qui ont besoin d’un niveau
de soins supérieur. En définitive, c’est le réve de tous de rester
chez soi le plus longtemps possible et de vieillir dans le confort
de sa propre maison. La vous avez raison. C’est pourquoi notre
gouvernement a engagé 6 millions de dollars supplémentaires,
afin de promouvoir davantage d’accés aux soins a domicile au
Canada.

C’est tres difficile, je dirais, parce que je suis une nouvelle
ministre de la Santé, mais j’ai déja été ministre. Lorsque ces
importants montants de transfert vont aux provinces et aux
territoires, il est trés difficile de prévoir dans les détails la fagon
dont ils seront utilisés. Généralement, les provinces et territoires
s’engagent a mesurer les résultats et par conséquent je vais
demander a monsieur Lucas qui sait sans doute mieux que moi si
nous avons recu ou non les rapports sur cet engagement de 2017.

M. Lucas : Merci. Les fonds engagés sont arrimés, d’une
part, a un énoncé de principes communs sur les priorités
partagées en santé avec les provinces et sur plusieurs domaines
dans lesquels il est convenu d’investir, et qui incluent la dotation
et la formation en matiére de soins a domicile, et d’autre part,
des accords bilatéraux individuels avec les provinces qui
comportent des exigences en matiere de rapports y compris par
le biais de I’Institut canadien d’information sur la santé ou ICIS.
Ainsi, nous pouvons certainement faire le suivi des domaines
précis ou des mesures ont été prises et des informations qui ont
été fournies a I’ICIS jusqu’a présent.

La sénatrice Omidvar : Merci. Vous me dites tous les deux
qu’on ne sait pas encore, mais vous m’enverrez ou vous nous
enverrez les réponses, n’est-ce pas?

M. Lucas : Oui.
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Senator Omidvar: I understand jurisdiction is messy,
especially in health. Minister, we heard from one of our
witnesses about a solution that is not predicated on negotiations
with the provinces, and that is the proposal to create a Canadian
home care allowance for senior citizens, a direct transfer of
money to people to pay for specifically home care. Can I get
your response to that proposal?

Ms. Hajdu: Thanks. I think it’s an intriguing idea. Obviously
there are challenges as well in an approach like that to make sure
that it would be of sufficient amount and that there would be
access to those kinds of home care in the jurisdiction which the
person lives. There are a number of challenges, but I am looking
forward to seeing the proposed idea.

Again, I think about the rural communities that struggle with
access. | represent a riding that is partly urban and partly rural,
and even with provincially provided home care, it can be a very
precarious patchwork for people that are living outside of major
centres. I go back to the challenge of home care workers
themselves and the precarious wages that they earn. I don’t
know, if many people on this call probably have lived this
experience, but having had an aging person in my life and
working through the home-care system in Ontario, there is
nothing more difficult for both the person receiving the care and
the family member to get a call that morning that the care worker
can’t come to the house to provide the care. Those kinds of
things are, as you know, often related to the unstable workforce
that is related to conditions of work.

Senator Omidvar: Minister, you’re speaking to a customer of
home care, as my aging mother lives with me, and I cannot
describe to you in enough detail how challenging that it is to
work with the provincial system, so I for one have opted out of
the provincial system and just simply do it privately, but that’s
not an option that is available to everyone.

Let me move to a question about another vulnerable
population, which is migrant workers. We have heard from
witness statements that one of the problems is that migrant
workers do not have enough access to PPE even when they are
infected. T understand that you said just a few minutes ago that
it’s not the federal government’s responsibility to distribute PPE
provincially, but I'm wondering if it’s not possible for you, for
the federal government, to provide every new migrant worker
who lands in Canada — and they will continue to land, because
picking season goes into November, possibly even December —
to provide each one of these migrant workers, who are so
essential for our food security, with PPE on arrival. Just as they
get their landing permit, their visa, they get their PPE.

La sénatrice Omidvar : Je comprends que la question des
compétences pose probléme, particuliérement en santé. Madame
la ministre, nous avons entendu 1’un de nos témoins parler d’une
solution qui ne serait pas fondée sur des négociations avec les
provinces. Il s’agirait de créer une allocation canadienne pour les
soins a domicile pour personnes agées, un transfert d’argent fait
directement aux personnes qui paient des soins particuliers a
domicile. Pouvez-vous me donner votre réponse a propos de
cette proposition?

Mme Hajdu : Merci. Cela me semble intrigant comme idée.
Evidemment, une approche comme celle-1a souléve aussi des
questions, par exemple, le montant serait-il suffisant ou ce type
de soins serait-il accessible dans la province ou le territoire de
résidence de cette personne. Il y a un certain nombre de
difficultés, mais j’ai hate de voir 1’idée que vous proposez.

Encore une fois, je pense aux collectivités rurales qui se
battent pour avoir cet acces. Je représente une circonscription qui
est en partie urbaine et en partie rurale, et méme avec des soins a
domicile fournis par la province, cela peut constituer un
assemblage trés précaire pour les gens qui vivent a 1’extérieur
des grands centres. Je veux revenir a la question des préposés
aux soins a domicile eux-mémes et a la précarité de leurs
salaires. Je ne sais pas si beaucoup d’entre vous ont vécu cette
expérience, mais ayant eu une personne agée dans ma vie dans le
cadre du systeme de soins a domicile de 1’Ontario, rien n’est plus
difficile pour la personne censée recevoir ces soins et pour le
membre de sa famille que de recevoir un appel le matin méme
leur disant que le préposé ne pourra pas venir prodiguer les
soins. Ces choses-1a, comme vous le savez, sont souvent le fait
de I'instabilité de la main-d’ceuvre elle-méme liée aux conditions
de travail.

La sénatrice Omidvar : Madame la ministre, vous parlez a
une cliente d’un service de soins a domicile, car ma mére agée
habite avec moi, et je ne peux pas vous décrire avec
suffisamment de détails a quel point il est difficile de travailler
avec le systeme provincial. J’ai donc renoncé au systéme
provincial et je fais seulement affaire avec le secteur privé, mais
ce n’est pas une option offerte a tout le monde.

Permettez-moi maintenant d’aborder une question qui
concerne une autre population vulnérable, c’est-a-dire les
travailleurs migrants. Certains témoins nous ont dit, dans leur
exposé, que l'un des problémes qui se posent, c’est que les
travailleurs migrants n’ont pas suffisamment acces a
I’équipement de protection individuelle, méme lorsqu’ils sont
infectés. Je comprends que vous avez dit, il y a quelques minutes
a peine, qu’il n’incombe pas au gouvernement fédéral de
distribuer de 1’équipement de protection individuelle dans les
provinces. Toutefois, j’aimerais savoir s’il est possible pour
vous, c’est-a-dire pour le gouvernement fédéral, de fournir a
chaque nouveau travailleur migrant qui arrive au Canada — et ils
continueront d’arriver, car la saison de cueillette se poursuit
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Ms. Hajdu: Thank you, senator.

The issue of migrant workers and infection I would say is far
vaster than PPE. I mean, all the PPE in the world will not protect
you if you’re sleeping in a bunkhouse that is housing 12 to 15
people that may not have any ability for distancing, certainly no
private washrooms or kitchens. There are issues of close-quarter
working, depending on the type of farm and produce and
producer. I’m actively working on the Windsor-Essex outbreak,
and I can tell you that the stories that I am learning about the
way that migrant workers are treated, both documented and
undocumented by the way, in this country, if you’re not aware of
it, would curl your hair. It is a national disgrace the way that
workers are treated. I will say it’s not all farmers, by the way.
There are many excellent farmers and farm corporations that are
doing a good job, but there are others that are not protecting the
health of their workers and are not taking it seriously.

The federal government, as you know, paid for the quarantine
and protection of workers when they came from other countries
to have them properly isolated. There was a high degree of worry
by Canadians that this would be a vector for the importation of
cases. In fact, there were a few ill workers that were able to get
treatment appropriately during that quarantine period, but the
outbreaks have been coming from Canadians and undocumented
workers that are actually working on the farms and linking with
the temporary foreign workers. I would say that PPE is a small
component of protecting workers on the farm.

Senator Omidvar: I understand that completely, but there is
always somewhere to start. I do hear your concern for migrant
workers. I’m gratified to hear you pinpoint bunkhouses. Should I
read into that response that the federal government will consider
national housing standards for migrant workers?

Ms. Hajdu: Thank you very much, senator. My colleague
Minister Qualtrough and I are working right now on her ideas
around how to reform the Temporary Foreign Worker program.
In the interim, as the Minister of Health, I’'m actively engaged

jusqu’en novembre, et méme parfois jusqu’en décembre — un
équipement de protection individuelle. N’oublions pas que ces
travailleurs migrants sont essentiels a notre sécurité alimentaire.
Tout comme ils obtiennent leur permis de débarquement et leur
visa, ils obtiendraient leur équipement de protection individuelle.

Mme Hajdu : Je vous remercie, sénatrice.

Selon moi, la question des travailleurs migrants et de
I’infection est beaucoup plus vaste que cela et elle ne se limite
pas a 1’équipement de protection individuelle. En effet, tout
I’équipement de protection individuelle du monde ne protégera
pas une personne qui dort dans un dortoir avec 12 a 15 autres
personnes qui n’ont peut-&tre pas la possibilité de pratiquer la
distanciation, et qui n’ont certainement pas accés a des salles de
bain ou a des cuisines privées. Selon le type d’exploitation
agricole, de produits et de producteurs, il y a des problémes liés
au fait que les employés doivent travailler cote a cote. Je
travaille activement sur 1’éclosion dans la région de Windsor—
Essex, et je peux vous dire que les histoires que j’apprends sur la
facon dont les travailleurs migrants sont traités dans notre pays,
qu’ils soient en régle ou non, vous feraient dresser les cheveux
sur la téte si vous ne les connaissez pas déja. La fagon dont ces
travailleurs sont traités est une honte nationale. Je tiens a préciser
que ce ne sont pas tous les exploitants agricoles. En effet, de
nombreux excellents exploitants agricoles et d’excellentes
exploitations agricoles font un bon travail, mais d’autres ne
protégent pas la santé de leurs travailleurs ou ne la prennent pas
au sérieux.

Le gouvernement fédéral, comme vous le savez, a pay¢ pour le
confinement et la protection des travailleurs qui arrivaient
d’autres pays, afin de les isoler correctement. En effet, les
Canadiens craignaient fortement qu’ils représentent un vecteur
d’importation de cas. En fait, quelques travailleurs malades ont
pu recevoir un traitement appropri¢ pendant cette période de
confinement, mais les éclosions ont été provoquées par des
Canadiens et des travailleurs clandestins qui travaillent sur des
exploitations agricoles et qui sont en contact avec les travailleurs
étrangers temporaires. Je dirais donc que I’équipement de
protection individuelle représente une petite partiec de la
protection des travailleurs sur les exploitations agricoles.

La sénatrice Omidvar : Je comprends parfaitement, mais il
faut toujours commencer quelque part. J’entends vos
préoccupations au sujet des travailleurs migrants. Je vous
remercie d’avoir parlé des dortoirs. Dois-je comprendre, par
I’entremise de votre réponse, que le gouvernement fédéral
envisagera d’établir des normes nationales en maticre
d’hébergement pour les travailleurs migrants?

Mme Hajdu : Je vous remercie beaucoup, sénatrice. Ma
collegue, la ministre Qualtrough et moi-méme travaillons
actuellement sur ses idées liées a une réforme du Programme des
travailleurs étrangers temporaires. Entretemps, a titre de ministre
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with the other levels of government to protect the health of
workers first and foremost.

Senator Omidvar: Thank you, minister.

Senator Petitclerc, I don’t have any time?

The Chair: No, you do not. Thank you, senator.

Before we move, we have some non-members here and 1 do
want to allow them to ask a few questions, but I would turn to
Senator Forest-Niesing.

[Translation]

Senator Forest-Niesing, we had to interrupt you earlier
because of technical difficulties. It seems that the issues have
now been resolved and everything is working. You had enough
time left for a quick question. If you want to use that time, I will
let you take the floor right before we continue with senators who
are not committee members.

Senator Forest-Niesing: Thank you very much and thank you
for giving me this opportunity. The theme of my questions was
the lessons learned. Perhaps I could ask my question in a more
general way. Our committee’s mandate is to assess the
government’s response to the pandemic crisis. So I will put the
question directly to you, minister.

How ready do you think the government was and has it reacted
well? What lessons have we learned and what corrections should
we make, as a second wave is expected?

[English]
Ms. Hajdu: Thank you very much.

That’s a really difficult question to answer, because although it
feels like we have somehow reached a milestone, we’re still in
the middle of a pandemic and an outbreak in Canada. I will say
that we have learned a lot about some of the gaps that made
things very difficult in the beginning. Data has been frequently
discussed in this meeting and many others, a better sense of what
is happening at a granular level and being able to report back up
to the federal government.

We have learned the need for collaboration and quick action
when there are outbreaks. We have learned of some of the
particular aspects — actually it’s not a new learning, but it’s
certainly a reminder of how if we don’t invest in vulnerable

de la Santé, je travaille activement avec d’autres échelons de
gouvernement pour protéger d’abord et avant tout la santé des
travailleurs.

La sénatrice Omidvar : Je vous remercie, madame la

ministre.
Sénatrice Petitclerc, me reste-t-il du temps?

La présidente : Non, il ne vous reste plus de temps. Je vous
remercie, sénatrice.

Avant de continuer, quelques sénateurs qui ne sont pas
membres du comité participent a notre réunion et je tiens a leur
permettre de poser quelques questions, mais je vais donner la
parole a la sénatrice Forest-Niesing.

[Frangais]

Sénatrice Forest-Niesing, nous avons dii vous interrompre tout
a I’heure a cause de problémes techniques. Il semble que tout
soit maintenant réglé et que tout fonctionne. Il vous restait du
temps pour poser une bréve question; si vous voulez utiliser ce
temps, je vais vous laisser prendre la parole tout de suite avant
de poursuivre avec les sénateurs qui ne sont pas membres du

comité.

La sénatrice Forest-Niesing : Merci beaucoup, et merci de
me donner cette chance. Le théme de mes questions portait sur
les legons qui ont été apprises. Peut-étre puis-je poser ma
question de facon plus générale. Le mandat de notre comité est
d’évaluer la réponse du gouvernement a la crise pandémique. Je
vais donc vous poser directement la question, madame la
ministre.

Dans quelle mesure jugez-vous que le gouvernement était prét,
et a-t-il bien réagi? Quelles lecons avons-nous apprises et quelles
corrections devrons-nous apporter, puisqu’on s’attend a une
prochaine vague?

[Traduction]
Mme Hajdu : Je vous remercie beaucoup.

C’est une question a laquelle il est trés difficile de répondre,
car méme si nous avons ’impression d’avoir franchi une étape
importante, nous sommes toujours au milieu d’une pandémie au
Canada. Je dirais que nous avons beaucoup appris sur certaines
des lacunes qui ont rendu les choses tres difficiles au début. On a
beaucoup discuté des données au cours de cette réunion et de
nombreuses autres, afin d’avoir une meilleure idée de ce qui se
passe au niveau granulaire et d’étre en mesure de faire rapport au
gouvernement fédéral.

Nous avons appris qu’il était nécessaire de collaborer et d’agir
rapidement en cas d’éclosion. Nous avons appris certains des
¢éléments particuliers — en fait, ce n’est pas un nouvel
apprentissage, mais cela nous rappelle certainement que si nous
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people and vulnerable settings, that disease and infectious
disease can take a foothold and then threaten the health of
everyone. This is something that actually has driven me into
politics as a former public health official myself, was the
understanding that investment in vulnerable people is actually
beneficial to the entire society. Good social policy is good fiscal
policy.

I think we have learned a lot about the need to invest in public
health. The Public Health Agency of Canada is a very small
agency. Successive rounds of government have not made
substantial investments in the Public Health Agency of Canada
to be able to take a robust approach, not just to the protection of
health in the case of an outbreak but certainly to the promotion
and the prevention of illness in Canada. I think there are
important reflections on how we support public health at a
national and provincial level.

Are we ready for the next stage of what this pandemic brings
to Canada? I would say that we are dramatically more ready than
we were during the outbreak because we have developed much
stronger relationships with provinces, territories and local
governments to make sure that we can act quickly when there is
an outbreak. We certainly have a better sense of how to procure
at a national and international level. We definitely have a much
higher capacity to test and to contact trace when we do have
outbreaks. That is, as you know, a critical component of being
able to address outbreaks, to be able to quickly and rapidly test
people and then have an isolation strategy that includes isolating
close contacts.

I think we have political commitment at all levels of
government to continue these efforts. I think there is no
politician in Canada who does not understand that the economy
of Canada is actually critically connected to being able to protect
the health of Canadians. We have learned a lot. There will be
future lessons to learn, I am certain, but I will again thank the
Public Health Agency of Canada and Health Canada for their
incredibly hard work over the last several months to get us to
where we are.

The Chair: We have our witnesses with us for another 10
minutes, and we appreciate that. I have three non-member
senators on the committee who wish to ask questions. If we go to
one question directed to one witness and try to focus, I believe
we can make it happen.

n’investissons pas dans les personnes et les milieux vulnérables,
cette maladie infectieuse peut s’installer et ensuite menacer la
santé de tous. A titre d’ancienne responsable de la santé
publique, ce qui m’a poussée a faire de la politique, c’est la
notion selon laquelle les investissements dans les personnes
vulnérables profitent, au bout du compte, a ’ensemble de la
société. Ainsi, une bonne politique sociale est une bonne
politique fiscale.

Je pense que nous avons beaucoup appris au sujet de la
nécessité d’investir dans la santé publique. L’ Agence de la santé
publique du Canada est un trés petit organisme. Les
gouvernements successifs n’ont pas investi de maniére
substantielle dans 1’Agence de la santé publique du Canada afin
de lui permettre d’adopter une approche solide, non seulement en
ce qui concerne la protection de la santé en cas d’épidémie, mais
également la sensibilisation et la prévention des maladies au
Canada. Je pense qu’il faut mener des réflexions importantes sur
la maniére dont nous soutenons la santé publique a 1’échelon
national et provincial.

Sommes-nous préts pour la prochaine étape de cette pandémie
au Canada? A mon avis, nous sommes nettement plus préts que
nous ne I’étions au moment du déclenchement de 1’épidémie, car
nous avons établi des relations beaucoup plus étroites avec les
provinces, les territoires et les gouvernements locaux pour
pouvoir agir rapidement en cas d’éclosion. Nous avons
certainement une bien meilleure idée de la fagon de gérer les
approvisionnements a 1’échelon national et international. Nous
avons certainement renforcé notre capacité a mener des tests et a
rechercher les contacts en cas d’éclosion. C’est, comme vous le
savez, un élément essentiel pour gérer les éclosions, pour
pouvoir tester rapidement les personnes et pour établir ensuite
une stratégie d’isolement qui comprend I’isolement des contacts
étroits.

Je pense que tous les échelons de gouvernement ont pris
I’engagement politique de poursuivre ces efforts. Je pense qu’il
n’y a pas une seule personne dans le domaine politique au
Canada qui ne comprend pas que 1’économie du pays est en fait
étroitement liée a la capacité de protéger la santé des Canadiens.
Nous avons beaucoup appris. Il y aura des legcons a tirer a
I’avenir, j’en suis certaine, mais j’aimerais encore une fois
remercier 1’Agence de la santé publique du Canada et Santé
Canada du travail incroyablement difficile qui a été accompli ces
derniers mois pour nous amener ot nous en sommes aujourd’hui.

La présidente : Les témoins seront avec nous pour les 10
prochaines minutes, et nous leur en sommes reconnaissants.
Trois sénateurs qui ne sont pas membres du comité souhaitent
poser des questions. Si une seule question est posée a un seul
témoin a la fois et que nous nous en tenons a cela, je crois que ce
sera possible.
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Senator McCallum: This question is for Minister Hajdu. It
concerns equity and ensuring that appropriate resources
surrounding research are committed to Indigenous peoples of
Canada. Whether these resources are human, financial, research
or ethics-related, they must be equally available so that First
Nations, Métis and Inuit peoples do not continue to be
marginalized. It is through this continued marginalization that
Indigenous people will continue to be victims of morbidity and
mortality with a second wave.

Will your office ensure the following: That Indigenous
researchers, who are experts in Indigenous and scientific
knowledge and already have a working relationship with
Indigenous people, be meaningfully and concretely involved in
the research regarding COVID-19; that indigenous peoples, as
per the Tri-Council Policy Statement, and the Tri-Council Policy
Statement be respected and practised by the reps of the federal
government responsible for looking at the proposals surrounding
COVID-19; that the data surrounding Indigenous peoples, as
proposed by the Indigenous Advisory Circle, be supported so
that there is consistency across the country and compatibility
with other like systems, allowing data to be shared across other
electronic databases; that proper and formal ethical and rigorous
guidelines are followed, as this research involves the human
lives of Indigenous peoples; and finally, that the real or
perceived personal conflict of interest is noted by the individuals
who are reviewing and making decisions on the proposals. Thank
you.

Ms. Hajdu: Thank you very much, Senator McCallum.

I will just tell you that we have had the inclusion of
Indigenous people and the leadership of Indigenous people at the
heart of our research agenda. In fact, we have Indigenous
advisory for the COVID-19 Immunity Task Force.

I will quickly turn to Dr. Strong, though, because I know he is
heavily immersed in this particular aspect of our response.
Dr. Strong?

Dr. Michael Strong, President, Canadian Institutes of
Health Research: Thank you, minister.

Thank you for the terrific question. We have, in fact, been
incredibly focused on ensuring that we do meet the needs of our
Indigenous colleagues from a research point of view. As an
example, I can point to the most recent rapid response phase two
component where we, in fact, made sure that funding was
available to meet our obligations and actually exceed them with

La sénatrice McCallum : Ma question s’adresse a
Mme Hajdu. Elle concerne 1’équité et le fait d’engager des
ressources appropriées dans la recherche pour les peuples
autochtones du Canada. Que ces ressources soient humaines,
financiéres ou liées a la recherche ou a 1’éthique, elles doivent
étre distribuées de fagon équitable, afin que les Premicres
Nations, les Métis et les Inuits cessent d’étre marginalisés. En
effet, c’est par I’entremise de cette constante marginalisation que
les peuples autochtones continueront d’étre victimes de
morbidité et de mortalité dans une deuxiéme vague.

Votre bureau veillera-t-il & faire les choses suivantes? Tout
d’abord, veiller a ce que les chercheurs autochtones, qui sont des
experts en matiére de connaissances scientifiques et autochtones
et qui travaillent déja avec les peuples autochtones, participent
concrétement et utilement a la recherche liée a la COVID-19.
Ensuite, veiller a ce que les peuples autochtones soient respectés,
conformément a I’Enoncé de politique des trois Conseils, et que
cet Enoncé soit mis en ceuvre par les représentants du
gouvernement fédéral responsables d’examiner les propositions
liées a la COVID-19. De plus, veiller a ce que les données liées
aux peuples autochtones, comme le propose le Cercle consultatif
autochtone, soient appuyées, afin de les uniformiser d’un bout a
I’autre du pays et de les rendre compatibles avec d’autres
systémes semblables, ce qui permet aux données d’étre partagées
dans d’autres bases de données électroniques. Aussi, veiller a ce
que des directives éthiques et rigoureuses et formelles soient
suivies, car ces recherches concernent la vie des peuples
autochtones. Enfin, veiller a ce que le conflit d’intéréts personnel
réel ou percu soit pris en compte par les personnes qui examinent
les propositions et qui prennent des décisions a leur sujet. Je
vous remercie.

Mme Hajdu : Je vous remercie sénatrice

McCallum.

beaucoup,

Je vous dirai simplement que nous avons placé I’inclusion et le
leadership des populations autochtones au cceur de notre
programme de recherche. En fait, le Groupe de travail sur
I’immunité face a la COVID-19 recoit des conseils des
Autochtones.

Je vais rapidement donner la parole au Dr Strong, car je sais
qu’il participe grandement a ce volet de notre réponse. Docteur
Strong, pouvez-vous offrir une contribution?

Dr Michael Strong, président, Instituts de recherche en
santé du Canada : Je vous remercie, madame la ministre.

Je vous remercie de cette excellente question. En fait, nous
nous sommes absolument efforcés de répondre aux besoins de
nos collégues autochtones en ce qui concerne la recherche. A
titre d’exemple, je peux citer la plus récente phase deux du volet
de réponse rapide dans lequel nous avons veillé a ce que des
fonds soient accessibles pour remplir nos obligations et méme les
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regard to the funding of Indigenous researchers. That is a
primary focus for us and will remain as such.

The same thing with regard to conflict of interest. It’s a very
important issue that you raise there. It is something that we are at
all times attuned to, particularly our Institute of Indigenous
Peoples’ Health. Research has been watching that very carefully
and ensuring that there is no conflict with respect to the
reviewing process as funds come forward.

Your question is well-founded, but we are working very hard,
and on this last cycle, we in fact were able to meet and indeed
exceed our goal.

Senator Pate: Thank you, minister, for the work of you and
your colleagues.

My question is for Dr. Tam. Despite UN and World Health
Organization recommendations for depopulation strategies for
prisoners, as well as such a call from more than [Technical
difficulties] 150 health professionals [Technical difficulties] not
to mention the direction from Minister Blair himself at the end of
March to reduce the risk to prisoners, staff and the general
public, CSC did not engage in such a strategy. Instead, contrary
to international and Canadian law, as well as doctors’
recommendations, prisoners were isolated and have been kept in
conditions of confinement for months that medical and legal
professionals have described as physically, psychologically and
neurologically damaging, and indeed, that can amount to torture.

Dr. Tam, from our correspondence and the previous evidence
of the public health authorities before this committee, it was
indicated that recommending depopulation of prisons in order to
permit humane and appropriate physical distancing, as well as
public health and hygiene measures, falls outside of your
mandate. This means the decision that has significant import on
the health of prisoners, staff and members of surrounding
communities was left to CSC, Correctional Service Canada.

As a result of urgent calls to us by prison-based health
professionals as well as staff members who were concerned that
internal public health advice and standards, including regarding
depopulation, were not being implemented by CSC, as you
know, 1 wrote to you a couple of times, as well as other
provincial and territorial health authorities, requesting that you
intervene to inspect and audit the conditions in prisons.

dépasser en ce qui concerne le financement des chercheurs
autochtones. Il s’agit 1a d’un objectif primordial pour nous, et il
le restera.

C’est la méme chose en ce qui concerne le conflit d’intéréts.
Vous soulevez un enjeu trés important. C’est une chose a
laquelle nous portons toujours attention, surtout dans le cadre de
notre Institut de la santé des Autochtones. Des recherches ont
suivi cela de trés prés et on s’est assuré qu’il n’y a pas de conflit
d’intéréts en ce qui concerne le processus d’examen lorsque des

fonds sont versés.

Votre question est bien fondée, mais nous travaillons trés fort
et au cours de ce dernier cycle, nous avons été en mesure
d’atteindre et méme de dépasser nos objectifs.

La sénatrice Pate : Je vous remercie, madame la ministre, du
travail que vous accomplissez avec vos collégues.

Ma question s’adresse a la Dre Tam. Malgré les
recommandations des Nations Unies et de 1’Organisation
mondiale de la Santé concernant les stratégies de dépeuplement
des détenus, ainsi que le méme appel lancé par plus de 150
professionnels de la santé [Difficultés techniques], sans parler de
la directive formulée par le ministre Blair lui-méme a la fin du
mois de mars pour réduire le risque pour les détenus, le
personnel et le public, le SCC n’a pas adopté une telle stratégie.
Au lieu de cela, contrairement au droit international et au droit
canadien, et contrairement aux recommandations des médecins,
les prisonniers ont été isolés et maintenus, pendant des mois,
dans des conditions de détention que des professionnels
médicaux et juridiques ont décrites comme étant préjudiciables
sur le plan physique, psychologique et neurologique, et qui
peuvent méme s’apparenter a la torture.

Docteure Tam, d’aprés notre correspondance et les
témoignages précédents d’autorités de santé publique devant
notre comité, il a été indiqué que le fait de recommander le
dépeuplement des prisons afin de permettre une distanciation
physique humaine et appropriée, ainsi que des mesures de santé
physique et d’hygiéne, ne reléve pas de votre mandat. Cela
signifie que cette décision, qui a une grande importance sur la
santé des détenus, du personnel et des membres des collectivités
environnantes, a été laissée au SCC, c’est-a-dire le Service
correctionnel du Canada.

A la suite des appels urgents que nous avons regus de
professionnels de la santé en milieu carcéral ainsi que des
membres du personnel qui s’inquiétaient du fait que les conseils
et les normes internes de santé publique, notamment en maticre
de dépeuplement, n’étaient pas appliqués par le SCC, comme
vous le savez, je vous ai écrit a deux ou trois reprises, comme
d’autres autorités sanitaires provinciales et territoriales, pour
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I’m curious and would like to know, please, did you provide
any information regarding the vital public health dimensions of
depopulation? Did CSC benefit from any other independent
public health advice in reaching its decision not to engage in the
depopulation exercise and instead to utilize the segregation
measures?

Dr. Tam: I cannot comment on the decision regarding
depopulation, but I can say that the Public Health Agency and
Health Canada were both engaged to provide expertise in
infection prevention control of environmental health and also of
occupational health, most notably in British Columbia, at the
Mission Institution. As a result of the lessons learned and the
linkage with particularly local public health but also provinces,
we essentially provided advice.

But we do know, at least based on what we were provided,
that of Correctional Service Canada’s 43 institutes, I think all of
them — we can double-check — would have had an inspection
and an audit of their practices now. I think they were trying to
translate the knowledge across all of the institutions. Also, we
provided tools, training, webinars, training on PPE, as well as
guidance on how to do rapid detection and an outbreak response
with the local public health departments. I know that probably
more needs to be done, but I do know that those elements were
completed.

Senator Pate: Thank you.

Senator Bovey: I would like to thank the minister and
Dr. Tam for being with us.

My question will be quick and has to do with the Arctic. We
were fortunate, I believe, that the first wave did not have
outbreaks in the Arctic, but there were serious consequential
issues such as food security, cost of security, interruption of
video medicine and concerns for mental health. Can you
illuminate us further on the preparedness for a second wave that
may come to the Arctic, given the distances and the irregularities
of the internet? I’m concerned particularly about PPE and testing
in the North.

Ms. Hajdu: Thank you very much, senator.

I think Dr. Tam has said so many times that the best
prevention is preventing it from getting into vulnerable
populations in the first place. First of all, I want to thank Inuit,
Indigenous and Meétis leaders for their incredible work, and

vous demander d’intervenir afin d’inspecter et de vérifier les
conditions dans les prisons.

Je suis curieuse et j’aimerais savoir, s’il vous plait, si vous
avez fourni des renseignements concernant les ¢éléments
essentiels de santé publique liés au dépeuplement. Le SCC a-t-il
profité d’autres conseils indépendants en matiére de santé
publique pour prendre sa décision de ne pas s’engager dans
I’exercice de dépeuplement et d’utiliser plutdt des mesures
d’isolement?

Dre Tam : Je ne peux pas commenter la décision concernant
le dépeuplement, mais je peux dire que 1’Agence de la santé
publique et Santé Canada se sont tous deux engagés a fournir une
expertise en matiére de prévention des infections et de contrdle
de la santé dans I’environnement et au travail, notamment en
Colombie-Britannique, ¢’est-a-dire a I’Etablissement de Mission.
Grace aux legons apprises et particuliérement aux liens établis
avec les autorités de santé publique locales, mais aussi avec les
provinces, nous avons essentiellement fourni des conseils.

Mais nous savons, du moins si nous nous fions aux
renseignements fournis, que les 43 établissements du Service
correctionnel du Canada, je pense — nous pouvons le
vérifier —, ont maintenant tous fait I’objet d’une inspection et
d’un audit de leurs méthodes. Je pense qu’on tentait de
transposer les connaissances dans tous les établissements. Nous
avons ¢galement fourni des outils, des formations, des
webinaires, des formations sur 1’équipement de protection
individuelle, ainsi que des conseils sur la maniere de procéder a
une détection rapide et de réagir a une éclosion avec les services
de santé publique locaux. Je sais qu’il faut probablement en faire
plus, mais je sais aussi que ces taches ont été effectuées.

La sénatrice Pate : Je vous remercie.

La sénatrice Bovey : J’aimerais remercier la ministre et la
Dre Tam d’étre avec nous aujourd’hui.

Ma question sera bréve, et elle concerne 1I’Arctique. Je crois
que nous avons été chanceux, car la premiére vague n’a pas
causé d’éclosion dans 1’Arctique, mais elle a entrainé de graves
conséquences comme 1’insécurité alimentaire, les cofts liés a la
sécurité, 1’interruption de la médecine par vidéo et des
inquiétudes en matiére de santé mentale. Pouvez-vous nous
parler davantage de 1’état de préparation a 1’égard d’une
deuxiéme vague qui pourrait toucher 1’Arctique, étant donné les
distances et le manque de fiabilité de la connexion Internet la-
bas? Je suis particulierement préoccupée par 1’équipement de
protection individuelle et les tests dans le Nord.

Mme Hajdu : Je vous remercie beaucoup, sénatrice.

Je pense que la Dre Tam a dit a maintes reprises que la
meilleure prévention consiste, en premier lieu, a éviter que
I’épidémie n’atteigne les populations vulnérables. Tout d’abord,
je tiens a remercier les dirigeants inuits, autochtones et métis de
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Minister Miller, quite frankly, who made a strong appeal to
essentially self-governance by saying we will provide funds but
that in fact it’s the Indigenous leaders who will know best how to
manage and prepare their own communities. I’ve heard from 12
communities in my own riding that that was a pivotal component
to their response. To have the flexibility of the funds without
attachments for how they would be spent was, I think, critical in
what we’ve seen as largely successful responses of Indigenous
communities to prevent the exposure.

We have been equally focused on trying to ensure the
operationality of the North, as you point out. We know it has
unique challenges in terms of transportation and food security. It
has been a whole-of-government response. The Minister of
Transport, for example, and the Minister of Northern Affairs are
ministers that have been actively engaged and bringing to the
table every step of the way various components of life in the
North that were precarious or threatened by the extreme
measures of isolation that had to be put into place to protect
these communities.

We will continue to work with Indigenous and Inuit leadership
to make sure we understand an effective response that also
allows for that connectivity in a number of ways that you
mentioned. We have also been working on improving access to
broadband and high-speed internet because we know that is a
partial solution for some of these things that you spoke about —
access to remote health care, digital health care, but also digital
learning and all of the other things that, in a way, Canadians are
all waking up to how hard life is in the North because they’re
also having to use digital ways to connect with all kinds of care
and services.

It’s important work that we do with Indigenous, Inuit and
Meétis communities to make sure they truly are leading the
response, and we’ll continue to have that approach. So far, it
seems to be working. Again, I want to thank all Canadians,
including Inuit, M¢étis and Indigenous communities and
members, for their incredible self-sacrifices that have led to
Canada’s ability to flatten the curve.

The Chair: Thank you. We did begin the meeting with some
delay, and I’m happy to hear that our witnesses, the minister and
her team, are agreeing to stay with us for another five or ten
minutes. We absolutely appreciate your time. Thank you. This
does provide for a few more questions on a second round. Let us
try to stay with one question to one witness in order to maximize
the time. Again, thank you, minister, for this time.

leur travail incroyable, et le ministre Miller, trés franchement,
qui a lancé un appel convaincant a 1’égard de 1’autonomie en
disant que nous fournirons des fonds, mais qu’en fait, ce sont les
dirigeants autochtones qui sauront le mieux comment gérer et
préparer leurs propres collectivités. Les représentants de 12
collectivités de ma propre circonscription m’ont dit que c’était
un élément essentiel de leur réponse. La flexibilité des fonds,
sans aucune restriction quant a la maniére dont ils seraient
dépensés, a été, je pense, essenticlle dans ce que nous avons
considéré comme des mesures largement efficaces prises par les
collectivités autochtones pour prévenir I’exposition a la maladie.

Nous avons également concentré nos efforts sur le maintien de
I’opérationnalité du Nord, comme vous I’avez souligné. En effet,
nous savons que cette région présente des défis uniques sur les
plans du transport et de la sécurité alimentaire. Il s’agit donc
d’une réponse pangouvernementale. Le ministre des Transports,
par exemple, et le ministre des Affaires autochtones et du Nord
ont activement participé au processus et ont souligné, a chaque
étape, les différentes composantes de la vie dans le Nord qui
étaient précaires ou menacées par les mesures d’isolement
extrémes qui ont dii €tre mises en ceuvre pour protéger ces
collectivités.

Nous continuerons de travailler avec les dirigeants autochtones
et inuits pour nous assurer que nous comprenons en quoi consiste
une réponse efficace pour permettre cette connectivité des
différentes fagons que vous avez mentionnées. Nous travaillons
également a améliorer 1’accés a Internet a large bande et a haute
vitesse parce que nous savons que c’est une solution partielle a
certains des problémes que vous avez soulevés — 1’accés a des
soins de santé a distance, les soins de santé numériques, mais
aussi 1’apprentissage numérique et toutes les autres choses qui,
d’une certaine maniére, font que les Canadiens se rendent tous
compte a quel point la vie dans le Nord est difficile, car ils
doivent également utiliser des moyens numériques pour se
connecter a toutes sortes de soins et de services.

Nous faisons un travail important avec les collectivités
autochtones, inuites et métisses pour nous assurer qu’elles sont
vraiment a la téte de la réponse, et nous continuerons d’adopter
cette approche. Jusqu’a présent, elle semble fonctionner. Je tiens
a remercier a nouveau tous les Canadiens, y compris les
collectivités et les membres inuits, métis et autochtones, de leurs
incroyables sacrifices qui ont permis au Canada d’aplanir la

courbe.

La présidente : Merci. Nous avons commencé la réunion
avec du retard, et je suis ravie d’entendre que nos témoins, la
ministre et son équipe acceptent de rester avec nous encore 5 ou
10 minutes. Nous vous sommes trés reconnaissants du temps que
vous nous accordez. Merci. Cela nous permettra de poser
quelques questions additionnelles dans le cadre d’une deuxiéme
série d’interventions. Essayons de poser une question a un
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Senator Poirier: Again, thank you, minister, for allowing
this.

My question is for you, minister. Earlier in my questions,
Dr. Tam talked about the stockpile that was possibly under-
funded and under-stocked in the National Emergency Strategic
Stockpile. Minister, at what point were you or was the
government made aware that there was a shortage in the
stockpile and that it was underfunded?

We’ve also heard from many of the witnesses the fear of the
second wave and not being ready for that second wave, and a lot
of them feel that we’re not ready. Could you please confirm to us
the condition of the stockpile at this point in the National
Emergency Strategic Stockpile? Are we funded? Are we ready
for the second wave going forward?

Ms. Hajdu: Thank you very much for the question.

I think Dr. Tam’s remarks reflect the fact that the National
Emergency Strategic Stockpile was not meant to stockpile huge
volumes of personal protective equipment. Furthermore, it’s
challenging for the National Emergency Strategic Stockpile to do
that because, in fact, different infections would require different
kinds of PPE and different kinds of equipment.

Having said that, we know what’s required with COVID-19,
and, in fact, Procurement Canada has a dashboard available
publicly that can give you a direct line of sight in terms of what
we’ve ordered and what we’ve procured.

We have an agreement with the provinces and territories that
20% of what we acquire we hold back in the National
Emergency Strategic Stockpile so that we can augment their
needs should there be a particular surge in any particular region
of the country. I have to thank my provincial-territorial partners
for working so hard on that. This allows them to also build up
their stockpiles with the equipment they may need for any
particular surges, second wave or whatever does appear, while
allowing the federal government the ability to build up again
what we need to support that.

Frequently, provinces and territories will ask for equipment
and/or personal protective equipment from the National
Emergency Strategic Stockpile. I think we’ve had over 45 of
these requests, and we’ve managed to fulfill all these requests for
provinces and territories, so I think we’re on the right track.

témoin pour maximiser le temps. Encore une fois, merci,
madame la ministre, de votre temps.

La sénatrice Poirier : Encore une fois, merci, madame la
ministre, de nous accorder plus de temps.

Ma question s’adresse a vous, madame la ministre. Plus tot
dans mes questions, la Dre Tam a parlé de la réserve qui était
peut-étre sous-financée ou insuffisante, a savoir la Réserve
nationale stratégique d’urgence. Madame la ministre, a quel
moment le gouvernement ou vous avez été informés que la

réserve était insuffisante et sous-financée?

Nous avons également entendu de nombreux témoins dire
craindre la deuxiéme vague et un manque de préparation pour la
deuxiéme vague, et beaucoup d’entre eux estiment que nous ne
sommes pas préparés. Pourriez-vous, s’il vous plait, confirmer
I’état de la Réserve nationale stratégique d’urgence a I’heure
actuelle? Sommes-nous financés? Sommes-nous préparés pour la
deuxiéme vague a venir?

Mme Hajdu : Merci beaucoup de la question.

Je pense que les déclarations de la Dre Tam font état que la
Réserve nationale stratégique d’urgence n’était pas destinée a
stocker d’énormes quantités d’équipements de protection
individuelle. En outre, il est difficile pour la Réserve nationale
stratégique d’urgence de le faire, car différentes infections
nécessitent différents types d’EPI et différents types
d’équipement.

Cela dit, nous savons ce dont nous avons besoin avec la
COVID-19 et, en fait, Approvisionnement Canada a un tableau
de bord disponible publiquement qui peut vous donner un apergu
direct de ce que nous avons commandé¢ et acheté.

Nous avons une entente avec les provinces et les territoires
selon laquelle 20 % de nos acquisitions sont conservées dans la
Réserve nationale stratégique d’urgence afin que nous puissions
répondre a leurs besoins accrus en cas d’une hausse marquée de
cas dans une région particuliére du pays. Je dois remercier mes
partenaires provinciaux et territoriaux de travailler si fort en ce
sens. Cela leur permet également de constituer leurs réserves
avec 1’équipement dont ils pourraient avoir besoin en cas d’une
hausse marquée de cas ou d’une deuxiéme vague, tout en
permettant au gouvernement fédéral de reconstituer les réserves
dont nous avons besoin pour soutenir cette opération.

Les provinces et les territoires demandent fréquemment de
I’équipement ou de 1’équipement de protection individuelle
provenant de la Réserve nationale stratégique d’urgence. Je
pense que nous avons regu plus de 45 de ces demandes, et nous
avons réussi a répondre a toutes les demandes des provinces et
des territoires; je pense donc que nous sommes sur la bonne voie.
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In terms of when did I know, I was appointed about a month
and a half before the pandemic outbreak. We were preparing
budget letters, requests around flu vaccine, et cetera. Those
conversations happened very early in terms of what we did and
didn’t have and what we were going to need to procure.

Finally, in terms of the federal government’s commitment to
procuring enough PPE, I can tell you that no expense is spared to
make sure Canadians are ready for whatever the next wave looks
like.

Senator Poirier: Thank you, minister.

The Chair: Senator Seidman, did you want to ask a question?

Senator Seidman: I did. Thank you very much. Actually, it’s
a question that I think the whole committee was perplexed over,
and maybe the health minister can help us.

We heard from Réjean Hébert and Roger Wong, who were
both members of your Task Force on Long-Term Care, convened
by the Office of the Chief Science Advisor. Both of them
indicated the force had had five meetings but there were no
meetings planned. The task force seemed to be finished its work,
but there were reports being prepared. The first report was going
to be focused on immediate actions and the second on more
medium term. I’'m wondering if these reports are going to be
made public, and if, in fact, that task force has finished its work
or if its mandate is over. If so, is it not going to be around to
monitor or advise on implementation recommendations?

Ms. Hajdu: Thanks, senator. I’ll try to give some general
comments and maybe my officials will know more. The chief
scientist has her own task force. They don’t report to me, so I’'m
not aware of what their future plans are. I will turn to deputy
minister Stephen Lucas to provide additional information.

Dr. Lucas: Thank you, minister and senator.

The task force was to look at short-term recommendations and
longer term. The reports were prepared, and my understanding is
that they will be posted.

Certainly now with those reports, a multiplicity of other
studies, the report from the Canadian Forces, at present there is a
significant body of information to help inform actions to be
taken, as the minister has noted, including conversation about

Pour ce qui est du moment ou j’ai été informée, j’ai été
nommeée a ce poste environ un mois et demi avant le début de la
pandémie. Nous préparions des lettres budgétaires, des demandes
concernant le vaccin contre la grippe, etc. Ces conversations ont
eu lieu trés tot pour savoir ce que nous avions et n’avions pas et
ce que nous allions devoir acheter.

Enfin, en ce qui concerne 1’engagement du gouvernement
fédéral a se procurer suffisamment d’EPI, je peux vous dire
qu’aucune dépense n’est épargnée pour veiller a ce que les
Canadiens soient préts a affronter la prochaine vague, quelle
qu’elle soit.

La sénatrice Poirier : Merci, madame la ministre.

La présidente : Sénatrice Seidman, vouliez-vous poser une
question?

La sénatrice Seidman : Oui. Merci beaucoup. En fait, c’est
une question qui, je crois, a laissé perplexe 1’ensemble du
comité, et peut-étre que la ministre de la Santé peut nous aider.

Nous avons entendu les témoignages de Réjean Hébert et de
Roger Wong, qui étaient tous les deux membres de votre Groupe
de travail sur les soins de longue durée, créé par le Bureau du
conseiller scientifique principal. Ils ont tous les deux fait savoir
que le groupe de travail avait eu cinq réunions, mais qu’aucune
n’était prévue. Le groupe de travail semblait avoir terminé son
travail, mais des rapports étaient en cours de préparation. Le
premier rapport allait porter sur les actions immédiates et le
deuxiéme, sur les actions a moyen terme. Je me demande si ces
rapports seront rendus publics et si, en fait, ce groupe de travail a
terminé ses travaux ou si son mandat est terminé. Le cas échéant,
ne sera-t-il pas l1a pour assurer une surveillance ou donner des
conseils sur la mise en ceuvre des recommandations?

Mme Hajdu : Merci, sénatrice. Je vais essayer de faire des
remarques générales, et mes fonctionnaires en sauront peut-étre
plus a ce sujet. La scientifique en chef a son propre groupe de
travail. Ces gens ne relévent pas de moi, alors je ne sais pas
quels sont leurs plans futurs. Je vais maintenant céder la parole
au sous-ministre Stephen Lucas, qui pourra fournir des
renseignements additionnels.

M. Lucas : Merci, madame la ministre et madame la

sénatrice.

Le groupe de travail a ¢été créé pour examiner les
recommandations a court et a long terme. Les rapports ont été
préparés, et je crois savoir qu’ils seront affichés.

Il est certain qu’avec ces rapports, une multitude d’autres
études, le rapport des Forces canadiennes, il existe un ensemble
important de renseignements pour aider a éclairer les mesures a
prendre, comme la ministre 1’a souligné, y compris la
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national standards and the infection prevention and control that
needs to be in place to help protect these vulnerable people.

Should the need arise, we would work with the Chief Science
Advisor in terms of convening the group to look further, but the
emphasis now is with the body of work, including from the task
force, to look at taking action across the country through
provinces and territories to ensure that our seniors are protected
in long-term care and other assisted living facilities.

Senator Seidman: Thank you.

Senator Munson: I’ll ask this question to Dr. Tam, although
the minister might want to answer it.

We’ve seen what’s happening in the United States today, so
close by. Dr. Tam, there have been some scientists today, in one
of the major newspapers, really warning that there is going to be
a second wave and that it will be ten times bigger than the first
one. It’s difficult to say “if,” but it’s always lingering there.
What would you do if that took place in this country again? Are
you, and minister, ready to isolate the country again, in even a
more severe way? Now that we’ve had the opportunity to wake
up and breathe, it may be a very difficult thing to do.

Dr. Tam: Right now, the border restrictions that have been
put in place with the United States and with other countries still
remain, except for a certain exempt group of essential service
workers or people who transport our food, for example. There is
still a 14-day mandatory quarantine for those coming into
Canada. Those are some of our key public health measures.
Those are still in place.

We will not be moving fast except very close discussions with
the provinces and territories as to where things are domestically.
Totally conscious of what’s going on to the south of us, the
epidemiology of what’s going on in the United States forms a
key part of input into the advice. Carefully, slowly, has been the
mantra or the principle of the reopening to date, and I believe
that will continue.

We are preparing for surges, and those might come in the fall.
We hope they won’t come earlier. We do have to prepare for the
worst-case scenario, or what we call the reasonable worst-case
scenario, while at the same time doubling down on the effort to
put down any little sparks of introduction or a resurgence. That is
the strategy, putting out those fires or sparks at the same time as
still preparing for a potential bigger wave.

conversation sur les normes nationales et la prévention et le
contrdle des infections qui doivent étre mis en place pour aider a
protéger ces personnes vulnérables.

Si le besoin s’en faisait sentir, nous travaillerions avec le
conseiller scientifique en chef pour convoquer le groupe afin
d’approfondir la question, mais on met maintenant I’accent sur
I’ensemble des travaux, y compris ceux du groupe de travail,
pour envisager de prendre des mesures dans tout le pays par
I’entremise des provinces et des territoires afin de nous assurer
que les personnes dgées sont protégées dans les établissements
de soins de longue durée et autres résidences avec assistance.

La sénatrice Seidman : Merci.

Le sénateur Munson : Je vais adresser ma question a la
Dre Tam, quoi que la ministre voudra peut-tre y répondre.

Nous avons vu ce qui se passe aux Etats-Unis aujourd’hui, qui
sont si preés de nous. Docteure Tam, des scientifiques, dans 1’un
des principaux journaux, ont mis en garde aujourd’hui qu’il y
aura une deuxiéme vague et qu’elle sera 10 fois plus importante
que la premiére. Il est difficile de dire « si », mais c’est une
possibilité qui subsiste. Que feriez-vous s’il y avait une
deuxiéme vague au pays? Est-ce que la ministre et vous étes
prétes a isoler le pays a nouveau, d’une maniére encore plus
stricte? Maintenant que nous avons eu 1’occasion de souffler un
peu, ce pourrait étre trés difficile a faire.

Dre Tam : A ’heure actuelle, les restrictions a la frontiére
qui ont été mises en place avec les Etats-Unis et d’autres pays
sont encore en vigueur, a I’exception d’un groupe exempté de
travailleurs des services essentiels ou des personnes qui
transportent nos aliments, par exemple. Une quarantaine
obligatoire de 14 jours est encore en vigueur pour les personnes
qui entrent au Canada. Ce sont la quelques-unes de nos
principales mesures de santé¢ publique. Elles sont toujours en
place.

Nous n’irons pas de I’avant rapidement, sauf dans le cadre de
discussions trés étroites avec les provinces et les territoires pour
savoir ou nous en sommes a 1’échelle nationale. Nous sommes
tout a fait conscients de ce qui se passe chez nos voisins du Sud,
et Dépidémiologie de la situation aux Etats-Unis fait
partie intégrante des conseils. Jusqu’a présent, le mantra ou le
principe de la réouverture a été de procéder soigneusement et
lentement, et je crois que cela continuera.

Nous nous préparons a des hausses marquées de cas, qui
pourraient survenir a I’automne. Nous espérons qu’elles ne se
produiront pas plus tét. Nous devons nous préparer au pire
scénario, tout en redoublant d’efforts pour éviter les petites
étincelles d’introduction ou de résurgence. C’est la stratégie, qui
consiste a éteindre ces feux ou ces étincelles tout en se préparant
a une éventuelle vague plus importante.
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The Chair: Minister, did you want to add something to that
before we let you go?

Ms. Hajdu: Yes. I'll just agree with Dr. Tam that slow and
steady has been our focus.

I think your question was less about the border and more about
watching what’s happening to the south of us and whether or not
that would be a possibility here. Anything is a possibility. We
don’t know the virus. We don’t know how it will change, and we
don’t know so much about it. What we have learned over the last
six months are things that we can do to better protect Canadians.

I will also say there’s a big difference between the U.S. and
Canada in terms of how we’ve dealt with the virus and the
communications around the virus from the very beginning. We
don’t have the level of political animosity that we see in our
southern neighbours around whether or not the virus was real, if
you’ll recall, in the early days. No politician in Canada
questioned whether or not this virus was real, which helped
Canadians take it seriously.

We have a public health care system here, so there are no
barriers to testing or treatment. People are not constrained by
financial resources to come forward and get a test. That’s not
even a concept for Canadians, that they would have to pay to
find out whether or not they have COVID-19. Most of us have
grown up with the benefit of a public health care system that
provides access.

I’'m very proud of my colleagues who understand that our
economy is critically linked to the health of Canadians. There is
not a dichotomy, as we see in some other jurisdictions, where it’s
health or the economy. In fact, in Canada, with my colleagues
around the cabinet table, we are very aware, and I would say
provincially as well, that the economy is actually dependent on
the health of Canadians. Raise your hand if you want to go to
Texas today. Not me. The United States added 34,000 cases —
and that’s just the cases they know about — yesterday. This,
obviously, has a very detrimental effect on their economy.

We believe that in order to continue the reopening of the
Canadian economy, we have to do so with Canadians’ health at
the centre. All of the work we’re doing to increase our capacity,
to test, to trace, and to make sure Canadians understand the need
to continue to physically distance and protect themselves, to
wear masks when they can’t be physically distant, all of that
work has to continue while we also slowly and cautiously reopen
our economy.

La présidente : Madame la ministre, vouliez-vous ajouter
quelque chose a ces remarques avant qu’on vous laisse partir?

Mme Hajdu : Oui. Je suis d’accord avec la Dre Tam que
notre priorité est d’aller de I’avant lentement et graduellement.

Je pense que votre question portait moins sur la frontiére que
sur la surveillance de ce qui se passe chez nos voisins du Sud et
sur la possibilité que cela se produise ici. Tout est possible. Nous
ne connaissons pas le virus. Nous ne savons pas comment il va
changer, et nous en savons peu sur le virus. Ce que nous avons
appris au cours des six derniers mois, ce sont des mesures que
nous pouvons prendre pour mieux protéger les Canadiens.

Je dirai également qu’il y a une énorme différence entre les
Etats-Unis et le Canada quant 4 la maniére dont nous avons traité
le virus et les communications concernant le virus depuis le tout
début. Nous n’avons pas le niveau d’animosité politique que
nous voyons chez nos voisins du Sud quant a savoir si le virus
était réel ou non, si vous vous souvenez bien, au début. Aucun
homme politique au Canada n’a remis en question si ce virus
était réel ou non, ce qui a aidé les Canadiens a le prendre au
sérieux.

Nous avons un systeme de soins de santé public ici, si bien
qu’il n’y a pas d’obstacles aux tests ou aux traitements. Les gens
ne sont pas limités par les ressources financiéres pour se
présenter et se faire tester. Ce n’est méme pas un concept pour
les Canadiens, qu’ils devraient payer pour savoir s’ils ont
contract¢ la COVID-19 ou non. La plupart d’entre nous ont
grandi avec ’avantage d’un systéme de santé public qui leur
offre I’accés & des soins.

Je suis trés fiere de mes collégues qui comprennent que notre
économie est étroitement liée a la santé¢ des Canadiens. Il n’y a
pas de dichotomie, comme nous le voyons dans certains autres
pays, entre la santé et I’économie. En fait, au Canada, avec mes
collégues autour de la table du Cabinet, nous sommes trés
conscients, et je dirais méme a 1’échelon provincial, que
I’économie dépend en fait de la santé des Canadiens. Levez la
main si vous voulez aller au Texas aujourd’hui. Pas moi. Les
Etats-Unis ont ajouté 34 000 nouveaux cas a leur bilan hier — et
ce ne sont que les cas dont ils ont connaissance. Cela a
évidemment un effet trés néfaste sur leur économie.

Nous croyons que pour poursuivre la réouverture de
I’économie canadienne, nous devons le faire en placant la santé
des Canadiens au centre de nos préoccupations. Tout le travail
que nous faisons pour augmenter notre capacité, pour tester, pour
retracer les contacts et pour nous assurer que les Canadiens
comprennent la nécessité de continuer a s’éloigner physiquement
et a se protéger, de porter des masques lorsqu’ils ne peuvent pas
étre physiquement ¢loignés, tout ce travail doit se poursuivre
pendant que nous rouvrons lentement et prudemment notre
économie.
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As Dr. Tam says, I have no doubt that we will experience
outbreaks, but I am increasingly comforted by the fact that we
are learning rapidly what to do when we see those outbreaks. I’'m
also comforted by the level of collaboration I’'m seeing across
the country, no matter what the political party of the leadership
at that level is, that there is a willingness to come together and
solve these very difficult challenges. Thank you.

The Chair: Thank you all for your time, your availability and
your testimony. This has been very helpful as we conclude the
first part of our study and get ready to write a preliminary report
today and Monday. This is very timely and much appreciated.

[Translation]
I thank everyone.

We are continuing our study on the government’s response to
the COVID-19 pandemic, and we are now hearing from our
witnesses for the next hour.

We are welcoming, from the Department of National Defence
and the Canadian Armed Forces, Major-General Marc Bilodeau,
Deputy Surgeon General/Director General of Clinical Services,
Canadian Forces Health Services Group, and Brigadier-General
Lise Bourgon, Director General, Operations, Canadian Joint
Operations Command.

[English]

We will begin by asking Brigadier-General Bourgon to make
her opening statement.

BGen. Lise Bourgon, Director General, Operations,
Canadian Joint Operations Command, Department of
National Defence and the Canadian Armed Forces: Thank
you very much, Madam Chair.

Madam Chair, distinguished members of the Standing Senate
Committee on Social Affairs, Science and Technology and
COVID-19, thank you very much for the invitation to discuss the
role the Canadian Armed Forces has played and the whole of
government response to the pandemic. I’'m accompanied by
MGen. Marc Bilodeau, the CAF Deputy Surgeon General. We
have both been closely involved with the planning and execution
of the CAF response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

The Canadian Armed Forces involvement and response to the
initial stage of the pandemic began under Operation GLOBE, our
military support to Global Affairs Canada in the repatriation of
Canadians outside of the country. While Global Affairs Canada
was responsible for coordinating the logistics of returning flights
during Operation GLOBE, the Canadian Forces Health Services
medical personnel on board the aircraft ensured that pre-

Comme la Dre Tam 1’a dit, je ne doute pas que nous
connaitrons des éclosions, mais je suis de plus en plus rassurée
par le fait que nous apprenons rapidement ce qu’il faut faire
lorsque nous voyons ces éclosions. Je suis également réconfortée
par le niveau de collaboration que je constate dans tout le pays,
quel que soit le parti politique qui dirige a ce niveau, qu’il y a
une volonté de faire front commun et de régler ces problémes
treés difficiles. Merci.

La présidente : Merci a vous tous de votre temps, de votre
disponibilité et de vos témoignages. Votre contribution est trés
utile & mesure que nous concluons la premiére partie de notre
étude et que nous nous préparons a rédiger un rapport
préliminaire aujourd’hui et lundi. Votre contribution arrive a
point nommeé, et nous vous en sommes trés reconnaissants.

[Frangais]
Merci a tous.

Nous poursuivons notre étude sur la réponse du gouvernement
a la pandémie de COVID-19, et nous accueillons maintenant nos
témoins pour la prochaine heure.

Nous accueillons, du ministére de la Défense nationale et les
Forces armées canadiennes, le major-général Marc Bilodeau,
médecin général adjoint/directeur général des services cliniques,
Groupe des Services de santé des Forces canadiennes, et la
brigadiére-générale Lise Bourgon, directrice  générale,
opérations, Commandement opérations interarmées du Canada.

[Traduction]

Nous allons commencer en demandant a la brigadiere-générale
Bourgon de faire sa déclaration liminaire.

Bgén Lise Bourgon, directrice générale, opérations,
Commandement opérations interarmées du Canada,
ministére de la Défense nationale et les Forces armées
canadiennes : Merci beaucoup, madame la présidente.

Madame la présidente, distingués membres du Comité
sénatorial permanent des affaires sociales, des sciences et de la
technologie et de la COVID-19, je vous remercie de votre
invitation a discuter du réle que les Forces armées canadiennes
ont joué¢ dans la réponse de I’ensemble du gouvernement a la
pandémie. Je suis accompagnée du major-général Marc
Bilodeau, le médecin général adjoint des FAC. Nous avons tous
deux été étroitement associés a la planification et a I’exécution
de la réponse des FAC a la pandémie de COVID-19.

La participation des Forces armées canadiennes aux premiéres
étapes de la pandémie a commencé dans le cadre de 1’opération
Globe, notre soutien militaire a Affaires mondiales Canada pour
le rapatriement des Canadiens qui se trouvaient a I’extérieur du
pays et qui ne pouvaient pas rentrer chez eux. Alors qu’Affaires
mondiales Canada était responsable de la coordination de la
logistique des vols de retour pendant 1’opération Globe, le
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boarding, in-flight and post-flight screening protocols, developed
in close collaboration with the Public Health Agency of Canada,
or PHAC, were followed to make the flights as safe as possible
for repatriated Canadians.

Upon arrival in Canada, the Canadian Armed Forces, in
coordination with PHAC and the Red Cross, facilitated the
quarantine period of over 870 Canadians at CFB Trenton.

As COVID-19 evolved to take on global pandemic
proportions, the CAF initiated Operation LASER, an operation
designed to protect its own members and to be able to respond
effectively to Government of Canada objectives and requests for
assistance. Task forces were made ready in each of our six Joint
Task Force regions, with ships and crews available on each
coast, an Air Task Force LASER with dispersed supporting
detachments, and additional RCAF assets on reduced notice to
move, all to support Canadians.

At its peak, 24,000 service personnel were mobilized, ready to
respond to government requests to assist Canadians across the
country. This included not only 7,000 Reservists but also 1,180
Canadian Rangers specifically on standby to support the unique
needs of our northern and Indigenous communities.

In April, the Government of Canada received requests for
assistance in managing the deteriorating situation in long-term
care homes in the provinces of Quebec and Ontario. The CAF
was tasked to provide medical and non-medical support to
COVID-afflicted long-term care facilities, or LTCFs. CAF
members received specialized training and personal protective
equipment, PPE, to ensure that they were prepared to carry out
this non-standard military task, in order to safely and effectively
support a uniquely vulnerable population.

We recognize that COVID-19 poses unique hazards for CAF
members operating in these environments. To date, we have had
55 members, 41 in Quebec and 14 in Ontario, working in LTCFs
who have tested positive for COVID-19. Of those, 49 have
recovered. None have required hospital care.

Recently, we acquired additional testing capability that allows
us to strengthen our screening processes. CAF members are now
tested prior to deployment in a long-term care facility, as well as
at the end of their post-deployment isolation. This approach
ensures that we reduce the risk of spread of the illness within the
CAF, the LTCF or within the civilian population.

personnel médical des Services de santé des Forces canadiennes
a bord des avions a veillé a ce que les protocoles de controle
avant I’embarquement, en vol et aprés le vol, ¢laborés en étroite
collaboration avec I’Agence de la santé publique du Canada,
soient suivis pour rendre les vols aussi sirs que possible pour les
Canadiens rapatriés.

A leur arrivée au Canada, les Forces armées canadiennes, en
coordination avec I’ASPC et la Croix-Rouge, ont facilité Ila
période de quarantaine de 870 Canadiens a la BFC Trenton.

Alors que la COVID-19 évoluait pour prendre les proportions
d’une pandémie mondiale, les FAC ont lancé 1’opération Laser,
dont 1’objet était de protéger leurs propres membres et d’étre en
mesure de répondre efficacement aux objectifs du gouvernement
du Canada et aux demandes d’assistance. Des groupes
opérationnels ont été¢ préparés dans chacune de nos six régions
dotées d’une force opérationnelle interarmées, avec des navires
et des équipages préts a intervenir sur chaque cdte, une force
opérationnelle aérienne Laser avec des détachements de soutien
dispersés, et des ressources supplémentaires de I’ARC sur
préavis de déplacement réduit, tout cela pour soutenir les
Canadiens.

Au pic de ’opération, 24 000 militaires ont été mobilisés,
préts a répondre aux demandes du gouvernement pour aider les
Canadiens dans tout le pays. Cela comprenait non seulement
7 000 réservistes, mais aussi 1 180 Rangers canadiens
spécifiquement en attente pour répondre aux besoins uniques de
nos communautés nordiques et autochtones.

En avril, le gouvernement du Canada a recu des demandes
d’assistance pour gérer la détérioration de la situation dans les
établissements de soins de longue durée des provinces de Québec
et de 1’Ontario. Les FAC ont été chargées de fournir un soutien
médical et non médical aux établissements de soins de longue
durée, ou ESLD, touchés par la COVID. Les membres des FAC
ont recu une formation spécialisée et des équipements de
protection individuelle pour s’assurer qu’ils étaient préts a
effectuer cette tache militaire inhabituelle, afin de soutenir
efficacement et en toute sécurité une population particulierement
vulnérable.

Nous reconnaissons que la COVID-19 présente des risques
uniques pour les membres des FAC déployés dans ces
établissements. A ce jour, 55 militaires (41 au Québec et 14 en
Ontario) travaillant dans des ESLD ont regu un résultat positif au
test de dépistage de la COVID-19. Parmi eux, 49 se sont rétablis
et aucun n’a eu besoin de soins hospitaliers.

Récemment, nous avons acquis une capacité de dépistage
supplémentaire qui nous permet de renforcer nos processus de
contrdle. Les membres des FAC sont testés avant leur
déploiement dans un établissement de soins de longue durée,
ainsi qu’a la fin de leur isolement post-déploiement. Cette
approche nous permet de réduire le risque de toute propagation
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Additionally, we have developed new tactics, techniques and
procedures regarding force health protection that will improve
CAF responses in a COVID environment. We are also acquiring
more personal protective equipment in order to ensure that we
are ready to react to any future requirements, be they pandemics,
fires or floods.

As of today, June 26, CAF support to the LTCFs in Ontario
and Quebec is drawing down. CAF continues to support one
facility in Ontario — Woodbridge — until July 3. In Quebec,
CAF teams will remain available and on call to support five
LTCFs until all the conditions have returned to green.

So far, we have provided CAF Augmented Civilian Care
teams to a total of 54 LTCFs, 47 in Quebec and 7 in Ontario,
which has helped stabilize the situations in those homes so that
the provinces have been able to resume control. We are proud of
the work that our members have done under trying conditions, at
risk to themselves. Should the government call upon us again in
this capacity, we have a contingency care task force comprised
of 10 trained, properly equipped and ready teams with associated
support troop elements, able to respond on 24-hour notice and
for as long as needed. They are currently positioned in Montreal,
and I am very confident that they can and will respond once
again, quickly, effectively and compassionately, as they have
done in the past four months.

I would like to conclude by saying that the safety, health and
well-being of our CAF members, whether on operations at home
or overseas, are always of paramount concern. To ensure the
mental well-being of our members working in the demanding
environment of Operation LASER, we have a tailored
reintegration package to bridge the gap between their LTCF
employment and home.

[Translation]

Thank you very much. Major-General Bilodeau and I are
looking forward to answering your questions.

The Chair: Thank you both very much and thank you for
joining us. I also want to thank you on behalf of all the senators.
I am thinking of all the members of the Canadian Armed Forces
and can tell you that we all have so much appreciation for the

de la maladie au sein des FAC, des ESLD ou de la population
civile.

En outre, nous avons développé de nouvelles tactiques,
techniques et procédures concernant la protection de la santé des
forces qui amélioreront les réponses des FAC dans un
environnement COVID. Nous acquérons également davantage
d’équipements de protection individuelle afin de nous assurer
que nous sommes préts a réagir a toute exigence future, qu’il
s’agisse de pandémies, d’incendies ou d’inondations.

Aujourd’hui, le 26 juin, le soutien des FAC aux ESLD en
Ontario et au Québec prendra fin, a 1’exception de I’Ontario qui
a signalé hier son intention de demander une éventuelle
prolongation du soutien & un établissement de soins en
Ontario — Woodbridge — jusqu’au 3 juillet. Au Québec, les
équipes des FAC resteront de garde et sur appel pour soutenir
cing ESLD jusqu’a ce que toutes les conditions retournent a la
normale.

A ce jour, nous avons affect¢ des équipes de soins civils
renforcés des Forces armées canadiennes dans 47 établissements
de soins de longue durée au Québec et dans 7 établissements en
Ontario, pour un total de 54 établissements. Voila qui a contribué
a y stabiliser la situation pour que les provinces puissent
reprendre le contréle. Nous sommes fiers du travail que nos
militaires ont accompli dans des conditions difficiles et en
s’exposant a des risques. Si le gouvernement fait de nouveau
appel a nous a cet égard, nous disposons d’une force
opérationnelle de soins d’urgence composée de 10 équipes
formées, correctement équipées et prétes a intervenir, avec les
¢léments de troupes de soutien associés, capables de réagir dans
un délai de 24 heures, et nous resterons aussi longtemps que
nécessaire. Ces militaires sont actuellement positionnés a
Montréal et je suis convaincu qu’ils peuvent de nouveau
intervenir rapidement, efficacement et avec compassion, comme
ils I’ont fait au cours des quatre derniers mois.

Je voudrais conclure en disant que la sécurité, la santé et le
bien-étre des membres de nos forces armées, qu’ils soient en
activité au pays ou a I’étranger, sont toujours notre principale
préoccupation. Pour assurer le bien-étre mental de nos militaires
travaillant dans le contexte trés exigeant de 1’opération LASER,
nous avons mis en place un programme de réintégration sur
mesure pour combler la période entre leur emploi dans les
établissements de soins de longue durée et leur domicile.

[Frangais]

Merci beaucoup. Le major-général Bilodeau et moi sommes
impatients de répondre a vos questions.

La présidente : Merci beaucoup a vous deux et merci d’étre
la. Merci aussi de la part de tous les sénateurs. Je pense a tous les
membres des Forces armées canadiennes et je peux vous dire que
nous apprécions tous énormément le travail que vous faites sur le
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work you do on the ground. We appreciate you being here today
to answer our questions and help us in this study.

[English]

We will proceed with questions from the senators. 1 will
remind you, as usual, you have five minutes for your questions
and answers. | will remind you even more strongly, knowing that
we have our witnesses for only the next hour, so please be
mindful of that and the time that you take in asking questions in
order to get the answers that we want.

We will begin with the deputy chair of the committee, Senator
Poirier.

Senator Poirier: Thank you both for being here today, and a
big thank you and appreciation to all the Canadian Armed Forces
members who answered the call and are, unfortunately, putting
themselves at risk of harm also.

The report that came out in May showed that the long-term
care system in Ontario is broken, and unfortunately we don’t
have the time to fix it before the second wave will probably
come upon us. Could you please advise us if you feel that you
have the human, financial and material resources you need
to answer to a second wave in the long-term care homes like the
army has done during the first wave?

BGen. Bourgon: Thank you for the question.

I think when you look at the Canadian Armed Forces, we are
the force of last resort. We have our members ready to assist as
we are asked by the Government of Canada. So indeed, we have
the personnel, we have the resources, and when we are asked to
go back to the LTCF because there is a demand, we will do it.

Senator Poirier: Okay. What was the biggest challenge that
you experienced so far with the Armed Forces in the long-term
care homes?

BGen. Bourgon: I think I’'m going to talk first and then I’ll
give the floor to General Bilodeau. I think for us, the CAF, this
was quite a different task than we have ever done before. From
the get-go, the training that we had to do, the logistics and the
coordination with the long-term care homes, so that we would
know our roles and what the requirements were, I think for us
was probably the biggest challenge because this is something
new. We are used to helping Canadians in flood and fire
situations, but that was the first time in the long-term care
homes. That was the big lesson learned for us. Marc?

terrain. Nous vous sommes reconnaissants d’étre ici aujourd’hui
pour répondre a nos questions et nous aider dans cette étude.

[Traduction]

Les sénateurs vous poseront maintenant des questions. Je vous
rappelle que, comme d’habitude, vous disposez de cinq minutes
pour les questions et les réponses, d’autant plus que nous ne
bénéficions de la présence des témoins que pour la prochaine
heure. Je vous demanderais donc de porter attention au temps
que vous prenez pour poser des questions pour que nous
puissions poser toutes celles que nous voulons.

Nous commencerons avec la vice-présidente du comité, la
sénatrice Poirier.

La sénatrice Poirier : Je vous remercie tous les deux de
témoigner aujourd’hui. J’exprime aussi toute ma gratitude a tous
les membres des Forces armées canadiennes qui ont répondu a
I’appel et qui, malheureusement, s’exposent ainsi a un risque.

Le rapport publi¢ en mai révéle les failles du réseau de soins
de longue durée de I’Ontario, des failles que nous n’avons
malheureusement pas le temps de corriger avant que la deuxieme
vague ne frappe probablement. Pourriez-vous nous indiquer si
vous jugez que vous disposez des ressources humaines,
financiéres et matérielles dont vous avez besoin pour combattre
une deuxieme vague dans les établissements de soins de longue
durée, comme 1’armée 1’a fait lors de la premiere vague?

Bgén Bourgon : Je vous remercie de poser cette question.

Je pense que les Forces armées canadiennes constituent la
force de dernier recours. Nos membres sont préts a intervenir a la
demande du gouvernement fédéral. Nous disposons
effectivement du personnel et des ressources nécessaires, et
quand on nous demandera de retourner dans les établissements
de soins de longue durée parce qu’il y a un besoin, nous nous
exécuterons.

La sénatrice Poirier : D’accord. Quel a été le plus gros défi
que les Forces armées canadiennes ont di relever jusqu’a présent
dans les établissements de soins de longue durée?

Bgén Bourgon : Je pense que je répondrai en premier, puis je
céderai la parole au général Bilodeau. Je pense que la tiche
différait de tout ce que les Forces armées canadiennes ont eu a
faire auparavant. D’entrée de jeu, le plus gros défi a consisté a
offrir la formation et & assurer la logistique et la coordination
dans les établissements de soins de longue durée pour que nous
connaissions nos roles et les besoins, car ¢’était quelque chose de
nouveau. Nous avons [I’habitude d’aider la population
canadienne lors d’inondations et d’incendies, mais c¢’était la
premiére fois que nous intervenions dans des établissements de
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Major-General Marc Bilodeau, Deputy Surgeon General /
Director General of Clinical Services, Canadian Forces
Health Services Group, Department of National Defence and
the Canadian Armed Forces: If I may add, the biggest
challenge from my perspective as a physician is that this
environment we were putting our members in was highly
infectious. It’s a very high-risk environment from that
perspective, which required a lot of preparation in order to make
sure that our members were as protected as possible in order to
protect their health, but also the health of the civilian co-workers
who were already in these homes, and most importantly the
health of the residents of those long-term care facilities.

The fact is that this type of medical task is new for us, because
obviously we have never been engaged as armed forces in long-
term care facilities before, and it required a lot of preparation
too. That was part of the training, to understand what those
health care environments were and how we could support despite
the fact that we are not experts in the field.

Senator Poirier: Thank you. I have two more short questions
so I will wrap them both together so I hope I can get them in.

First off, we had heard a lot of places where they are saying
there is a shortage of PPE equipment. I was wondering if that
was the same issue for you when you went into the Armed
Forces. Was there enough access to the PPE?

Also, during the first wave, there were just two provinces you
had to come in and help. I’'m just wondering, with the second
wave, if the need is to go to other provinces across the country,
are you equipped and ready for that? Do you have the manpower
for that?

BGen. Bourgon: I'll start the question on the PPE. From the
PPE perspective, there are always two kinds — the medical PPE
and the non-medical PPE. Initially, before this crisis started, the
PPE was left at the discretion of the regional, so each of our
bases and wings were responsible for the procurement of their
equipment. With the COVID-19 crisis, we quickly realized as a
whole of government that there was not enough PPE available.
So PHAC and PSPC took control of the procurement process for
all the federal agencies, and they are coordinating a major buy,
which they have already done. The equipment is starting to come
in slowly.

soins de longue durée. C’est le principal enseignement que nous
avons tiré de I’expérience. Major-général Bilodeau, voulez-vous
intervenir?

Major-général Marc Bilodeau, médecin général adjoint /
directeur général des services cliniques, Groupe des Services
de santé des Forces canadiennes : J’ajouterais qu’a titre de
médecin, le plus gros défi venait du fait que le milieu dans lequel
nos membres étaient a 1’ceuvre était hautement infectieux. Le
milieu posant un risque élevé, nous avons di faire moult
préparations pour nous assurer que nos membres étaient aussi
protégés que possible afin de protéger leur santé, celle de leurs
collégues civils qui €taient déja en poste dans les établissements
et, surtout, celle des résidants qui y étaient hébergés.

Le fait est que ce genre de tiche d’ordre médical était nouvelle
pour nous, car nous n’avions manifestement jamais affecté de
membres des forces armées dans des établissements de soins de
longue durée auparavant. Voila qui a exigé beaucoup de
préparations également. La formation a notamment consisté a
comprendre la nature des milieux de soins de santé et la manicre
dont nous pouvions apporter de 1’aide malgré le fait que nous
n’étions pas experts en la matiere.

La sénatrice Poirier : Je vous remercie. J’ai deux autres
bréves questions, que je formulerai ensemble dans 1’espoir de
pouvoir les poser.

D’abord, nous avons entendu dire qu’une pénurie
d’équipement de protection individuelle, ou EPI, sévissait a bien
des endroits. Je me demande si les Forces armées canadiennes
ont été confrontées au méme probléme. Disposiez-vous d’EPI en
quantité suffisante?

De plus, lors de la premiére vague, vous n’étes intervenus que
dans deux provinces. Si vous devez intervenir dans d’autres
provinces du pays lors de la deuxiéme vague, tes-vous équipés
pour le faire? Etes-vous préts & agir? Disposez-vous de I’effectif
nécessaire?

Bgén Bourgon : Je commencerai avec la question sur I’EPI.
Cet équipement comprend toujours deux genres de fournitures:
I’équipement médical et non médical. Initialement, avant que la
crise ne frappe, I’EPI était laissé a la discrétion des régions. 11
incombait donc a chacune de nos bases et de nos escadres de
s’approvisionner en EPI. Avec la crise de la COVID-19, nous
avons rapidement constaté que 1’ensemble du gouvernement ne
disposait pas d’EPI en quantité suffisante. L’Agence de la santé
publique du Canada et Services publics et Approvisionnement
Canada ont donc pris le controle du processus
d’approvisionnement  pour 1’ensemble des organismes
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For us on a non-medical piece, what is super important for us
is the gloves and the masks. The big procurement, as I said, that
was done, of course, is coming from China. It has been delayed a
bit, but we are strongly confident that it will arrive in the
summer, so that in the event that there is, indeed, a second wave,
we will have the right equipment so that we can do the job.

I’ll give the floor to Marc on the medical stuff, and then I’ll
come back with what we can do for the provinces in the future.

MGen. Bilodeau: In addition to the gloves and non-surgical
masks for health care professionals, what we need are N95
masks. I’'m sure you have heard about that. This is a resource
that is hard to procure now as we speak. But also, the gowns as
well as some face shields. This is additional equipment that we
initially had challenges in procuring, but now we’re in a better
position and are starting to build up our stockpile that will allow
us to be prepared for potential additional requests. Back to you,
Lise.

BGen. Bourgon: For the helping of the other provinces, we
have a finite amount of medical personnel. The Canadian Armed
Forces only have the medical personnel that we need to take care
of ourselves and also for our deployed operations, so we don’t
have a lot of medical people. Of course, if another crisis comes
and we need to support more provinces, we’ll have to prioritize.
If all our people are going to be again as a force of last resort, we
will get all our personnel and we’ll put our teams together, but
then there will have to be, at the federal level, kind of a
prioritization so that we can ensure that the critical facilities in
the provinces are supported as best we can with the resources
that we have.

Senator Poirier: Thank you very much. Again, thank you for
all that you do for us and the country. Greatly appreciate you
guys. Thank you.

Senator Griffin: I had a couple of brilliant questions to ask,
but the material has already been covered, so I will pass, with
thanks.

Senator Moodie: Thank you to the witnesses today.

My questions are focused around your experience and a little
bit around the supports you needed while you were in the role of
supporting the long-term care homes. In terms of the exposure
that your members had, can you give us a sense of how many

gouvernementaux afin de coordonner un achat de masse, qui a
déja été effectué. L’équipement commence lentement a arriver.

En ce qui concerne le matériel non médical, ce sont les gants
et les masques qui sont trés importants pour nous. La commande
de masse qui, comme je 1’ai indiqué, a été effectuée vient de
Chine. Elle a été légérement retardée, mais nous sommes
convaincus qu’elle arrivera au cours de 1’été. Ainsi, si une
deuxiéme vague frappe, nous disposerons de 1’équipement
nécessaire pour faire le travail.

Je laisserai au major-général Bilodeau le soin de traiter de
I’aspect médical, puis je vous dirai ce que nous pourrons faire
pour les provinces dans 1’avenir.

Mgén Bilodeau : Outre les gants et les masques non
chirurgicaux destinés aux professionnels des soins de santé, nous
avons besoin de masques N95. Je suis certain que vous en avez
entendu parler. 11 s’agit d’une ressource difficile a obtenir
actuellement. Nous avons aussi besoin de blouses et d’écrans
faciaux, de 1’équipement initialement difficile a obtenir. Nous
sommes maintenant dans une meilleure position et nous
commengons a constituer des réserves qui nous permettront
d’étre préts en cas de demandes supplémentaires potentielles. Je
vous rends la parole, brigadiére-générale Bourgon.

Bgén Bourgon : Pour ce qui est d’aider les autres provinces,
nous disposons d’un nombre limité d’employés médicaux. Les
Forces armées canadiennes employant seulement le personnel
médical dont elles ont besoin pour prendre soin de leur effectif et
pour participer aux opérations en déploiement, nous n’avons pas
beaucoup d’employés médicaux. Bien entendu, si une autre crise
survient et que nous devons aider plus de provinces, nous
devrons établir des priorités. Si tous nos membres agissent de
nouveau a titre de force de dernier recours, nous affecterons tout
notre personnel et nous formerons nos équipes, mais le
gouvernement fédéral devra établir certaines priorités pour que
nous puissions aider les installations essentielles des provinces
de notre mieux avec les ressources dont nous disposons.

La sénatrice Poirier : Je vous remercie beaucoup. Une fois
encore, je vous remercie tous de ce que vous faites pour nous et
pour le pays. Nous vous en sommes trés reconnaissants. Merci.

La sénatrice Griffin : J’avais quelques questions brillantes a
poser, mais la matiére a déja été couverte. Je passerai donc mon
tour, en vous remerciant.

La sénatrice Moodie : Je remercie les

comparaissent aujourd’hui.

témoins qui

Mes questions portent sur votre expérience et un peu sur le
soutien dont vous avez eu besoin quand vous prétiez main-forte
dans les établissements de soins de longue durée. En ce qui
concerne 1’exposition de vos membres, pouvez-vous nous donner
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were infected themselves by COVID-19? Was there transmission
to any member of staff in the military?

Secondly, what did you do and how did you approach testing?
Was that something that was done by you as a separate
organization, or were you tested within the context of the homes
in which you worked?

I think the third question has to do with how you operated and
what you saw as the supports that were present. Did you carry
your own medical staff into each home, or were you reliant on
the medical staff that existed within the homes? And to what
extent did you feel there was a deficiency of support from
medical staff within the homes? Thank you.

MGen. Bilodeau: As we mentioned during the opening
remarks, we had 55 of our members who became infected while
working in long-term care facilities. All of those members,
except five, have fully recovered. The others are recovering now,
and none of them required hospital care. So overall, that was a
benign disease for them.

We are not tracking any secondary infection from those
members, which means that after we identified that they were
positive or that they were sick, they were quickly put in
isolation. Obviously, they recovered and are isolating from
others to avoid others becoming infected.

Of note, 40% of those were asymptomatic, which means that
they were tested, because there was a testing regime within the
long-term care facilities trying to screen out people and identify
those asymptomatic carriers that could be the source of an
uncontrollable outbreak. That’s one of the ways that some of our
members were tested.

The other mechanism we have in place is we had a clinic
supporting each of those missions, one in Toronto and another in
Saint-Jean, Quebec. If our members had any symptoms, they
were by themselves, away from that long-term care facility, and
they would seek medical care at our clinics, where we were able
to get a sample from them and send the sample to a civilian lab
in order to get a diagnosis. That’s how we were able to diagnose
the different members who were positive initially.

Now we have a more proactive testing system. Initially we
didn’t have access to other tests except the ones from the civilian
health care system. Now we have a contract with a private lab
that is allowing us to be more proactive. Before a member goes
into a new facility, we’re able to test them in order to make sure
they were not an asymptomatic carrier who could bring the
disease into the facility.

un aper¢u du nombre de membres qui ont eux-mémes été
infectés par la COVID-19? Le virus a-t-il été transmis a d’autres
membres des forces armées?

De plus, qu’avez-vous fait et quelle approche avez-vous
adoptée au chapitre de la détection? Avez-vous effectué les tests
vous-méme & titre d’organisation distincte ou avez-vous été
testés dans les établissements ou vous travailliez?

Je pense que la troisiéme question concerne la maniére dont
vous avez fonctionné et le soutien qui était offert. Avez-vous
dépéché votre propre personnel médical dans chaque
établissement ou vous étes-vous fi€s a celui qui y était en poste?
Dans quelle mesure considérez-vous que le soutien offert par le
personnel médical travaillant dans ces ¢établissements était
lacunaire? Je vous remercie.

Mgén Bilodeau : Comme nous ’avons indiqué lors de notre
exposé, 55 membres ont été infectés alors qu’ils travaillaient
dans des établissements de soins de longue durée. Tous, a
I’exception de cinq d’entre eux, se sont entiérement rétablis. Les
autres sont en train de se remettre, et aucun d’entre eux n’a
besoin de soins hospitaliers. Dans 1’ensemble, donc, la maladie
s’est avérée bénigne dans leur cas.

Nous ne cherchons pas les infections secondaires qu’ils
pourraient avoir provoquées, car dés que nous avons su qu’ils
avaient été déclarés positifs ou qu’ils étaient malades, nous les
avons rapidement mis en isolement. Ils se sont manifestement
rétablis et sont isolés des autres membres pour éviter que
d’autres personnes ne soient infectées.

Sachez que 40 % d’entre eux étaient asymptomatiques, ce qui
signifie qu’ils ont subi un test parce qu’un régime de dépistage
était en place dans les établissements pour tenter de tester les
gens et de déceler les porteurs asymptomatiques qui pourraient
étre la source d’une éclosion incontrolable. C’est ainsi que
certains de nos membres ont subi un test.

En outre, nous avons instauré¢ une clinique afin d’appuyer
chacune des missions, ’une se trouvant a Toronto et I’autre a
Saint-Jean, au Québec. Si I’'un de nos membres présentait des
symptomes, il était isolé et ¢loigné de 1’établissement de soins de
longue durée, et il devait se présenter a nos cliniques, ou nous
pouvions prélever un échantillon pour 1’envoyer a un laboratoire
civil afin d’obtenir un diagnostic. C’est ainsi que nous avons pu
diagnostiquer initialement les membres qui ont été déclarés
positifs.

Nous disposons maintenant d’un régime de dépistage plus
proactif. Initialement, nous n’avions pas acceés a d’autres tests
que ceux du réseau de soins de santé civil. Un contrat nous lie
maintenant a un laboratoire privé, ce qui nous permet d’étre plus
proactifs. Avant qu’un membre ne se présente dans un nouvel
établissement, nous pouvons le soumettre a un test pour étre
certains qu’il ne s’agit pas d’un porteur asymptomatique qui
pourrait introduire la maladie dans 1’établissement.
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We also have a process to test them at the end of the mission,
once they have done their 14 days of isolation, before bringing
them back home. This way, we can make sure they’re not
making anybody sick in their home or their workplace.

Regarding your question on the support to the medical staff in
the facility, we brought nurses and medical technicians who were
carrying out the role of the personal support workers in the long-
term care facilities. We felt this was the biggest contribution,
which was requested by the provinces we supported. There was
no requirement for physicians in the nursing homes.

In addition, there was some non-medical staff who were there
to support more logistical tasks and cleaning tasks and other
similar types of tasks.

BGen. Bourgon: As soon as our CAF members deployed,
they deployed with a reconnaissance team. They would meet
with the facilities and establish the needs. The CAF contribution
depended on the requirements on the ground. As Marc said, there
were nursing personal support workers and also the traditional
soldiers who carried out other duties as there was a requirement
on the ground. Each facility had the same structure, but it
depended on the demand on the ground, and we targeted specific
requests and requirements.

Senator Moodie: To be clear, I’'m hearing from you that at no
point did you feel there was a deficiency in medical support you
encountered within the settings and in fact what you provided
was needed?

MGen. Bilodeau: We need to define “medical support.”

Senator Moodie: I mean a physician available to ask a
question or provide support on standards, or isolation standards
or anything like that.

MGen. Bilodeau: There was some mention in the Ontario
report that there were some challenges in reaching out to some
physicians in some of the long-term care homes. This hasn’t
been a systemic issue from our perspective. These were
anecdotal findings that were part of our report and were
communicated to the province. I’'m not tracking that this was a
systemic issue, though, in most of the long-term care homes.

Senator Moodie: Thank you.

Senator Munson: Thank you for your service to our great
country.

Was it voluntary or mandatory for the military services to go
into these homes?

Les membres subissent aussi un test a la fin de la mission,
apres les 14 jours d’isolement et avant qu’ils ne rentrent chez
eux. Nous pouvons ainsi nous assurer qu’ils ne rendent personne
malade quand ils retournent a la maison ou a leur lieu de travail.

En ce qui concerne votre question sur le soutien offert au
personnel médical dans les établissements de soins de longue
durée, nous avons affecté des infirmiers et des techniciens
médicaux qui y ont agi a titre de préposés aux services de soutien
a la personne. Nous considérons qu’il s’agit de notre contribution
la plus importante, une contribution réclamée par les provinces
que nous avons aidées. Il n’a pas été nécessaire d’affecter de
médecins dans ces établissements.

En outre, du personnel non médical était en poste pour se
charger de la logistique, des taches ménagéres et d’autres
fonctions semblables.

Bgén Bourgon : Dés que les membres des Forces armées
canadiennes étaient déployés, ils étaient accompagnés par une
équipe de reconnaissance. Ils se rencontraient dans les
établissements afin de déterminer les besoins. La contribution
des Forces armées canadiennes dépendait des besoins observés
sur place. Comme le major-général Bilodeau 1’a souligné, des
préposés aux services de soutien et de soin et des soldats
traditionnels se chargeaient d’autres taches, selon les besoins sur
place. La structure était la méme dans chaque établissement,
mais elle dépendait des besoins sur place, et nous avons ciblé des
demandes et des besoins précis.

La sénatrice Moodie : En clair, vous nous dites que vous
n’avez jamais eu l’impression que le soutien médical était
lacunaire et qu’en fait, vous avez fourni le nécessaire.

Mgén Bilodeau : II faudrait définir en quoi consiste le
« soutien médical ».

La sénatrice Moodie : Je fais référence a un médecin a qui
poser une question ou pouvant offrir de I’aide au sujet des
normes, a des normes en matiére d’isolement ou a quelque chose
de semblable.

Mgén Bilodeau : Le rapport sur 1’Ontario indique qu’il a
parfois été difficile de joindre des médecins dans certains
établissements de soins de longue durée, mais nous ne
considérons pas que ce soit un probléme systémique. Le rapport
comprend quelques constats, qui ont ¢ét¢é communiqués a la
province. Je ne pense pas, toutefois, que ce soit un probléme
systémique dans la plupart des établissements.

La sénatrice Moodie : Je vous remercie.

Le sénateur Munson : Je vous remercie des services que
vous rendez a notre merveilleux pays.

Les affectations dans les établissements de soins de longue
durée étaient-elles volontaires ou obligatoires?
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BGen. Bourgon: Senator, we are soldiers, so we take orders
very well. It’s not a volunteer basis. This is part of our duties and
assignment. The soldiers were chosen. They were available and
they were deployed because that’s what Canadians needed.
That’s our job.

Senator Munson: It’s good to hear that.

The committee did not hear from the owners of the privately
regulated nursing home sector. With military intervention to
assist nursing homes in the state of crisis, you have your first-
hand experience. To what extent did the private sector differ
from the public one? Which one was worse?

MGen. Bilodeau: It’s hard for us to comment on that because
we have only been exposed to a sample of all the long-term care
homes in Quebec and Ontario. There is really no way for us to
make a conclusive statement regarding the status of private and
public long-term care homes.

The homes we attended were all initially in very bad shape
when we arrived, and we were able to provide some support.
There were private and public long-term care homes on that list.

BGen. Bourgon: The soldiers were given orders to support,
but what I really wanted to point out in my previous answer is
they were so proud of doing the job and helping the residents.
All of them, after and even as they were still doing the job, are
extremely proud. Their experience was extremely valuable, and
they have all loved their time in residence. So yes, they did it
because they were ordered to do it, but they are feeling good
about it.

Senator Munson: I appreciate that very much. When I was a
reporter some time ago, I was asked to go to Chernobyl and I
wasn’t forced to, but I had said no. Covering other stories when
you can actually see something in war zones, you go and you
cover them and you have to do them. Sometimes when you can’t
see what the disease may be, for some individuals there could be
a bit of fear when walking into that environment. I asked it and I
expected your answer, but I think it’s just good to know that our
soldiers are on the front line in that regard.

We have heard in these discussions with Dr. Theresa Tam and
others about amending the Canada Health Act to cover
regulation and the needs of long-term care homes. From what
you saw in your interventions into 30 of these long-term care
homes in Ontario and Quebec — I know you’re public servants,
but you’ve seen everything — do you support an amendment to
the Canada Health Act to cover regulations in these homes?

Bgén Bourgon : Sénateurs, a titre de soldats, nous acceptons
trés bien les ordres. Les affectations n’étaient pas volontaires,
mais faisaient partie de nos devoirs et de la mission. Les soldats
ont été choisis. Ils étaient disponibles et ont été déployés parce
que les Canadiens avaient besoin d’aide. C’est notre travail.

Le sénateur Munson : C’est bon a entendre.

Le comité n’a pas entendu de propriétaires du secteur des
établissements privés de soins de santé réglementés. Comme les
forces armées sont intervenues pour aider les établissements de
soins en état de crise, vous possédez une expérience de premiére
main. Dans quelle mesure le secteur privé différe-t-il du secteur
public? Lequel est le pire?

Mgén Bilodeau : Nous pouvons difficilement nous prononcer
sur la question, car nous ne sommes intervenus que dans un
échantillon d’établissements de soins de longue durée du Québec
et de I’Ontario. Nous ne pouvons donc vraiment pas faire de
déclaration concluante sur le statut des établissements privés et
publics.

Initialement, les établissements ou nous sommes intervenus
étaient tous en trés mauvaise posture quand nous sommes
arrivés, et nous avons été en mesure de leur offrir un certain
soutien. La liste comprend des établissements tant privés que
publics.

Bgén Bourgon : Les soldats avaient comme ordre d’apporter
de 1’aide, mais ce que je voulais souligner lors de ma réponse
précédente, c’est le fait qu’ils étaient extrémement fiers de le
faire et d’aider les résidants. Ils étaient tous extrémement fiers
aprés leur mission et méme lorsqu’ils étaient encore a I’ceuvre.
Leur expérience s’est avérée trés précieuse, et ils ont tous adoré
le temps qu’ils ont passé dans les résidences. Alors oui, ils sont
intervenus parce qu’ils avaient regu 1’ordre de le faire, mais ils
en tirent une immense gratification.

Le sénateur Munson : Je vous remercie beaucoup de ces
observations. Quand j’étais journaliste, il y a un certain temps,
on m’a demandé d’aller a Tchernobyl. Je n’étais pas obligé
d’accepter et j’ai décliné 1’offre, préférant traiter d’autres
affaires, me rendant dans des zones de guerre pour voir ce qu’il
se passe et écrire sur le sujet. Parfois, quand la maladie est
invisible, certains peuvent éprouver quelques craintes quand ils
arrivent dans le milieu. Je vous ai interrogé a ce sujet et je
m’attendais a votre réponse, mais je pense qu’il est bon de savoir
que nos soldats sont aux premieres lignes de la lutte contre la
COVID.

La Dre Theresa Tam et d’autres témoins ont proposé de
modifier la Loi canadienne sur la santé afin d’assurer la
réglementation et de combler les besoins des établissements de
soins de longue durée. D’aprées ce que vous avez observé dans 30
établissements de soins de longue durée de 1’Ontario et du
Québec — je sais que vous &tes fonctionnaires, mais vous avez
tout vu —, étes-vous favorables a une modification de la Loi
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From the perspective of many, the lack of regulation has left us
where we are today, with 80% of the infections inside these
nursing homes.

MGen. Bilodeau: It is obviously outside of my role to
comment on that. All I can say is we were called to do a mission.
We brought all of our energy into that mission, and we delivered
on that mission.

Senator Munson: I know you have a uniform on and I respect
that, but from what you saw, do you think there needs to be
improvement, through regulation or whatever, in nursing homes
across this country so that soldiers don’t have to be called into
this kind of environment? Soldiers are made to defend our
country and, of course, engage in other activities.

MGen. Bilodeau: We all agree there is room for
improvement, of course, because the fact that the CAF has been
called to support shows that there were issues.

I’'m confident, though, through our engagement with the two
provinces, that they are fully tracking the requirement to improve
what they had and that they have a good plan to move forward
with that.

Senator Munson: Thank you.
[Translation]

The Chair: Thank you very much for those answers to
questions that are not easy.

[English]

It’s very helpful for us, but it’s not always easy for the
witnesses and we appreciate it.

[Translation]

Senator Forest-Niesing: I thank the witnesses for joining us.
I will continue along the same lines as Senator Munson. I would
like to put a question to you about the issues you mentioned in
the reports produced for Quebec and Ontario.

If it was determined that there were also issues in the
territories and in other provinces, what do you think the federal
government’s role should be toward what would [Technical
difficulties] in terms of long-term care across the country?

MGen. Bilodeau: This question goes well beyond the role of
the Canadian Armed Forces. It is difficult for us to comment on
it more specifically. It is clear that the issues we have identified

canadienne sur la santé afin de réglementer ces établissements?
Nombreux sont ceux qui considérent que c’est I’absence de
réglementation qui nous a menés la ou nous en sommes
aujourd’hui, avec 80 % des infections répertoriées dans ces
établissements de soins.

Mgén Bilodeau : Il ne m’appartient manifestement pas de me
prononcer sur la question. Tout ce que je puis dire, c’est qu’on
nous a confié une mission, dans laquelle nous avons investi toute
notre énergie et que nous avons menée a bien.

Le sénateur Munson : Je sais que vous portez ’uniforme et
je le respecte, mais d’aprés ce que vous avez observé,
considérez-vous qu’il faille apporter des améliorations dans les
établissements de soins du pays en imposant une réglementation
ou en prenant d’autres mesures pour qu’il ne soit plus nécessaire
d’y dépécher des soldats? Ces derniers sont faits pour défendre
notre pays et pour prendre part a d’autres activités, bien entendu.

Mgén Bilodeau : Nous convenons tous qu’il y a place a
amélioration, bien entendu, puisque le fait que les Forces armées
canadiennes ont di étre appelées en renfort montre qu’il y avait
des problémes.

Je considére toutefois que grace a notre collaboration avec les
deux provinces, ces derniéres s’emploient a cerner entiérement
les besoins pour améliorer les services et disposent d’un bon plan
a cet égard.

Le sénateur Munson : Je vous remercie.
[Frangais)

La présidente : Merci beaucoup pour ces réponses a des
questions qui ne sont pas faciles.

[Traduction]

Elles nous aident beaucoup, mais elles ne sont pas toujours
faciles pour les témoins, et nous le comprenons.

[Frangais]

La sénatrice Forest-Niesing : Merci aux témoins d’étre
parmi nous. Je vais poursuivre sur la méme lancée que le
sénateur Munson. J’aimerais vous poser une question au sujet
des problémes dont vous faites état dans les rapports qui ont été
produits a I’intention du Québec et de 1’Ontario.

Si I’on constatait qu’il y avait aussi des problémes dans les
territoires et dans les autres provinces, quel devrait étre, selon
vous, le role du gouvernement fédéral face a ce qui serait
[Difficultés techniques] en ce qui a trait aux soins de longue
durée partout a travers le pays?

Mgén Bilodeau : Cette question va bien au-dela du role des
Forces armées canadiennes. C’est difficile pour nous de faire des
commentaires la-dessus plus spécifiquement. Il est clair que les
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must be used as lessons for other provinces, and we hope they
will be communicated to the institutions in order to better protect
them against a potential second wave.

Senator Forest-Niesing: Thank you, I do realize that my
question was fairly broad and that it is difficult to answer it.

I have a question about issuing a call for innovation to find
solutions to the main challenges Canada must face alongside an
upfront financial commitment of $15 million.

Can you describe to us the initiative to seek out innovative
ideas to address the challenges Canada is facing during the
pandemic? What departments and organizations are collaborating
on that initiative?

MGen. Bilodeau: I cannot tell you exactly what departments
and organizations are collaborating on it.

We have heard of various investment opportunities stemming
from those programs, and that enabled us to create a list of
medical priorities in terms of research areas that could benefit us.

Anything to do with infection control, including personal
protection equipment, is an important area of research. There are
many things we still don’t know about this virus, and I think that
the more we learn about how to protect people — be they health
professionals, patients or the general public — the better of a
position we will be in to reduce the morbidity of this disease
over the next few years. Vaccine development and developing
specific therapies against the virus are worthwhile areas of
research.

As for National Defence, our mandate is unique and different.
What we must study more is how we can continue to operate as a
military organization in a highly infectious environment, such as
the COVID-19 environment, and how we can continue to carry
out international operations and domestic training on our various
bases in a safe environment.

I think that will be our research objective: to determine how
we can protect our troops while continuing our missions.

BGen. Bourgon: During the pandemic, we have learned many
good lessons when it comes to residences, but also when it
comes to operations. We are now working with Zoom; that is
something we would have never thought about before Christmas.
So we have not had any choice but to adapt because of the

problémes que nous avons identifiés doivent étre des lecons pour
d’autres  provinces, et nous espérons qu’elles seront
communiquées aux institutions de facon a mieux les protéger
contre une deuxiéme vague potentielle.

La sénatrice Forest-Niesing : Merci, je me rends bien
compte que ma question était assez large et qu’il est difficile d’y
répondre.

J’aurais une question sur le lancement d’un appel a
I’innovation pour trouver des solutions aux principaux défis
auxquels le Canada doit faire face, et ce, parallélement a un
engagement financier initial de 15 millions de dollars.

Pouvez-vous nous décrire I’initiative qui vise a solliciter des
idées novatrices pour relever ces défis auxquels fait face le
Canada pendant la pandémie? Quels ministéres et organismes
collaborent a cette initiative?

Mgén Bilodeau : Je ne peux pas vous dire exactement quels
ministéres et organismes y collaborent.

Nous avons eu vent, de notre coté, des différentes occasions
d’investissements résultant de ces programmes, et cela nous a
permis de créer une liste de priorités du point de vue médical
pour ce qui est des zones de recherche qui pourraient nous étre
bénéfiques.

Tout ce qui touche la prévention des infections, y compris
I’équipement de protection individuel, est une zone de recherche
importante. Il y a beaucoup de choses qu’on ne connait pas
encore sur ce virus, et je pense que plus on va apprendre des
choses sur la fagon de protéger les gens, que ce soit les
professionnels de la santé, les patients ou les gens du public,
mieux on sera en position de réduire la morbidité de cette
maladie au cours des prochaines années. Le développement de
vaccins et la mise au point de thérapies spécifiques contre le
virus représentent des zones de recherche intéressantes.

Pour ce qui est de la Défense nationale, notre mandat est
unique et différent. Ce qu’on doit étudier davantage, c’est de voir
comment on peut réussir a fonctionner comme organisation
militaire dans un milieu hautement infectieux, comme celui de la
COVID-19, et comment on peut continuer de mener des
opérations internationales et des entralnements au pays sur nos
différentes bases dans un environnement sir.

Je crois que ce sera la notre objectif de recherche, c’est-a-dire
de déterminer comment nous pouvons protéger nos troupes tout
en poursuivant nos missions.

Bgén Bourgon : Durant la pandémie, nous avons tiré
beaucoup de bonnes lecons du c6té des résidences, mais aussi du
cOté des opérations. Nous travaillons maintenant avec Zoom;
c’est quelque chose que nous n’aurions jamais pensé faire avant

3

Noél. Donc, nous n’avons pas eu le choix de nous adapter a
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pandemic. I think that has opened a Pandora’s box and that the
way we operate in everyday life will change a lot.

This situation makes us think differently, and we will continue
to move ahead by thinking differently.

Senator Forest-Niesing: Thank you.
[English]

Senator Kutcher: Thank you for your service and also for
being with us here today. Thank you for the tremendous work
that you did by stepping into the breach when it was so
desperately needed.

I understand that the Forces were deployed to both public and
private facilities. That’s correct? My understanding is correct?
Thank you. With deployment to the private facilities, are you
recovering all your costs for assisting in private health care?

BGen. Bourgon: When we do requests for assistance, the cost
recovery is at the Minister of National Defence and at our DM
perspective. So at this point right now, we are tallying the costs
of the spending and the manpower and the equipment, but this is
way above our pay grade. That is a discussion that will have to
be at the Minister of National Defence and our DM for cost
recovery and federal help and all that stuff. We’re not going to
go there.

Senator Kutcher: Can we ask, then, that we get that
question answered for this committee so we will see if we have
cost recovery for taxpayer dollars used for private health care?

The Chair: Yes, we can.
Senator Kutcher: Thank you.

What has been the impact of providing health care services to
long-term care facilities on the health care needs of the armed
forces personnel? Was there a loss of capacity to provide for
health care for the forces?

MGen. Bilodeau: This has been a challenge for us because
we obviously have a limited amount of health care professionals
working in the Armed Forces. This has required basically an all-
hands-on-deck, if you will, approach in order to support that
many long-term care facilities.

cause de la pandémie; je crois que cela a ouvert une boite de
Pandore et que notre maniére de fonctionner dans la vie de tous
les jours va beaucoup changer.

Cette situation nous a amenés a penser différemment, et nous
allons continuer d’aller de 1’avant en pensant d’une maniére
différente.

La sénatrice Forest-Niesing : Merci.
[Traduction]

Le sénateur Kutcher : Je vous remercie des services que
vous rendez au pays et de témoigner devant nous aujourd’hui. Je
vous sais gré du travail colossal que vous avez accompli en
montant au combat alors qu’il fallait si désespérément le faire.

Je crois comprendre que les forces ont été déployées dans des
établissements tant publics que privés. Est-ce exact? Est-ce que
je comprends bien? Je vous remercie. En ce qui concerne le
déploiement dans les établissements privés, recouvrez-vous
I’entiéreté des colts des soins de santé que vous y avez
prodigués?

Bgén Bourgon : Quand nous répondons a des demandes
d’aide, ce sont le ministre de la Défense nationale et notre sous-
ministre qui se chargent du recouvrement des colts. Pour le
moment, nous dressons la liste des colits relatifs aux dépenses, a
la main-d’ceuvre et a 1’équipement, mais la question reléve
d’instances de loin supérieures a nous. C’est avec le ministre de
la Défense nationale et notre sous-ministre qu’il faudra discuter
du recouvrement des colts, de ’aide fédérale et de tout cela.
Nous ne nous engagerons pas dans cette discussion.

Le sénateur Kutcher : Pouvons-nous alors demander que le
comité obtienne une réponse a cette question pour que nous
sachions si nous récupérons 1’argent des contribuables utilisé
pour les soins de santé privés?

La présidente : Oui, nous le pouvons.
Le sénateur Kutcher : Je vous remercie.

Quelles répercussions les services de soins de santé prodigués
dans les établissements de soins de longue durée ont-ils eues sur
les besoins en soins de santé du personnel des forces armées? La
capacité de fournir des soins de santé aux forces s’en est-elle
trouvée amoindrie?

Mgén Bilodeau : La situation a été difficile pour nous, car le
nombre de professionnels des soins de santé travaillant au sein
des forces armées est évidemment limité. Il a essentiellement
fallu que tout le monde mette 1’épaule a la roue, si 1’on peut dire,
afin de venir en aide a un aussi grand nombre d’établissements
de soins de longue durée.
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It took place at a time, though, when most of the society was
shut down, as you know — I’m sure you’ve all been a victim of
that — where there was a decrease in not necessarily the needs
but a decrease in the demand for health care. This hasn’t been
unique to the Armed Forces. This has been seen in all of society.
There has been a decrease in demand for ambulatory type of
care, for family medicine type of care. Many physicians in the
country were available but not busy because people were not
showing up, either because they were not comfortable with the
virtual approach or because the clinics were just not accessible to
them because of the lockdown.

Obviously we haven’t seen that increase in demand, which
doesn’t mean that there was no increase in distress. We’re
expecting that there might be a demand that will increase now
that the societal public health measures are relaxed, and we’re
ramping up our teams, our health care teams. We have medical
professionals working in 37 different locations in the country to
provide primary care but also mental health care, and we’re
setting them up, having them ready with virtual care settings but
also physical setting meeting the public health restrictions —

Senator Kutcher: Excuse me, Major-General. That’s good to
hear, but it would have been very hard for you to predict a 40%
drop or whatever the percent drop would have been for demand.
Yet you deployed Canadian Armed Forces without knowing that
you could easily meet the demand for care from the Armed
Forces. That’s what I understand.

I have another question. Had there been need for deployment
overseas, could you have deployed the necessary health
personnel to do that?

BGen. Bourgon: When we were asked to support the LTCF,
we looked at the capacity that we had, with what we had to
support outside Canada and within Canada. We took everybody
that was available to support, and we directed them to the
support concept with the LTCF. We took a little bit of risk in our
own clinic with the day-to-day routine checks that were not
happening. But at the end, it’s a question of the Government of
Canada was asking CAF to help citizens and Canadians, and we
took all the resources and got the job done.

Senator Kutcher: I’m not criticizing you at all for doing what
you did. Thank God that you did what you did. I’'m just
concerned that you may have inadvertently, by responding to
these needs, not met the needs of our own Canadian Armed
Forces, and had a deployment necessity occurred, gosh knows
we can’t predict that, whether that would have put our own
troops at risk.

Cela s’est toutefois produit a un moment ou la société était en
grande partie a 1’arrét — comme vous le savez pour avoir
certainement été tous victimes de la situation —, a un moment
ou ce ne sont pas nécessairement les besoins, mais la demande
en soins de santé qui diminuait. Le phénoméne ne s’est pas
limité aux forces armées et s’est observé dans 1’ensemble de la
société. La demande en soins ambulatoires et en médecine
familiale a décru. De nombreux médecins du pays étaient
disponibles, mais n’étaient pas occupés parce que les gens ne les
consultaient pas, soit parce qu’ils n’étaient pas a 1’aise avec
I’approche virtuelle, soit parce que les cliniques ne leur étaient
pas accessibles en raison du confinement.

De toute évidence, nous n’avons pas observé d’augmentation
de la demande, ce qui ne signifie pas que la détresse n’a pas
augmenté. Nous nous attendons a ce que la demande augmente
maintenant que les mesures sociétales de santé publique ont été
assouplies, et nous renfor¢ons nos équipes, notamment dans le
domaine des soins de santé. Nous avons des professionnels des
soins de santé en poste & 37 endroits au pays afin de fournir des
soins primaires et des soins de santé mentale, et nous sommes en
train de les équiper afin d’offrir des services virtuels et des
services en personne respectant les restrictions de santé
publique...

Le sénateur Kutcher : Pardonnez-moi, major-général. C’est
bon a entendre, mais il aurait été trés difficile de prévoir une
diminution de 40 % ou d’un autre pourcentage de la demande.
Pourtant, vous avez déploy¢ les Forces armées canadiennes sans
savoir que vous pourriez aisément combler la demande des
forces armées. C’est ce que je comprends.

J’ai une autre question. Si vous aviez di intervenir a
1’étranger, auriez-vous pu déployer le personnel de soins de santé
nécessaire pour le faire?

Bgén Bourgon : Quand on nous a demandé d’aider les
établissements de soins de longue durée, nous avons examiné la
capacité dont nous disposions en tenant compte des activités que
nous devions appuyer a 1’étranger et au pays. Nous avons envoyé
tout le personnel disponible pour offrir de 1’aide dans les
établissements. Nous avons couru un léger risque dans notre
propre clinique, omettant les contrdles de routine quotidiens. Au
bout du compte, toutefois, le gouvernement fédéral a demandé
aux Forces armées canadiennes d’aider les citoyens et des
Canadiens, et nous avons affecté toutes les ressources
nécessaires pour le faire.

Le sénateur Kutcher : Je ne vous critique absolument pas
d’avoir agi comme vous avez fait. Je remercie Dieu que vous
I’ayez fait. Je craignais simplement que vous ayez pu, par
inadvertance, avoir ¢été incapables de combler vos propres
besoins pendant que vous répondiez a cette demande et que vos
propres troupes aient pu avoir été exposées a un risque si vous
aviez eu a les déployer.
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BGen. Bourgon: You’re right. There was a cost to deploy our
medical — because as I said at the beginning, we only have a
finite resource of medical facilities, but we prioritized.
Canadians in Ontario and the senior citizens in Quebec needed it
more than us. Therefore, we supported them. There was a cost to
our own services, but that’s life.

Senator Kutcher: Thank you so much for that. It is much
appreciated.

[Translation]

Senator Mégie: I thank the witnesses. My first question
follows up on the one asked by Senator Kutcher. You have
learned lessons from the pandemic. However, if there was a new
wave, would your military personnel be better prepared to deal
with another crisis and would you have enough personnel?

BGen. Bourgon: We have learned many things medically
speaking and in terms of training. As I said in the beginning, we
had never worked in extended care facilities. We developed our
training very quickly to enable our soldiers and our medical
technicians to provide support as quickly as possible. We will
knock on wood and hope there will be no next wave, but the
training is already done. We have also learned to coordinate with
Ontario and Quebec, with various health departments. The
Canadian Forces don’t have a lot of experience in that area. We
have learned many things. We are starting to work with the Red
Cross. That is another organization we are learning to work with
and to share with. As for the number of soldiers, that always
depends on requests for assistance. We have about 100,000
soldiers. We have medical capabilities, but they are not very
high. It is a matter of prioritization. The federal government and
the provinces will have to discuss how the Canadian Armed
Forces can help to the best of their ability based on the needs on
the ground. That is really the question.

Senator Mégie: Given the close proximity of your soldiers on
naval vessels, such as ships and submarines, how do you manage
to ensure their well-being in that context?

BGen. Bourgon: When it comes to ships, we have been
isolating members of our crews for 14 days before we send them
out to sea. At the outset, we could know who was clean, if [ may
put it that way, when they left the shore. So at that point, they
could be close to one another because it was known that no one
was infected. That is what has enabled us to conduct operations.
We had other ships at sea for a long time where there were no
cases. After 14 days, we were a bit more certain that no one was
sick or contagious. At that point, the proximity is not a problem.

Bgén Bourgon : Vous avez raison. Le déploiement de notre
personnel médical a eu un prix, car, comme je 1’ai souligné au
début, nous disposons de ressources limitées dans nos
installations médicales, mais nous avons établi nos priorités. Les
Canadiens de 1’Ontario et les ainés du Québec avaient plus
besoin de services que nous; nous les avons donc aidés, au
détriment de nos propres services, mais c’est la vie.

Le sénateur Kutcher : Je vous remercie beaucoup de ces
précisions.

[Frangais]

La sénatrice Mégie : Je remercie les témoins. Ma premiére
question fait suite a celle du sénateur Kutcher. Vous avez tiré des
lecons de la pandémie. Toutefois, s’il y avait une nouvelle
vague, vos militaires seraient-ils mieux préparés a faire face a
une autre crise, et auriez-vous suffisamment de personnel?

Bgén Bourgon : On a appris beaucoup de choses sur le plan
médical et sur le plan de I’entrainement. Comme je 1’ai dit au
départ, on n’avait jamais travaillé dans les CHSLD. On a mis au
point notre entrainement trés rapidement pour permettre & nos
soldats et a nos techniciens médicaux d’apporter du soutien le
plus rapidement possible. On va toucher du bois pour que la
prochaine vague ne se pointe pas, mais 1’entrainement est déja
fait. On a aussi appris a faire de la coordination avec 1’Ontario et
le Québec, avec les différents ministres de la Santé. Les Forces
canadiennes n’ont pas beaucoup d’expérience a cet égard. On a
appris beaucoup de choses. On commence a travailler avec la
Croix-Rouge. C’est une autre organisation avec laquelle on
apprend a travailler et a partager. Quant au nombre de soldats,
cela dépend toujours des demandes d’assistance. On a environ
100 000 soldats. On a des capacités médicales, mais elles ne sont
pas trés élevées. C’est une question de priorisation. Le
gouvernement fédéral et les provinces devront discuter de la
fagon dont les Forces armées canadiennes peuvent aider du
mieux qu’elles le peuvent, selon les besoins sur le terrain. C’est
vraiment la question.

La sénatrice Mégie : Compte tenu de la grande proximité de
vos soldats lorsqu’ils sont dans les batiments de la marine,
comme les bateaux et les sous-marins, comment arrivez-vous a
assurer leur bien-étre dans ce contexte?

Bgén Bourgon : En ce qui concerne les bateaux, on a mis en
isolement les membres de nos équipages pendant 14 jours avant
de les envoyer en mer. On pouvait, dés le départ, savoir qui était
clean, si je peux m’exprimer ainsi, lorsqu’ils sont partis en mer.
Donc, a ce moment-1a, ils pouvaient étre proches les uns des
autres, parce qu’on savait que personne n’était infecté. C’est ce
qui a permis de mener les opérations. Nous avions d’autres
bateaux en mer depuis longtemps ou il n’y avait aucun cas.
Aprés 14 jours, nous étions a peu pres certains que personne
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Senator Mégie: Okay. Thank you very much.
[English]

Senator Pate: Thank you to both of our witnesses for being
here. Thank you to all of the Armed Forces personnel for the
work they do. As a service brat some years back, obviously, I'm
very appreciative, also as someone who has a mother in a long-
term care facility.

I read with interest some of the reports that have been put out,
particularly the one by Brigadier-General Milkowski. In it, there
are a number of examples of failure to provide adequate care for
reasons that appeared to have to do with cost savings, things like
required materials such as hand wipes and other hygiene
materials being under lock and key, expired medication, those
sorts of things. I know you’re not wanting to comment on the
difference between private and public, but it strikes me that there
are a number of examples there that show it was fundamentally
about cost savings.

I’'m curious about two things. One, what are the demographics
that you observed about patients or residents of the long-term
care facilities, as well as the staff, if you had much interaction
with the staff? In particular, we’ve heard about the number who
are women, racialized and low income. Also, given what you’ve
observed and given your experiences, what national standards
would you recommend be put in place to improve the care for
our elderly and those disabled who are in home care facilities
going forward?

MGen. Bilodeau: I don’t have the specific demographics,
obviously, of the residents in those long-term care facilities, but I
know that most of them were older, not surprisingly, and not
only older but with lots of co-morbidities, which made them very
vulnerable to COVID, potentially becoming very sick and even
dying from the virus. I’m not sure exactly about the status of the
staff in those long-term care facilities either, so I can’t comment
specifically on that.

With respect to the recommendations, lots of lessons have
been learned by those two provinces, for sure, which will apply
over the next several months. As I said before, based on the
discussions I had with the two provincial governments, I think
they are aware of those challenges, and I believe they have a
plan to address it.

n’était malade ou contagieux. A ce moment-13, la proximité n’est
pas un probléme.

La sénatrice Mégie : D’accord. Merci beaucoup.
[Traduction]

La sénatrice Pate : Je remercie nos deux témoins de
comparaitre. Je remercie également tous les membres des forces
armées du travail qu’ils accomplissent. Pour avoir été la gamine
de service il y a quelques années et pour étre quelqu’un dont la
mere réside dans un établissement de soins de longue durée, je
vous suis évidemment trés reconnaissante.

J’ai lu avec intérét certains des rapports qui ont été publiés,
notamment celui du brigadier-général Milkowski. 11 comprend
un certain nombre d’exemples de manquements a la prestation de
soins adéquats qui semblent attribuables a des économies de
couts, comme le fait de garder sous clé 1’équipement nécessaire,
comme les lingettes pour les mains et d’autres fournitures
d’hygicne, d’avoir des médicaments expirés et d’éprouver des
problémes semblables. Je sais que vous ne voulez pas vous
prononcer sur la différence entre les secteurs privé et public,
mais il me semble qu’un certain nombre d’exemples indiquent
que le probléme venait fondamentalement des économies de
couts.

Je m’interroge au sujet de deux choses. Premiérement, quels
sont les profils démographiques que vous avez observés chez les
patients et aussi chez les employés des établissements de soins
de longue durée, si vous avez eu beaucoup d’interaction avec ces
derniers? Nous avons notamment entendu parler du nombre de
femmes, de personnes racialisées et de gagne-petit. De plus,
compte tenu de vos observations et de vos expériences, quelles
normes nationales recommanderiez-vous de mettre en place afin
d’améliorer les soins prodigués dans I’avenir aux ainés et aux
personnes handicapées qui résident dans les établissements de
longue durée?

Mgén Bilodeau : Je n’ai ¢évidemment pas les profils
démographiques précis des résidants des établissements de soins
de longue durée, mais je sais que la plupart d’entre eux sont
agés. Cela n’a rien d’étonnant, mais ils ont aussi de nombreuses
comorbidités qui les rendent vulnérables a la COVID, laquelle
peut les rendre trés malades, voire entrainer leur décés. Je ne
connais pas exactement le statut du personnel des établissements
de soins de longue durée non plus; je ne peux donc pas traiter
précisément de la question.

Pour ce qui est des recommandations, les deux provinces ont
certainement tiré de nombreuses legons de la crise, des legons
qu’elles mettront en application dans les prochains mois. Comme
je l’ai fait remarquer précédemment, d’aprés les échanges que
j’ai eus avec les deux gouvernements provinciaux, je pense
qu’ils connaissent les problémes et qu’ils ont un plan pour les
corriger.
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Senator Pate: Would you have any recommendations for
national standards that could be put in place that could prevent
some of what you observed and your staff experienced first
hand?

MGen. Bilodeau: There are already existing national and
international standards in health care, specifically even for long-
term care facilities. Most of the provinces have their own
standards too, so I think the standards exist.

Senator Pate: Some people have mentioned Australian
standards versus what we have in Ontario and Quebec, for
instance. If you don’t have any specifics, that’s fine, but if you
do, that would be great.

Senator Omidvar: Thank you to all of our witnesses for all
that you do for our country, especially in this time of crisis. I
believe you have the enormous gratitude and appreciation of all
Canadians.

My question is around what we have heard about the future.
We know that there will be more pandemics, a second or third
COVID, maybe different viruses. For future preparedness, I
wonder if you could comment on your own capacity in terms of
medical professionals in the Canadian Armed Forces and
whether you would recommend that you need to have more
medical professionals as members of your Armed Forces to help
us deal with the future.

MGen. Bilodeau: The need for more medical professionals in
the Canadian Armed Forces has already been identified well
before the pandemic. That’s not a new issue. We’ve been in
recruiting mode for many years. The challenge is that we’re
obviously in competition in some ways with the civilian health
care system. We’re drawing from the same pool of people, and
there’s as much, if not more, need in the civilian sector — I think
the pandemic has shown that very well — than there is in the
Armed Forces. It’s a fine balance we need to try to find to bring
enough people to the Forces, but at the same time, having
enough of those health care professionals. We’re talking here
about physicians, nurses, physiotherapists, mental health
specialists, as well as radiology, laboratory technicians and
everything, as well as, obviously, specialists and nurses in
hospitals, all of that. It’s a challenge. We need to find the right
balance, but we definitely know that we need to grow, and there
is definitely a plan for growing our Armed Forces in order to
better equip us for the next missions that the government will ask
us to do.

The other thing that we need to grow is obviously our personal
protective equipment stockpile. We’ve shown that the current
stockpile we had was not sufficient, and we’re now growing it as
we speak. We’ve started to grow it in the last several months,

La sénatrice Pate : Auriez-vous des normes nationales a
recommander afin de prévenir certaines des situations que vous
avez observées et que votre personnel a affrontées directement?

Mgén Bilodeau : Il existe déja des normes nationales et
internationales en matiére de soins de santé, notamment dans les
établissements de soins de longue durée. La plupart des
provinces ont leurs propres normes ¢également. Je pense donc
qu’il existe des normes.

La sénatrice Pate : Certaines personnes ont parlé des normes
de I’ Australie par rapport a celles de I’Ontario et du Québec, par
exemple. Si vous n’avez pas de renseignements précis, c’est
correct, mais si vous en avez, ce serait formidable.

La sénatrice Omidvar : Je remercie tous nos témoins de tout
ce qu’ils font pour notre pays, particuliérement en ces temps de
crise. Je pense que vous bénéficiez de la gratitude et de la
reconnaissance de tous les Canadiens.

Ma question concerne ce que nous avons entendu au sujet de
I’avenir. Nous savons qu’il y aura d’autres pandémies, une
deuxiéme ou une troisiéme vague de la COVID ou peut-étre un
autre virus. Afin de se préparer pour ’avenir, je me demande si
vous pourriez traiter de votre propre capacité en ce qui concerne
les professionnels de la santé des Forces armées canadiennes et
nous dire si vous recommanderiez d’accroitre le nombre de ces
professionnels pour nous aider a affronter 1’avenir.

Mgén Bilodeau : La nécessit¢ d’accroitre le nombre de
professionnels de la santé au sein des Forces armées canadiennes
avait déja été observée bien avant la pandémie. Le probléme n’a
donc rien de nouveau. Nous sommes en recrutement depuis bien
des années. L’ennui, c’est que nous faisons concurrence au
réseau civil de soins de santé. Nous puisons dans le méme bassin
de candidats, et les besoins sont aussi, voire plus élevés dans le
secteur civil que dans les Forces armées canadiennes, comme 1’a
fort bien démontré la pandémie, selon moi. Nous devons tenter
de trouver un délicat équilibre en engageant suffisamment de
personnes dans les forces tout en disposant d’un nombre
suffisant de professionnels des soins de santé. Il est question ici
de médecins, de personnel infirmier, de physiothérapeutes, de
spécialistes de la santé mentale, ainsi que de radiologistes, de
techniciens de laboratoire et de [I’éventail entier de
professionnels. Il y a aussi les spécialistes et le personnel
infirmier dans les hopitaux, bien entendu. C’est un défi. Nous
devons établir un juste équilibre, mais nous savons certainement
que nous devons augmenter 1’effectif des forces armées et nous
avons certainement un plan en ce sens pour mieux nous équiper
en vue des prochaines missions que nous confiera le
gouvernement.

De toute évidence, nous devons aussi augmenter nos réserves
d’équipement de protection individuelle. Nous avons constaté
que les réserves actuelles sont insuffisantes et nous sommes en
train de les augmenter. Nous avons commencé a le faire il y a
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and we’re going to keep growing it over the following months.
We have several procurement processes in place, with support
from the Public Health Agency of Canada, in order to make sure
we have enough for an additional wave or for any other virus or
bacteria that could impact us moving forward.

Senator Omidvar: While your members were on the ground
in long-term care homes, you must have interacted a great deal
with semi-professional health care attendants. During our
previous witness panels and testimonies, we heard a
recommendation that the occupation of personal support workers
who provide the daily care to many senior citizens should be
regulated. The absence of standards impacts the kind of care that
is provided. Would you have a comment on that
recommendation?

MGen. Bilodeau: All I can say from a generic perspective is
that the reason why so many health care professions are
regulated is because we know regulating those professions
improves the quality of care that is being delivered in the end.
That gives better control on quality and better control on who is
allowed to do what and in what circumstances.

Senator Omidvar: I’'m curious about the role of reservists
and Rangers in this mission and whether — I don’t know; maybe
you’ve already stated this and, I’'m sorry, I missed it — in fact,
reservists and Rangers were also deployed. If so, what were their
functions, and what would you observe and recommend for them
in future pandemics?

BGen. Bourgon: When we look at the Canadian Armed
Forces, we look at a total force concept. From the beginning,
preparing for the pandemic, we looked at maximizing how many
soldiers, airmen and sailors we could have available to help
Canadians. We tried to recruit and get back under contract the
majority of the reservists that we have so that we could
maximize the CAF personnel available.

We had about 7,000 reservists that were hired for the summer,
and lots of them are working to this day in some of the facilities.
They received the training, and they’ve been working in the
facilities, so they are fully qualified. We provided the training,
and now they’re included in everything we do. We don’t make a
difference between Regular Forces and reservists. It’s the total
force concept.

The Rangers bring such a unique capacity to the North
because they are members of the different communities. The
same thing applied to them. As much as we could, we put them
under contract, and they’ve been supporting those Northern

quelques mois et nous poursuivrons nos efforts dans les
prochains mois. Nous avons lancé plusieurs processus
d’approvisionnement avec le soutien de I’Agence de la santé
publique du Canada afin de disposer d’équipement en quantité
suffisante pour affronter une autre vague ou d’autre virus ou
bactéries qui pourraient nous menacer dans 1’avenir.

La sénatrice Omidvar : Pendant que vos membres
travaillaient dans les établissements de soins de longue durée,
vous avez dii beaucoup agir en interaction avec les préposés aux
soins de santé semi-professionnels. Lors de I’audition de groupes
de témoins et de témoignages précédents, quelqu’un a
recommandé de réglementer les activités du personnel de soutien
qui fournit des soins quotidiens & de nombreux ainés. L’absence
de normes a des répercussions sur le genre de soins qui sont
prodigués. Auriez-vous quelque chose a dire a propos de cette
recommandation?

Mgén Bilodeau : Tout ce que je puis dire d’un point de vue
générique, c’est que si un aussi grand nombre de professions du
domaine des soins de santé sont réglementées, c’est parce que
nous savons qu’au final, cela améliore la qualité des soins offerts
et permet de mieux contrdler la qualité des soins et 1’identité de
ceux et celles qui peuvent poser certains gestes dans certaines
circonstances.

La sénatrice Omidvar : Je m’intéresse au role des réservistes
et des Rangers dans le cadre de cette mission. J’ignore si vous
I’avez déja précisé, et si cela m’a échappé, j’en suis désolée,
mais je me demande s’ils ont également été déployés. Si c’est le
cas, en quoi consistaient leurs taches? Qu’avez-vous observé et
que recommanderiez-vous a leur sujet en cas de pandémies
futures?

Bgén Bourgon : Quand nous examinons les Forces armées
canadiennes, nous les voyons comme un concept global. Deés le
départ, alors que nous nous préparions pour la pandémie, nous
avons cherché a optimiser le nombre de soldats, de membres des
forces aériennes et de matelots que nous aurions a notre
disposition pour aider les Canadiens. Nous avons tenté de
recruter des membres et de réengager la majorité des réservistes
afin d’optimiser le nombre de membres des Forces armées
canadiennes disponibles.

Nous avions engagé environ 7 000 réservistes pour 1’été, et un
bon nombre d’entre eux travaillent actuellement dans les
établissements. Ils ont recu une formation et sont a 1I’ceuvre dans
les établissements; ils sont donc entiérement qualifiés. Nous leur
avons offert de la formation, et ils participent maintenant a toutes
nos activités. Nous ne faisons pas de distinction entre les Forces
réguliéres et les réservistes, considérant les forces comme un
concept global.

Les Rangers apportent une capacité unique dans le Nord, car
ils sont membres des diverses communautés. La situation est la
méme pour eux. Nous signons autant de contrats que nous le
pouvons avec eux pour qu’ils offrent du soutien dans les
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communities. Some of them have been employed in the
Northwest Territories. They have been helping communities with
COVID-related duties, the distribution of food, taking care of
their own, because they are part of this community. The same
thing in Quebec, in the region of Basse-Cdte-Nord; and Nunavut.
We had about 200 Rangers that were providing support to their
communities.

Again, based on the requirement from the territories and the
provinces, they were requested to help, and they’ve done a
fabulous job. They truly understand their communities, and
they’re a jewel to have.

Senator Omidvar: Thank you. That was very interesting.

[Translation]

The Chair: Thank you very much. We have a bit of time left
with you, and I think that all of our most relevant questions have
already been asked.

I have one last question, which is more out of curiosity. |
would like to know more about your experience because we have
seen so many images of members of our Canadian Armed Forces
being there for our seniors. I would like to hear you on the
welcome you received and on the way people appreciated your
work, keeping in mind that it is not common for Canadians to
work with the Canadian Armed Forces. So I would like to hear a
bit more if you have anything to share with us on that matter.

MGen. Bilodeau: I could share with you a few little
anecdotes we have heard.

From the outset, when our first teams arrived in extended care
facilities in Quebec, some were welcomed not only with open
arms, but also with tears from the staff on site. That shows how
much suffering and distress those individuals were going
through. I think that it also illustrates the needs we have filled by
going to those residences.

The other remarkable thing, in my opinion, is that, every time
we finished a mission in an extended care facility in Quebec or
in Ontario, we always held a ceremony. That is part of our
traditions; soldiers like to hold ceremonies to mark beginnings
and endings. We would invite the civilian staff to each of those
ceremonies. The ceremonies were very moving, and a great deal
of crying occurred — no hugs, of course, because the public
health rules on the issue are clear. We have seen a great deal of
recognition from the civilian staff.

communautés du Nord. Certains d’entre eux ont été déployés
dans les Territoires du Nord-Ouest, aidant les communautés en
accomplissant des taches relatives a la COVID, en distribuant
des denrées alimentaires et en prenant soin des leurs, car ils font
partie de la communauté. Il en va de méme au Québec, dans la
région de la Basse-Cote-Nord, et au Nunavut. Environ 200
Rangers ont fourni du soutien dans leurs communautés.

Ici encore, nous avons fait appel a leur aide en fonction des
besoins des territoires et des provinces, et ils ont accompli un
travail extraordinaire. Ils comprennent réellement leurs
communautés et ce sont des joyaux.

La sénatrice Omidvar : Je vous remercie. C’était trés
intéressant.

[Frangais]

La présidente : Merci beaucoup. Il nous reste un peu de
temps avec vous et je crois que toutes nos questions les plus
pertinentes ont déja été posées.

J’ai une derniére question qui est davantage une question de
curiosité. J’aimerais en savoir plus sur votre expérience, parce
qu’on a vu énormément d’images des membres de nos Forces
armées canadiennes qui ¢taient présents pour nos ainés. Je
voudrais vous entendre sur 1’accueil que vous avez recu et sur la
fagon dont les gens ont apprécié votre travail, et ce, en ayant a
I’esprit que, pour la population d’ici, ce n’est pas courant de
travailler avec les Forces armées canadiennes. J’ai donc envie
d’en entendre un peu plus, si vous avez quelque chose a partager
avec nous a ce sujet.

Mgén Bilodeau : En fait, je peux partager avec vous quelques
petites anecdotes qu’on nous a transmises.

D’entrée de jeu, lorsque nos premicres équipes sont arrivées
dans les CHSLD au Québec, certains se sont fait accueillir non
seulement a bras ouverts, mais aussi avec des pleurs de la part du
personnel qui était déja sur place. Cela montre dans quel état de
souffrance et de détresse se trouvaient ces personnes. Je pense
que cela illustre aussi les besoins que nous avons comblés en
nous présentant dans ces résidences.

L’autre chose qui a été remarquable, a mon avis, c’est que,
chaque fois que nous avons terminé une mission dans un CHSLD
ou dans un centre de soins de longue durée en Ontario, on a
toujours tenu une cérémonie. Cela fait partie de nos traditions;
les militaires aiment tenir des cérémonies pour souligner les
débuts et les fins. A chacune de ces cérémonies, nous invitions le
personnel civil. Ces cérémonies étaient trés émouvantes et on 'y a
vu beaucoup de pleurs, pas des embrassades, évidemment, parce
que les régles de la santé publique sont claires a cet effet. Nous
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Strong connections have been forged between our staff and the
civilian staff of those establishments, but also between the
residents and our staff. Some of those residents only needed to
talk, to be supported or to be guided, and our employees were
there for them.

The Chair: Thank you very much for sharing your
experience with us. That is all the time we had to hear from you
on this issue. We thank you for your answers. I think that you
have been the most efficient witnesses, both in terms of
quickness and accuracy, and we really appreciate that.

[English]

Thank you again for your participation. You have assisted us
very much in our study, and it is truly appreciated.

Honourable senators, before I ask to proceed in camera, |
would like to take a minute to make the following comments on
your behalf because this is the final public meeting before we
recess for the summer.

I want to take this opportunity to publicly thank all the
technical staff, the interpreters, the stenographers and those from
the Committees Directorate for their assistance in taking our
meetings online and going virtual. It has been a challenging time
for all of us, individually and collectively, and great changes
have occurred in a very short period of time. This team really
made it possible for us to do our work in this committee. We
thank you for your effort.

I also want to thank the members of the Subcommittee on
Agenda and Procedure, Senator Poirier and Senator Griffin, for
their time and commitment during the last few weeks, again in
circumstances that we are not used to, by distance, on the phone,
to work together as your steering committee and to plan out
those meetings. Thank you very much for this.

Finally, of course, I do want to thank you all, members of the
committee, for your time, your engagement, your patience and
understanding. It’s been a new adventure going to virtual
committees for all of us, and there have been some challenges
sometimes with the equipment, but your assistance has been very
much appreciated.

I do have a special request from our clerk, Daniel
Charbonneau, who thanks you for playing along with the
questions of the day before the meetings. That was much
appreciated. I want to thank Mr. Charbonneau for his assistance
to all of us and myself as your chair. It’s been great, and I’'m

avons vu beaucoup de reconnaissance de la part du personnel
civil.

Des liens forts se sont créés entre notre personnel et le
personnel civil de ces établissements, mais également entre les
résidants et notre personnel. Certains de ces résidants avaient
seulement besoin de parler, d’étre soutenus ou de se faire
prendre la main, et nos employés étaient 1a pour eux.

La présidente : Merci beaucoup d’avoir partagé votre
expérience avec nous. C’est tout le temps que nous avions pour
vous entendre a ce sujet. Nous vous remercions de vos réponses.
Je crois que vous avez été nos témoins les plus efficaces, tant en
ce qui a trait a la rapidité qu’a la précision, et nous vous en
sommes trés reconnaissants.

[Traduction]

Je vous remercie de nouveau de votre participation. Vous nous
avez énormément aidés dans le cadre de notre étude, et nous
vous en savons gré.

Distingués sénateurs, distinguées sénatrices, avant de déclarer
le huis clos, je voudrais prendre un instant pour formuler les
observations suivantes en votre nom, puisqu’il s’agit de notre
derniére séance publique avant la pause estivale.

Je veux profiter de I’occasion pour remercier publiquement le
personnel technique, les interprétes, les sténographes et les
employés de la Direction des comités de 1’aide qu’ils nous ont
apportée en permettant la tenue virtuelle de nos séances. La
période a ¢été¢ difficile pour tous, individuellement et
collectivement, et de grands changements se sont produits en peu
de temps. Notre équipe nous a permis de poursuivre le travail du
comité. Nous vous remercions de cet effort.

Je souhaite également remercier les membres du Sous-comité
du programme et de la procédure, soit les sénatrices Poirier et
Griffin, de leur dévouement et du temps qu’elles ont investi au
cours des derniéres semaines, ici encore dans des circonstances
auxquelles nous ne sommes pas habitués, travaillant a distance,
communiquant par téléphone, ceuvrant ensemble au sein du
Comité de direction pour planifier nos séances. Nous vous
remercions beaucoup de ce travail.

Enfin, je tiens, bien entendu, a remercier tous les membres du
comité du temps qu’ils ont accordé¢, de leur dévouement, de leur
patience et de leur compréhension. La tenue de séances virtuelles
a été pour nous tous une nouvelle aventure, et 1’équipement a
parfois posé des problémes, mais votre aide a été trés précieuse.

J’ai une demande spéciale de notre greffier, Daniel
Charbonneau, qui vous remercie d’avoir fourni les questions du
jour avant la séance. Il vous en est fort reconnaissant. Je veux
remercier M. Charbonneau de I’aide qu’il nous a tous apportée, a
vous et a moi a titre de présidente. Nous avons fort bien travaillé
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very proud of what we’ve accomplished under those many
challenges.

Is it agreed, honourable senators, that we now proceed in
camera to discuss the draft report? All those in favour, please
raise your hand in response, and please keep your hand raised for
10 seconds. Please lower your hand. All those opposed? All
those who abstain? It is agreed.

I will ask you to wait until the clerk advises that the committee
is now in camera. Thank you.

(The committee continued in camera.)

et je suis trés fiere de ce que nous avons accompli malgré les
nombreuses embiiches.

Plait-il aux distingués sénateurs et aux distinguées sénatrices
de se réunir maintenant a huis clos pour discuter de 1’ébauche de
rapport? Que tous ceux qui sont d’accord lévent la main et la
laissent en 1’air pendant 10 secondes. Baissez la main. Qui est
contre cette proposition? Qui s’abstient? La proposition est
acceptée.

Je vous demanderai d’attendre que le greffier nous signale que
la séance est maintenant a huis clos. Merci.

(La séance se poursuit a huis clos.)




